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Dear Fellow Shareowner:

Qwest made great progress in 2005—results based upon the strong foundation we built over
the past three years. Nevertheless, our progress often surprised people, as Qwest proved to be
bolder, more disciplined and more innovative than many may have expected.

This revised view of Qwest often led journalists and industry insiders to think of our company
in different terms. One reporter, for instance, dubbed us “feisty.” And an analyst participating
in one of our quarterly earnings calls asked if Qwest had “turned the corner.”

That question comes up frequently these days, and my answer is always this: | like to think
Qwest is af the corner. We've reached a place where we have choices and where no
obstructions block our view. We're in a position to identify opportunities to move ahead, and
we know what needs to be done to execute such moves. But a mere corner will never represent
our destination. The Spirit of Service, after all, has been in place for a century, requiring
constant changes of strategy and direction to meet customer requirements. So instead of
focusing on the corner, | prefer to say Qwest is on the move—and very fired up about this leg
of the journey.

In 2005, that journey included the successful negotiation of mutually acceptable contracts
with Qwest’s unions, as well as the General Services Administration’s classification of Qwest
as fully eligible to compete for federal government business. It meant significant progress
toward the settlement of various class-action lawsuits, and it meant great success at achieving
regulatory parity in state after state within our local-service region. It meant a well-planned,
widely supported acquisition effort, which—while ultimately abandoned—generated high
regard and substantially enhanced Qwest’s credibility. And it meant strategic financial and
operational initiatives, rewarded by Wall Street as the company’s fourth quarter total return led
every company in the S&P 500.

It is impossible, in a single letter, to describe the myriad of initiatives (and the outstanding
employee efforts to advance those breakthroughs) that have moved Qwest forward during
2005. Instead, let me offer you a summary of a few of the highlights, especially those in the
areas of building Qwest’s financial strength and catering to Qwest customers.

Building Financial Strength

Most of this publication is devoted to Qwest’s financial performance, providing you with details
on the various steps your company took in 2005 to improve its balance sheet and set the stage
for 2006. But, briefly, I'd like to mention the following:

Improvements in Qwest’s financial picture were underway even as the new year began. In the
first quarter, for instance, the trend of stable quarterly revenues continued as we benefited—
despite competitive pressures—from growth in key products including high-speed Internet,
long distance, data and VolP. The first quarter also saw significant margin expansion from first
quarter 2004 as a result of our continued cost reduction initiatives and operational
improvements.



These and other early improvements set the stage for various opportunistic and innovative
financial initiatives, including the sale of PCS licenses and wireless assets for $418 million
and debt-for-equity exchanges that drew better-than-expected response. Our total debt
reduction from debt and equity exchanges has reached nearly $600 million since 2003.

Very significantly, November’s cash tender offer to purchase selected secured notes due in
2007, 2010 and 2014 was an unqualified success. This initiative was an important step in
Qwest’s transformation as it provided the opportunity to pay down all remaining high-coupon
legacy debt, achieving some $300 million in projected annual interest savings and shortening
the timeframe to profitability.

As you will see in the pages ahead, our annual results included a decline in our operating
expenses of 7.4% in 2005, and cost reductions from 2003 through year-end 2005 achieved
savings of nearly $1.5 billion. In addition, 2005 was the first year since 2001 that Qwest
increased revenue over the previous year.

Serving Qwest Customers
Certainly, customers hold the keys to the future, meaning that outstanding customer service
continues to be the top priority for everyone at Qwest.

[t was this mindset that led, in 2005, to customer-friendlier hours in our mass-markets sales
and service centers, as well as to the opening of several additional Qwest Solutions Centers in
malls throughout the region. It prompted important behind-the-scenes systems work to provide
a better service experience, and launched marketing arrangements with outlets including Best
Buy to bolster customer convenience. It generated product enhancements, like the far faster
speeds (up to 5 Mbps downstream) available in a new version of Qwest High-Speed Internet.
And it meant meaningful value for customers who opted to take advantage of a variety of our
services through Qwest Choice™ bundles.

The Spirit of Service was also at work in 2005 on behalf of enterprise customers. Qwest won
contracts for a broad variety of services with prestigious organizations including Sunkist, the
State of Colorado, and the U.S. Department of Defense. We promoted OneFlex™, a Voice over
Internet Protocol (VolP) service, to businesses in some 250 cities, and made customer-
benefiting improvements in our Qwest iQ Networking™ wide area network (WAN) solution, a
service named “Best Value” by Networking Computing magazine. Customer-impacting kudos
also came Qwest’s way from various other sources. The 2005 American Customer Satisfaction
Index Survey, for example, cited Qwest for the strongest year-over-year gain in the telecom
sector and pointed out that we earned “best in class” for increases in customer loyalty.

While I’'m on the topic of awards, | wanted you to know your company was also frequently
recognized in 2005 for its role as an outstanding corporate citizen. The Hispanic Bar
Association selected Qwest to receive its Corporate Commitment Award in January, the same
month we were included in Hispanic Magazine's “Corporate 100”"—a list of firms that offer the
most opportunities to Hispanic employees. Not only did Qwest people donate $530,000
toward hurricane relief, an amount accompanied by $500,000 in equal grants for hurricane
and general disaster relief from the Qwest Foundation, but the company also stepped up with
funds for disaster volunteer training, earning Qwest the American Red Cross’s Circle of
Humanitarians Award, that organization’s highest honor.



But perhaps our most unique community-based initiative in 2005 was the launch of our
Internet safety campaign, in partnership with the National Center for Missing & Exploited
Children. This multi-faceted campaign, which was cited in Parade magazine, provides parents
and guardians with valuable resources to establish safer online practices for their families.
Qwest’s ongoing involvement—and our development of such tools as the Parents’ Safety-Net
Test and the Connected Family Kit—continues to draw heartfelt praise from community
leaders, parenting organizations and government representatives throughout the United States.

| began this letter explaining that some people seemed surprised by Qwest’s progress in 2005.
Now I'm closing with a kids-and-Internet version of giving back to our communities, a bedrock
value demonstrated by Qwest and our predecessor companies for more than a century. And it
turns out that kids and the Internet have recently combined to surprise me!

That surprise involved my three-year-old grandson, Michael, who likes to take his grandpa to
the computer to discuss the latest additions to Disney’s Web site. Last week, though, this
activity took on a whole new dimension. With his mother’s permission, Michael’s seven-
year-old brother had visited the same site to order a few items from the Disney Store,
meticulously selecting his preferred options. Later, though, he checked his order, only to find
everything in complete disarray. The wrong colors! The wrong sizes! Long story short, young
Michael had accessed his brother’s order and made all sorts of changes. We were amazed to
learn our family now includes its first hacker!

Now that was a surprise!

The world of communications is changing, folks. And Qwest is determined to stay at the front
edge of that transition. Thanks very much for your confidence and support, as we endeavor to
make even more people sit up and take notice in 2006.

Sincerely,
Y

A

Dick Notebaert
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
January 6, 2006
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Our industry uses many terms and acronyms that may not be familiar to you. To assist you in reading this
document, we have provided below definitions of some of these terms.

Access Lines. Telephone lines reaching from the customer’s premises to a connection with the public
switched telephone network. When we refer to our access lines we mean all our mass markets,
wholesale and business access lines, including those used by us and our affiliates.

Asynchronous Transfer Mode (ATM). A broadband, network transport service utilizing data switches
that provides a fast, efficient way to move large quantities of information.

Competitive Local Exchange Carriers (CLECs). Telecommunications providers that compete with us in
providing local voice services in our local service area.

Customer Premises Equipment (CPE). Telecommunications equipment sold to a customer, which may
be sold in connection with our providing telecommunications services to that customer.

Frame Relay. A high speed data switching technology primarily used to interconnect multiple local
networks.

Incumbent Local Exchange Carrier (ILEC). A traditional telecommunications provider, such as our
subsidiary, Qwest Corporation, that, prior to the Telecommunications Act of 1996, had the exclusive
right and responsibility for providing local telecommunications services in its local service area.

Integrated Services Digital Network (ISDN). A telecommunications standard that uses digital
transmission technology to support voice, video and data communications applications over regular
telephone lines.

Interexchange Carriers (IXCs). Telecommunications providers that provide long-distance services to
end-users by handling calls that extend beyond a customer’s local exchange service area.

InterLATA long-distance services. Telecommunications services, including “800” services, that cross
LATA boundaries.

Internet Dial Access. Provides ISPs and business customers with a comprehensive, reliable and cost-
effective dial-up network infrastructure.

Internet Protocol (IP). Those protocols that facilitate transferring information in packets of data and that
enable each packet in a transmission to “tell” the data switches it encounters where it is headed and
enables the computers on each end to confirm that message has been accurately transmitted and
received.

Internet Service Providers (ISPs). Businesses that provide Internet access to retail customers.

IntraLATA long-distance services. These services include calls that terminate outside a caller’s local
calling area but within their LATA, including wide area telecommunications service or “800” services
for customers with geographically highly concentrated demand.

Local Access Transport Area (LATA). A geographical area associated with the provision of
telecommunications services by local exchange and long distance carriers. There are 163 LATAs in the
United States, of which 27 are in our 14 state local service area.

Local Calling Area. A geographical area, usually smaller than a LATA, within which a customer can
make telephone calls without incurring long-distance charges. Multiple local calling areas generally
make up a LATA.

Private Lines. Direct circuits or channels specifically dedicated to the use of an end-user organization
for the purpose of directly connecting two or more sites.

Public Switched Telephone Network (PSTN). The worldwide voice telephone network that is accessible
to every person with a telephone equipped with dial tone.



Unbundled Network Elements (UNEs) Platform (UNE-P). Discrete elements of our network that are sold
or leased to competitive telecommunications providers and that may be combined to provide their retail
telecommunications services.

Virtual Private Network (VPN). A private network that operates securely within a public network (such
as the Internet) by means of encrypting transmissions.

Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP). An application that provides real-time, two-way voice capability
originating in the Internet protocol over a broadband connection.

Web Hosting. The providing of space, power and bandwidth in data centers for hosting of customers’
Internet equipment as well as related services.

Wide Area Network (WAN). A communications network that covers a wide geographic area, such as a
state or country. A WAN typically extends a local area network outside the building, over telephone
common carrier lines to link to other local area networks in remote locations, such as branch offices or
at-home workers and telecommuters.
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Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this report to “Qwest,” “we,” “us,” the “Company” and
“our” refer to Qwest Communications International Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. References in this report
to “QCII” refer to Qwest Communications International Inc. on an unconsolidated, stand-alone basis.

PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

We provide local telecommunications and related services, long-distance services and wireless, data and
video services within our local service area, which consists of the 14-state region of Arizona, Colorado, Idaho,
Iowa, Minnesota, Montana, Nebraska, New Mexico, North Dakota, Oregon, South Dakota, Utah, Washington
and Wyoming. We also provide reliable, scalable and secure broadband data and voice (including long-distance)
communications services outside our local service area as well as globally.

We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in 1997. Our principal executive offices are
located at 1801 California Street, Denver, Colorado 80202, telephone number (303) 992-1400.

We previously provided directory publishing services in our local service area. In November 2002, we sold
our directory publishing business in seven of the 14 states in which we offered these services. In September
2003, we sold the directory publishing business in the remaining states. As a consequence, the results of
operations of our directory publishing business are included in income from discontinued operations in our
consolidated statements of operations.

For a discussion of certain risks applicable to our business, financial condition and results of operations,
including risks associated with our outstanding legal matters, see “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this report.

Financial Condition

The below table provides a summary of some of our key financial metrics. This information should be read
in conjunction with, and is qualified by reference to, our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto in
Item 8 of this report and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” in Item 7 of this report.

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in millions)
Operating Results:
Operating reVenUE . . ... ...vuune e e eeen s $13,903  $13,809  $14,288
Operating EXpPenses . .. .. .vuvueueunen e 13,048 14,097 14,542
Loss from continuing operations . ....................... (757) (1,794) (1,313)
Net (J0SS) INCOME . . vt v ettt e (779) (1,794) 1,512
As of December 31,
2005 2004
Balance Sheet Data:
Total debt . . ..ot $ 15480 $17,286
Working capital deficit™ .. ........ ... .. ... ... .. ... ... (1,071) (68)
Accumulated deficit .......... ... ... . ... ... ... . .. ... (46,500) (45,721)

* Working capital deficit is the amount by which our current liabilities exceed our current assets.

Operations

We currently operate in three segments: (1) wireline services; (2) wireless services; and (3) other services.
We also maintained, until September 2003, a fourth segment consisting of our directory publishing business. The
sale of our directory publishing business was completed in September 2003, as discussed above. As a result, for
purposes of calculating the percentages of revenue of our segments provided below, we have excluded the impact
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of revenue from our directory publishing business, which is accounted for as discontinued operations in our
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2003. For additional financial information
about our segments see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” in Item 7 of this report and Note 15—Segment Information to our consolidated financial statements
in Item 8 of this report.

Our revenue by segment, including a breakdown of our revenue by major product category, is as follows:

Years Ended December 31, Percentage of Revenue
2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

(Dollars in millions)

Wireline services

VOICE SEIVICES . . vv e $ 9,239 $ 9423 $ 9,882 66.5% 682%  69.2%
Data and Internet services ............... 4,096 3,832 3,765 29.4% 27.8% 26.3%
Total wireline services revenue . ... ... 13,335 13,255 13,647 95.9% 96.0% 95.5%

Wireless Services . ...........c.oiiiuiinnn... 527 514 598 3.8% 3.7% 4.2%
Other SErviCes . .........uiiiinnn.. 41 40 43 0.3% 0.3% 0.3%
Total operating revenue . .................... $13,903 $13,809 $14,288 100% 100% 100%

We market and sell our products and services to mass markets and business customers. In general, our mass
markets customers include consumers and small businesses, and our business customers include local, national
and global businesses, governmental entities, and public and private educational institutions. We distribute our
products and services to these customers through a variety of channels, including direct sales, telemarketing and
arrangements with third-party agents. We also provide our products and services to other telecommunications
providers who purchase our products and services on a wholesale basis. We distribute our wholesale products
and services through direct sales.

Wireline Products and Services

We offer wireline products and services in a variety of categories that help people and businesses
communicate. Our wireline products and services are offered through our telecommunications network, a portion of
which is located within our local service area (referred to as our in-region network) and a portion of which is located
outside of our local service area (referred to as our out-of-region network). Our in-region network consists of all
equipment (i.e., voice and data switches) required to process telecommunications within our local service area and
forms a portion of the Public Switched Telephone Network. Our in-region network is made up of both copper cables
and fiber optic broadband cables and serves approximately 14.7 million access lines in 14 states.

Our out-of-region network consists primarily of data switches and fiber optic broadband cables, extending
approximately 138,000 miles to major cities, and enables long-distance voice services and data and Internet
services. We rely on our out-of-region network, metropolitan area network fiber rings and in-building
rights-of-way to expand service to existing customers and provide service to new customers who have locations
on or near a fiber ring or in a building where we have a right-of-way or a physical presence. Our fiber rings allow
us to provide customers purchasing our broadband data services with end-to-end connectivity to large and
multi-location enterprises and other telecommunications carriers in key United States metropolitan markets.
End-to-end connectivity provides customers with the ability to transmit and receive information at high speed
through the entire connection path.

The following reflects the key categories of our wireline products and services.

Voice Services
Local voice services—mass markets, business and wholesale. Through our in-region network, we originate,
transport and terminate local voice services within local exchange service territories as defined by state
regulators. Through this network, we provide:
e basic local exchange services provided through access lines connected to our portion of the Public
Switched Telephone Network;



e switching services for customers’ communications through facilities that we own;

e various custom calling features such as Caller ID, Call Waiting, Call Return and 3-Way Calling;
¢ enhanced voice services, such as voice mail;

e payphone and operator services, including directory assistance;

*  voice customer premises equipment; and

e collocation services, or the hosting of another provider’s telecommunications equipment in our
facilities.

On a wholesale basis we provide network transport, billing services and access to our in-region network to
other telecommunication providers and wireless carriers. These services allow other telecommunications
companies to provide telecommunications services that originate or terminate on our in-region network. We also
sell UNEs, which allow our local wholesale customers to use our network or a combination of our network and
their own networks to provide local voice and data services to their customers.

Long-distance voice services—mass markets and business. We provide three types of long-distance
communications services to our mass markets and business customers:

e IntraLATA long-distance services to our customers nationwide including within our local service area;
e InterLATA long-distance services nationwide; and

e International long-distance services for voice calls that terminate or originate with our customers in the
United States.

Long-distance voice services—wholesale. We also provide the same three types of long-distance services
listed above to our wholesale customers. These customers are other carriers and resellers who buy services from
us in large quantities and provide these services to their customers.

Access services—wholesale. We also provide services to other data and telecommunications providers to
connect their customers to their networks so that they can provide long-distance, transport, data, wireless and
Internet services.

Data and Internet Services—Mass Markets, Business and Wholesale

We offer a broad range of products and professional services to enable our customers to transport voice,
data and video telecommunications at speeds up to 12 gigabits per second. Our customers use these products and
services in a variety of ways. Our business customers make internal and external data transmissions, such as
transferring files from one location to another. Our mass markets customers access email and the Internet using a
variety of connection speeds and pricing packages. Our wholesale customers use our facilities for collocation and
use our private line services to connect their customers and their networks to our network.

We provide our data and Internet services in our local service area, nationally and internationally. Some of
our data and Internet services are described below.

e High-speed Internet, which permits existing mass markets and business customer telephone lines to
operate at higher speeds necessary for video and high-speed data communications to the Internet or
private networks. Substantially all of our high-speed Internet customers are located within our local
service area.

e Private lines, which are direct circuits or channels specifically dedicated to the use of an end-user
organization for the purpose of directly connecting two or more sites. Private lines offer a secure
solution for frequent communication of large amounts of data between sites.
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» ISDN, which uses digital transmission technology to support voice, video and data communications
applications over regular telephone lines.

e Internet dial access, which provides ISPs and business customers with a comprehensive, reliable and
cost-effective dial-up network infrastructure.

e Web hosting, which provides data center services. In its most basic form, web hosting includes
providing space, power and bandwidth. We also offer a variety of server and application management
and professional web design services. We currently operate ten web hosting centers, or CyberCentersSM.

e Professional services, which include network management, the sale, installation and maintenance of data
equipment and the building of proprietary fiber-optic broadband networks for our governmental and
other business customers.

e Data-CPE, which includes modems and routers, carrier-class WAN switches and IP telephony
equipment.

e ISP, which provides Internet and World Wide Web access to customers.
e  Video, which provides video programming services.

e WAN, which provides high-performance, site-to-site, remote access and intranet/extranet services. Our
WAN portfolio includes the following products:

» Frame relay, which is a high speed data switching technology that allows data to travel in individual
packets of variable length. The key advantage to this approach is that a frame relay network can
accommodate data packets of various sizes associated with virtually any data protocol.

e ATM, which is a broadband, network transport service utilizing data switches that provides a fast,
efficient way to move large quantities of information over our highly reliable, scalable and secure
fiber optic broadband network.

* iQ Networking, which is a secure, managed, fully interoperable and scalable suite of global wide
area networking services.

* VPN, which allows businesses with multiple locations to create a private network accessible only by
their various offices. VPN provides businesses with a cost-effective alternative to meet their
communications needs.

Also included in our data and Internet services are our VolIP services, which we began offering over the past
two years to business and mass market customers. However, our VoIP offerings remain new, and, although we
consider them to be strategic products with significant growth potential, we do not expect to recognize a
significant amount of revenue from them in 2006.

Wireless Products and Services

In August 2003, we entered into a services agreement with a third-party provider that allows us to resell
wireless services, including access to its nationwide PCS wireless network, to mass markets and business
customers, primarily within our local service area. We began offering these services under our brand name in
March 2004 and provide the services through the third-party provider’s network. Prior to that date, we offered
wireless services over our own network. We market our wireless products and services through our website,
partnership relationships, retail stores/kiosks and our sales/call centers. We offer mass markets and business
customers a broad range of wireless plans, as well as a variety of custom and enhanced features, such as Call
Waiting, Caller ID, 3-Way Calling, Voice Messaging, Enhanced Voice Calling and Two-Way Text Messaging.
We also offer an integrated service, which enables customers to use the same telephone number and voice
mailbox for their wireless phone as for their home or business phone.
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Other Services

We provide other services that primarily involve the sublease of some of our unused real estate, such as
space in our office buildings, warehouses and other properties. The majority of these properties are located in our
local service area.

Importance, Duration and Effect of Patents, Trademarks and Copyrights

Either directly or through our subsidiaries, we own or have licenses to various patents, trademarks, trade
names, copyrights and other intellectual property necessary to the conduct of our business. We do not believe
that the expiration of any of our intellectual property rights, or the non-renewal of those rights, would materially
affect our results of operations.

Competition

We compete in a rapidly evolving and highly competitive market, and we expect competition to continue to
intensify. Regulatory developments and technological advances over the past few years have increased
opportunities for alternative communications service providers, which in turn have increased competitive
pressures on our business. These alternate providers often face fewer regulations and have lower cost structures
than we do. In addition, the telecommunications industry is experiencing an ongoing trend towards consolidation,
and several of our competitors have consolidated with other telecommunications providers. The resulting
consolidated companies are generally larger, have more financial and business resources and have greater
geographical reach than we do.

Our on-going response to industry competition includes initiatives to retain and win-back customers by
rolling out new or expanded services such as wireless, in-region long-distance, high-speed Internet, video and
VoIP, bundling of expanded feature-rich products and improving the quality of our customer service. We
increased our marketing and advertising spending levels in 2005 and have seen increased sales of our bundle and
package offerings. The success of these offerings has resulted in increased long-distance and high-speed Internet
access revenue (as customers add more products), which partially offsets lower revenue due to access line losses.
While bundle discounts result in lower average revenue for our products, we believe they improve customer
retention.

Wireline Services
Local Voice Services

Although our status as an incumbent local exchange carrier helps make us the leader in providing voice
services in our local service area, competition in this market is continually increasing. We continue to compete
with traditional telecommunications providers, such as national carriers, smaller regional providers, CLECs and
independent telephone companies. Substitution of wireless, cable and Internet-based services for traditional
wireline services also continues to increase. As a result, we face greater competition from wireless providers
(including ourselves) and broadband service providers, such as cable and Internet companies including VoIP
providers.

Competition is based primarily on pricing, packaging of services and features, quality of service and on
meeting customer care needs such as simplified billing and timely response to service calls. We believe
customers are increasingly looking to receive all of their telephone, television and Internet services from one
provider, and as such we and our competitors continue to develop and deploy more innovative product bundling
and combined billing options in an effort to retain and gain customers.

Many of our competitors are subject to fewer regulations than we are, which affords them competitive
advantages against us. Under federal regulations, traditional telecommunication providers are able to
interconnect their networks with ours, resell our local services or lease separate parts of our network (UNEs) in
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order to provide competitive local voice services. We generally have been required to provide these functions
and services at wholesale rates, which allows our competitors to sell their services at lower prices. However,
these rules have been and continue to be under review by state and federal regulators. In connection with rule
changes, we have entered into agreements with many of our UNE purchasers, which agreements generally
provide for wholesale prices above previously imposed UNE rates. Despite these developments, the ongoing
obligation to provide UNEs continues to reduce our overall revenue and margin. For a detailed discussion of
regulations affecting our business, see “Regulation” below. In addition, wireless and broadband service providers
generally are subject to less or no regulation, which allows them to operate with lower costs than we are able to
operate.

Long-Distance Voice Services

In providing long-distance services, we compete primarily with national telecommunications providers,
such as AT&T Inc. (formerly SBC Communications Inc. and AT&T Corp.), Sprint Nextel Corporation and
Verizon Communications Inc. (formerly Verizon and MCI, Inc.), and increasingly with wireless providers and
broadband service providers, such as cable and Internet companies, including VoIP providers.

Competition in the long-distance market is based primarily on price, customer service, quality and
reliability. In addition, competition for business customers is also based on the ability to provide nationwide
services, and competition for wholesale customers is also based on available capacity. The national
telecommunications providers and wireless and broadband service providers with which we compete often have
significant name recognition in the national long-distance markets and as such have been able to retain and/or
gain market share. These competitors also have substantial financial and technological resources that allow them
to compete more effectively against us. As these competitors have consolidated to form larger companies, their
name recognition and financial and technological resources have increased as well.

Data and Internet Services

In providing data and Internet services to our mass markets customers, we compete primarily with
broadband service providers, including cable providers and national telecommunications providers. In providing
data and Internet services to our business customers, we compete primarily with national telecommunications
providers and smaller regional providers. We also compete with large integrators which are increasingly
providing customers with WAN services, which take inter-site traffic off of our network.

Competition is based on network reach, as well as quality, reliability, customer service and price. Many of
our competitors in this market are not subject to the same regulatory requirements as we are and therefore are
able to avoid significant regulatory costs and obligations, such as the obligations to make UNEs available to
competitors and to provide competitive access.

Wireless Services

The market for wireless services is highly competitive. We compete with national carriers, such as Verizon,
Cingular Wireless LLC and Sprint Nextel, as well as regional carriers. We expect competition in this market to
continue to increase as additional spectrum is made available within our local service area. This may attract new
competitors to the market and may allow current competitors the opportunity to increase their coverage areas and
service quality. In 2004 we began offering our wireless services on a resale basis through a service agreement
with a third-party provider. Our future competitive position will depend on our ability to retain and gain
subscribers through the bundling of these wireless services with our other products and services.

Competition is based on price, coverage area, services, features, handsets, technical quality and customer
service.



Regulation

As a general matter, we are subject to significant state and federal regulation, including requirements and
restrictions arising under the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, or the Communications Act, as modified
in part by the Telecommunications Act of 1996, or the Telecommunications Act, state utility laws, and the rules
and policies of the Federal Communications Commission, or FCC, state regulators and other governmental
entities. Federal laws and FCC regulations generally apply to regulated interstate telecommunications (including
international telecommunications that originate or terminate in the United States), while state regulatory
authorities generally have jurisdiction over regulated telecommunications services that are intrastate in nature.
The local competition aspects of the Telecommunications Act are subject to FCC rulemaking, but the state
regulatory authorities play a significant role in implementing some FCC rules. Generally, we must obtain and
maintain certificates of authority from regulatory bodies in most states where we offer regulated services and
must obtain prior regulatory approval of rates, terms and conditions for our intrastate services, where required.

This structure of public utility regulation generally prescribes the rates, terms and conditions of our
regulated wholesale and retail products and services (including those sold or leased to CLECs). While there is
some commonality among the regulatory frameworks from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, each state has its own
unique set of constitutional provisions, statutes, regulations, stipulations and practices that impose restrictions or
limitations on the regulated entities’ activities. For example, in varying degrees, jurisdictions may provide
limited restrictions on the manner in which a regulated entity can interact with affiliates, transfer assets, issue
debt and engage in other business activities.

Interconnection

The FCC is continuing to interpret the obligations of ILECs under the Telecommunications Act to
interconnect their networks with and make UNEs available to other telecommunications providers. These
decisions establish our obligations in our local service area and affect our ability to compete outside of our local
service area. On February 5, 2005, the FCC issued new unbundling rules to replace the unbundling rules that
earlier were vacated by the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals. The new rules, among other things: (i) require ILECs
to provide unbundled access to certain medium to high capacity transport services in the vast majority of their
wire centers; and (ii) allow CLECs to convert certain medium to high capacity transport services to UNEs or
combinations of UNEs, as long as the CLECs meet applicable qualification requirements. These rules require
somewhat less unbundling than the unbundling rules they replaced. QCII and other regional bell operating
companies filed a petition for review of this order with the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals, asserting that the
FCC’s new unbundling rules are overly broad. Petitions for review filed by other parties claim that the FCC
should have adopted more extensive unbundling requirements. Briefing of the appeals has been completed, and
oral argument is scheduled for March 21, 2006. A decision is expected mid-year 2006. Similarly, the FCC
provided us additional limited unbundling relief in our Omaha, Nebraska service area in response to a petition for
forbearance we filed.

On October 4, 2005, Qwest filed a petition asking the FCC to forbear from enforcing the ILECs’ obligation
to convert medium to high capacity transport services to UNEs when the conversion request is made by the
companies resulting from the recent mergers of AT&T with SBC and MCI with Verizon. The FCC is currently
seeking comment on Qwest’s petition. A grant of Qwest’s petition would ensure that a large portion of Qwest’s
medium to high capacity transport services will not be converted to UNEs, which provide approximately half the
revenue as medium to high capacity transport services. A decision from the FCC is expected in late 2006 or early
2007.

On September 15, 2003, the FCC released a notice of proposed rulemaking, instituting a comprehensive
review of the rules pursuant to which UNEs are priced and on how the discounts to CLECs are established for
their intended resale of our services. In particular, the FCC indicated that it will re-evaluate the rules and
principles surrounding Total Element Long Run Incremental Cost, which is the basis upon which UNE prices are
set. The outcome of this rulemaking could have a material effect on the revenue and margins associated with our
provision of UNEs to CLECs.



Intercarrier Compensation and Access Pricing

The FCC has initiated over the past five years a number of proceedings that do, and will, affect the rates and
charges for access services that we sell to or purchase from other carriers. In 2005, the FCC released a further
notice of proposed rulemaking in the pending intercarrier compensation docket, and parties filed comments
addressing issues raised in the FCC notice and various industry group proposals for revising the intercarrier
compensation regime. The rules emanating from this rulemaking could result in fundamental changes in the
charges we collect from other carriers and our end-users. This proceeding has not yet been completed, and,
because of its complexity and economic significance, may not be completed for some time. This complexity is
due in part to the advent of new types of traffic (such as VoIP) for which accurate billing is difficult to assure or
verify (sometimes referred to as “phantom traffic”). The FCC may address discrete intercarrier compensation
issues, such as compensation for phantom traffic, prior to completing comprehensive reform. Also, there has
been a national trend toward reducing the amounts charged for use of our networks to terminate all types of calls,
with a corresponding shift of costs to end users. From time to time, the state regulators that regulate intrastate
access charges conduct proceedings that may affect the rates and charges for access services.

On October 18, 2004, in a related docket the FCC released an Order deciding to forbear from applying
certain ISP reciprocal compensation interim rules adopted in an April 27, 2001 Order. Those particular interim
rules related to the cap on the number of minutes of use and the requirement that carriers exchange ISP-bound
traffic on a bill-and-keep basis if those carriers were not exchanging traffic pursuant to interconnection
agreements prior to adoption of the April 27, 2001 Order. This order is currently pending appeal before the D.C.
Circuit Court of Appeals. The effect of this Order, and resolution of the pending appeals, may be to increase
significantly our payments of reciprocal compensation. In some instances, existing state rules regarding
reciprocal compensation and applicable interconnection agreements limit the effect of this Order.

On January 31, 2005, the FCC initiated a proceeding to examine whether ILEC special access rates should
be reduced and pricing flexibility for those services should be curtailed. Reply comments in this proceeding were
filed on July 29, 2005. This proceeding is pending before the FCC.

Voice Over Internet Protocol and Broadband Internet Access Services

On September 22, 2003, Vonage Holdings Corporation filed a petition for declaratory ruling requesting that
the FCC preempt an order of the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission imposing regulations applicable to
providers of telephone service on Vonage’s DigitalVoice, an IP based voice service sold to retail customers. On
November 12, 2004, the FCC released its unanimous decision finding that preemption of state
telecommunication service regulation was consistent with federal law and policies intended to promote the
continued development of the Internet, broadband and interactive services. The FCC further concluded that
divergent state rules, regulations and licensing requirements could impede the rollout of such services that benefit
consumers by providing them with more choice, competition and innovation. An appeal of the FCC’s order is
currently pending before the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals.

On March 10, 2004, the FCC issued its notice of proposed rulemaking instituting a formal rulemaking
proceeding, or the IP-Enabled Services Proceeding, addressing many issues related to VoIP and other Internet
services. This rulemaking raises issues that overlap, to a degree, with the rulemakings concerning ILEC
Broadband Telecommunications Services and Intercarrier Compensation. There are a number of issues that have
been presented to the FCC that concern VoIP and that could affect intercarrier compensation requirements and
other federal or state requirements, such as those that impose a fee to support “universal service” and programs
that support the extension of telecommunications and Internet facilities to rural areas and to public schools and
facilities in inner cities. The FCC has also stated that the question of whether such IP based services should be
classified as an unregulated “information service” under the Communications Act or as telecommunications
services will be addressed in this proceeding. The FCC will also address in this proceeding whether VoIP
providers must pay carrier access charges or intercarrier compensation, whether they must contribute to the
universal service fund, and other issues involving IP-enabled services, including access by disabled persons,
applicability of law enforcement statutes and the provision of emergency (911) services. This docket remains
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pending. In a separate, but related, rulemaking the FCC has issued rules requiring all VoIP providers to offer 911
service in conjunction with their VoIP services. We are following these developments closely, as our network is
capable of VoIP transport and other combinations of voice and data in an IP-addressed packet format. VoIP
offerings are likely to grow as the technology matures and the regulatory situation is clarified, and such growth in
VolIP could contribute to further declines in our sales of traditional local exchange access lines or local exchange
services.

On September 23, 2005, the FCC issued an order reclassifying certain ILEC wireline broadband Internet
access offerings as information services no longer subject to tariffing obligations. We have notified the FCC that
we are eliminating these offerings from our federal tariffs, which will allow us to tailor our wireline broadband
Internet access offerings to specific customer needs. A petition for review of the FCC’s order is currently
pending before the Third Circuit Court of Appeals.

Universal Service

The FCC maintains a number of “universal service” programs that are intended to ensure affordable
telephone service for all Americans, including low-income consumers and those living in rural areas that are
costly to serve, and ensure access to advanced telecommunications services for schools, libraries, and rural health
care providers. These programs, which currently total over $6 billion annually, are funded through contributions
by interstate telecommunications carriers, which are generally passed through to their end users. Currently,
universal service contributions are assessed at a rate of approximately 10 percent of interstate and international
end user telecommunications revenues. The FCC is actively considering a new contribution methodology based
on telephone numbers, which could significantly increase our universal service contributions, and potentially
affect the demand for certain telecommunications services. If a telephone number contribution methodology is
adopted it will likely apply to all wireline, wireless and VoIP service providers.

Qwest is also currently the recipient of over $80 million annually in federal universal service subsidies
(excluding amounts received through the schools, libraries, and rural health care programs). The FCC is actively
considering changes in the structure and distribution methodology of its universal service programs. The
resolution of these proceedings ultimately could affect the amount of universal service support we receive.

Employees
As of December 31, 2005, we employed approximately 39,000 people.

Approximately 23,000 of our employees are represented by collective bargaining agreements with the
Communications Workers of America, or CWA, and the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, or
IBEW. In August 2005, we reached agreements with the CWA and the IBEW on new three-year labor
agreements. Each of these agreements was ratified by union members and expires on August 16, 2008.

Financial Information about Geographic Areas

We provide a variety of telecommunications services on a domestic and international basis to business,
government, mass markets and wholesale customers; however, our internationally-based customers do not result
in a material amount of revenue to us.

Website Access

Our website address is www.gwest.com. The information contained on, or that may be accessed through, our
website is not part of this annual report. You may obtain free electronic copies of our annual reports on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports at
our investor relations website, www.qwest.com/about/investor/, under the heading “SEC Filings.” These reports
are available on our investor relations website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file them
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC.
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We have adopted written codes of conduct that serve as the code of ethics applicable to our directors,
officers and employees, including our principal executive officer and senior financial officers, in accordance with
Section 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the rules of the SEC promulgated thereunder and the New York
Stock Exchange rules. In the event that we make any changes to, or provide any waivers from, the provisions of
our codes of conduct, we intend to disclose these events on our website or in a report on Form 8-K within four
business days of such event.

These codes of conduct, as well as copies of our guidelines on significant governance issues and the charters
of our audit committee, compensation and human resources committee and nominating and governance
committee, are available on our website at www.qwest.com/about/investor/governance or in print to any
stockholder who requests them by sending a written request to our Corporate Secretary at Qwest
Communications International Inc., 1801 California Street, Denver, Colorado 80202.

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-K contains or incorporates by reference forward-looking statements about our financial
condition, results of operations and business. These statements include, among others:

e statements concerning the benefits that we expect will result from our business activities and certain
transactions we have completed, such as increased revenue, decreased expenses and avoided expenses
and expenditures; and

e statements of our expectations, beliefs, future plans and strategies, anticipated developments and other
matters that are not historical facts.

These statements may be made expressly in this document or may be incorporated by reference to other
documents we have filed or will file with the SEC. You can find many of these statements by looking for words
such as “may,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “plan,” “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” or similar
expressions used in this document or documents incorporated by reference in this document.

EEINTS 99 <

These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous assumptions, risks and uncertainties that may
cause our actual results to be materially different from any future results expressed or implied by us in those
statements. Some of these risks are described in “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this report.

These risk factors should be considered in connection with any subsequent written or oral forward-looking
statements that we or persons acting on our behalf may issue. Given these uncertainties, we caution investors not
to unduly rely on our forward-looking statements. We do not undertake any obligation to review or confirm
analysts’ expectations or estimates or to release publicly any revisions to any forward-looking statements to
reflect events or circumstances after the date of this document or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated
events. Further, the information about our intentions contained in this document is a statement of our intention as
of the date of this document and is based upon, among other things, the existing regulatory environment, industry
conditions, market conditions and prices, the economy in general and our assumptions as of such date. We may
change our intentions, at any time and without notice, based upon any changes in such factors, in our
assumptions or otherwise.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risks Affecting Our Business

Increasing competition, including product substitution, continues to cause access line losses, which could
adversely affect our operating results and financial performance.

We compete in a rapidly evolving and highly competitive market, and we expect competition to continue to
intensify. We are facing greater competition in our core local business from cable companies, wireless providers
(including ourselves), facilities-based providers using their own networks as well as those leasing parts of our
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network (UNEs), and resellers. As a reseller of wireless services, we face risks that facility based wireless
providers do not have. In addition, regulatory developments over the past few years have generally increased
competitive pressures on our business. Due to these and other factors, we continue to lose access lines and are
experiencing pressure on profit margins.

We seek to distinguish ourselves from our competitors by providing new or expanded services such as
in-region long-distance, high-speed Internet, wireless, video and VoIP, bundling of expanded feature-rich
products and improving the quality of our customer service. However, we may not be successful in these efforts.
We may not have sufficient resources to distinguish our service levels from those of our competitors, and we
may not be successful in integrating our product offerings, especially products for which we act as a reseller,
such as wireless services and satellite video services. Even if we are successful, these initiatives may not be
sufficient to offset our continuing loss of access lines. If these initiatives are unsuccessful or insufficient and our
revenue declines significantly without corresponding cost reductions, this will cause a significant deterioration to
our results of operations and financial condition and adversely affect our ability to service debt and pay other
obligations.

Consolidation among participants in the telecommunications industry may allow our competitors to compete
more effectively against us, which could adversely affect our operating results and financial performance.

The telecommunications industry is experiencing an ongoing trend towards consolidation, and several of our
competitors have consolidated with other telecommunications providers. This trend may result in competitors
that are larger and better financed and may afford our competitors increased resources and greater geographical
reach, thereby enabling such competitors to compete more effectively against us. We have begun to experience
and expect further increased pressures as a result of this trend and in turn have been and may continue to be
forced to respond with lower profit margin product offerings and pricing plans in an effort to retain and attract
customers. These pressures could adversely affect our operating results and financial performance.

Rapid changes in technology and markets could require substantial expenditure of financial and other
resources in excess of contemplated levels, and any inability to respond to those changes could reduce our
market share.

The telecommunications industry is experiencing significant technological changes, and our ability to
execute our business plans and compete depends upon our ability to develop and deploy new products and
services, such as broadband data, wireless, video and VoIP services. The development and deployment of new
products and services could require substantial expenditure of financial and other resources in excess of
contemplated levels. If we are not able to develop new products and services to keep pace with technological
advances, or if such products and services are not widely accepted by customers, our ability to compete could be
adversely affected and our market share could decline. Any inability to keep up with changes in technology and
markets could also adversely affect the trading price of our securities and our ability to service our debt.

Third parties may claim we infringe upon their intellectual property rights, and defending against these claims
could adversely affect our profit margins and our ability to conduct business.

From time to time, we receive notices from third parties claiming we have or are infringing upon their
intellectual property rights. We may receive similar notices in the future. Responding to these claims may require
us to expend significant time and money defending our use of affected technology, may require us to enter into
royalty or licensing agreements on less favorable terms than we could otherwise obtain or may require us to pay
damages. If we are required to take one or more of these actions, our profit margins may decline. In addition, in
responding to these claims, we may be required to stop selling or redesign one or more of our products or
services, which could significantly and adversely affect the way we conduct business.
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Risks Relating to Legal and Regulatory Matters

Any adverse outcome of the investigation currently being conducted by the DOJ or the material litigation
pending against us, including the securities actions, could have a material adverse impact on our financial
condition and operating results, on the trading price of our debt and equity securities and on our ability to
access the capital markets.

The DOJ investigation and the remaining securities actions described in “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of
this report present material and significant risks to us. In the aggregate, the plaintiffs in the remaining securities
actions seek billions of dollars in damages, and the outcome of one or more of these actions or the DOJ
investigation could have a negative impact on the outcomes of the other actions. Further, the size, scope and
nature of the restatements of our consolidated financial statements for 2001 and 2000, which are described in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, affect the risks presented by these
actions and the DOJ investigation, as these matters involve, among other things, our prior accounting practices
and related disclosures. Plaintiffs in certain of the securities actions have alleged our restatement of items in
support of their claims. We continue to defend against the remaining securities actions vigorously and are
currently unable to provide any estimate as to the timing of their resolution.

We can give no assurance as to the impacts on our financial results or financial condition that may
ultimately result from all of these matters. We have recorded reserves in our financial statements representing the
minimum estimated amount of loss we believe is probable with respect to the securities actions. However, the
ultimate outcomes of these matters are still uncertain and the amount of loss we ultimately incur could be
substantially more than the reserves we have provided. If the recorded reserves are insufficient, we will need to
record additional charges to our consolidated statement of operations in future periods. In addition, any
settlement of or judgment in one or more of these actions substantially in excess of our recorded reserves could
have a significant impact on us, and we can give no assurance that we will have the resources available to pay
any such judgment. The magnitude of any settlement or judgment resulting from these matters could materially
and adversely affect our ability to meet our debt obligations and our financial condition, potentially impacting
our credit ratings, our ability to access capital markets and our compliance with debt covenants. In addition, the
magnitude of any settlement or judgment may cause us to draw down significantly on our cash balances, which
might force us to obtain additional financing or explore other methods to generate cash. Such methods could
include issuing additional securities or selling assets.

Further, there exist other material proceedings pending against us as described in “Legal Proceedings” in
Item 3 of this report, which, depending on their outcome, may have a material adverse effect on our financial
position. Thus, we can give no assurances as to the impacts on our financial results or financial condition as a
result of these matters.

Current or future civil or criminal actions against our former officers and employees could reduce investor
confidence and cause the trading price for our securities to decline.

As a result of our past accounting issues, investor confidence in us has suffered and could suffer further.
Although we have consummated a settlement with the SEC concerning its investigation of us, in March 2005, the
SEC filed suit against our former chief executive officer, Joseph Nacchio, two of our former chief financial
officers, Robert Woodruff and Robin Szeliga, and other former officers and employees. In December 2005, a
criminal indictment was filed against Mr. Nacchio charging him with 42 counts of insider trading. In July 2005,
Ms. Szeliga pleaded guilty to a criminal charge of insider trading. In December 2005, Marc Weisberg, a former
Qwest executive, pleaded guilty to a criminal charge of wire fraud. Other former officers or employees have
entered into settlements with the SEC involving civil fraud or other claims in which they neither admitted nor
denied the allegations against them.

A trial could take place in the pending SEC lawsuit against Mr. Nacchio and others and in connection with
the criminal charges against Mr. Nacchio. Evidence introduced at such trials and in other matters may result in
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further scrutiny by governmental authorities and others. The existence of this heightened scrutiny could
adversely affect investor confidence and cause the trading price for our securities to decline.

We operate in a highly regulated industry, and are therefore exposed to restrictions on our manner of doing
business and a variety of claims relating to such regulation.

Our operations are subject to significant federal regulation, including the Communications Act and FCC
regulations thereunder. We are also subject to the applicable laws and regulations of various states, including
regulation by PUCs and other state agencies. Federal laws and FCC regulations generally apply to regulated
interstate telecommunications (including international telecommunications that originate or terminate in the
United States), while state regulatory authorities generally have jurisdiction over regulated telecommunications
services that are intrastate in nature. The local competition aspects of the Telecommunications Act are subject to
FCC rulemaking, but the state regulatory authorities play a significant role in implementing those FCC rules.
Generally, we must obtain and maintain certificates of authority from regulatory bodies in most states where we
offer regulated services and must obtain prior regulatory approval of rates, terms and conditions for our intrastate
services, where required. Our businesses are subject to numerous, and often quite detailed, requirements under
federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations. Accordingly, we cannot ensure that we are always in
compliance with all these requirements at any single point in time. The agencies responsible for the enforcement
of these laws, rules and regulations may initiate inquiries or actions based on their own perceptions of our
conduct, or based on customer complaints. See “Business—Regulation” in Item 1 of this report for further
information about regulations affecting our business.

Regulation of the telecommunications industry is changing rapidly, and the regulatory environment varies
substantially from state to state. Recently a number of state legislatures and state PUCs adopted reduced or
modified forms of regulation for retail services. This is generally beneficial to us because it reduces regulatory
costs and regulatory filing and reporting requirements. These changes also generally allow more flexibility for
new product introduction and enhance our ability to respond to competition. At the same time, some of the
changes, occurring at both the state and federal level, may have the potential effect of reducing some regulatory
protections, including having FCC-approved tariffs that include rates, terms and conditions. These changes may
necessitate the need for customer-specific contracts to address matters previously covered in our tariffs. Despite
these regulatory changes, a substantial portion of our local voice services revenue remains subject to FCC and
state PUC pricing regulation, which could expose us to unanticipated price declines. There can be no assurance
that future regulatory, judicial or legislative activities will not have a material adverse effect on our operations, or
that regulators or third parties will not raise material issues with regard to our compliance or noncompliance with
applicable regulations.

All of our operations are also subject to a variety of environmental, safety, health and other governmental
regulations. We monitor our compliance with federal, state and local regulations governing the discharge and
disposal of hazardous and environmentally sensitive materials, including the emission of electromagnetic
radiation. Although we believe that we are in compliance with such regulations, any such discharge, disposal or
emission might expose us to claims or actions that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and operating results.

Risks Affecting Our Liquidity

Our high debt levels pose risks to our viability and may make us more vulnerable to adverse economic and
competitive conditions, as well as other adverse developments.

We are highly leveraged. As of December 31, 2005, our total debt was approximately $15.5 billion.
Approximately $2.1 billion of our debt obligations comes due over the next three years. While we currently
believe we will have the financial resources to meet our obligations when they come due, we cannot anticipate
what our future condition will be. We may have unexpected costs and liabilities and we may have limited access
to financing.
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We may periodically need to obtain financing in order to meet our debt obligations as they come due. We
may also need to obtain additional financing or investigate other methods to generate cash (such as further cost
reductions or the sale of assets) if revenue and cash provided by operations decline, if economic conditions
weaken, if competitive pressures increase or if we become subject to significant judgments, settlements and/or
tax payments as further discussed in “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of this report and in “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” in
Item 7 of this report. We can give no assurance that such additional financing will be available on terms that are
acceptable. Also, we may be impacted by factors relating to or affecting our liquidity and capital resources due to
perception in the market, impacts on our credit ratings or provisions in our financing agreements that may restrict
our flexibility under certain conditions.

In October 2005, our wholly owned subsidiary, Qwest Services Corporation, replaced its preexisting three-
year $750 million revolving credit facility with a new five-year $850 million revolving credit facility (referred to
as the 2005 QSC Credit Facility). The facility is currently undrawn. The 2005 QSC Credit Facility has a cross
payment default provision, and the 2005 QSC Credit Facility and certain of our other debt issues have cross
acceleration provisions. When present, such provisions could have a wider impact on liquidity than might
otherwise arise from a default or acceleration of a single debt instrument. Any such event could adversely affect
our ability to conduct business or access the capital markets and could adversely impact our credit ratings. In
addition, the 2005 QSC Credit Facility contains various limitations, including a restriction on using any proceeds
from the facility to pay settlements or judgments relating to the DOJ investigation and securities actions
discussed in “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of this report.

Our high debt levels could adversely impact our credit ratings. Additionally, the degree to which we are
leveraged may have other important limiting consequences, including the following:

e placing us at a competitive disadvantage as compared with our less leveraged competitors;
* making us more vulnerable to downturns in general economic conditions or in any of our businesses;

* limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which
we operate; and

e impairing our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital
expenditures or general corporate purposes.

We may be unable to significantly reduce the substantial capital requirements or operating expenses necessary
to continue to operate our business, which may in turn affect our operating results.

The industry in which we operate is capital intensive, and as such we anticipate that our capital requirements
will continue to be significant in the coming years. Although we have reduced our capital expenditures and
operating expenses over the past year, we may be unable to further significantly reduce these costs, even if
revenue is decreasing. While we believe that our current level of capital expenditures will meet both our
maintenance and our core growth requirements going forward, this may not be the case if circumstances
underlying our expectations change.

Declines in the value of qualified pension plan assets, or unfavorable changes in laws or regulations that
govern pension plan funding, could require us to provide significant amounts of funding for our qualified
pension plan.

While we do not expect to be required to make material cash contributions to our qualified defined benefit
pension plan in the near term based upon current actuarial analyses and forecasts, a significant decline in the
value of qualified pension plan assets in the future or unfavorable changes in laws or regulations that govern
pension plan funding could materially change the timing and amount of required pension funding. As a result, we
may be required to fund our qualified defined benefit pension plan with cash from operations, perhaps by a
material amount. Also, recognition of an additional minimum liability caused by changes in pension plan assets
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or measurement of the accumulated benefit obligation could have a material impact on our consolidated balance
sheet. As an example, if our accumulated benefit obligation exceeds pension plan assets in the future, the impact
would be to eliminate our prepaid pension asset, which was $1.165 billion as of December 31, 2005, and record a
pension liability for the amount that our accumulated benefit obligation exceeds pension plan assets with a
corresponding charge to other comprehensive loss, thereby increasing stockholders’ deficit. Alternatively, we
could make a voluntary contribution to the plan so that the qualified pension plan assets exceed the accumulated
benefit obligation. As of December 31, 2005, our qualified pension plan assets exceed our accumulated benefit
obligation by $596 million.

Our debt agreements allow us to incur significantly more debt, which could exacerbate the other risks
described herein.

The terms of our debt instruments permit us to incur additional indebtedness. Such additional debt may be
necessary for many reasons, including to adequately respond to competition, to comply with regulatory
requirements related to our service obligations or for financial reasons alone. Incremental borrowings or
borrowings at maturity on terms that impose additional financial risks to our various efforts to improve our
financial condition and results of operations could exacerbate the other risks described herein.

If we pursue and are involved in any business combinations, our financial condition could be adversely
affected.

On a regular and ongoing basis, we review and evaluate other businesses and opportunities for business
combinations that would be strategically beneficial. As a result, we may be involved in negotiations or
discussions that, if they were to result in a transaction, could have a material effect on our financial condition
(including short-term or long-term liquidity) or short-term or long-term results of operations.

Should we make an error in judgment when identifying an acquisition candidate, or should we fail to
successfully integrate acquired operations, we will likely fail to realize the benefits we intended to derive from
the acquisition and may suffer other adverse consequences. Acquisitions involve a number of other risks,
including:

¢ incurrence of substantial transaction costs;
e diversion of management’s attention from operating our existing business;

e charges to earnings in the event of any write-down or write-off of goodwill recorded in connection with
acquisitions;

e depletion of our cash resources or incurrence of additional indebtedness to fund acquisitions;
e an adverse impact on our tax position; and

e assumption of liabilities of an acquired business (including unforeseen liabilities).

We can give no assurance that we will be able to successfully complete and integrate strategic acquisitions.

Other Risks Relating to Qwest

If conditions or assumptions differ from the judgments, assumptions or estimates used in our critical
accounting policies, the accuracy of our financial statements and related disclosures could be affected.

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP, requires management to make judgments, assumptions and
estimates that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Our
critical accounting policies, which are described in this document, describe those significant accounting policies
and methods used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements that are considered “critical”
because they require judgments, assumptions and estimates that materially impact our consolidated financial
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statements and related disclosures. As a result, if future events differ significantly from the judgments,
assumptions and estimates in our critical accounting policies, such events or assumptions could have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Taxing authorities may determine we owe additional taxes relating to various matters, which could adversely
affect our financial resullts.

As a significant taxpayer, we are subject to frequent and regular audits from the Internal Revenue Service,
or IRS, as well as from state and local tax authorities. These audits could subject us to risks due to adverse
positions that may be taken by these tax authorities. Please see “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of this report for
examples of legal proceedings involving some of these adverse positions. For example, in the fourth quarter of
2004, Qwest received notices of proposed adjustments on several significant issues for the 1998-2001 audit
cycle. Certain of these proposed adjustments are before the Appeals Office of the IRS. There is no assurance that
we and the IRS will achieve settlements on these issues or that, if we do achieve settlements, the terms will be
favorable to us. Additionally, the IRS indicated in January 2005 that it is reviewing Qwest’s tax treatment of the
sale of its DEX directory publishing business in the 2002-2003 audit cycle.

Because prior to 1999 Qwest was a member of affiliated groups filing consolidated U.S. federal income tax
returns, we could be severally liable for tax examinations and adjustments not directly applicable to current
members of the Qwest affiliated group. Tax sharing agreements have been executed between us and previous
affiliates, and we believe the liabilities, if any, arising from adjustments to tax liability would be borne by the
affiliated group member determined to have a deficiency under the terms and conditions of such agreements and
applicable tax law. We have not provided in our financial statements for any liability of former affiliated
members or for claims they have asserted or may assert against us.

While we believe our tax reserves adequately provide for the associated tax contingencies, Qwest’s tax
audits and examinations may result in tax liabilities that differ materially from those we have recorded in our
consolidated financial statements. Also, the ultimate outcomes of all of these matters are uncertain, and we can
give no assurance as to whether an adverse result from one or more of them will have a material effect on our
financial results, including potentially offsetting a significant portion of our existing net operating losses.

If we fail to extend or renegotiate our collective bargaining agreements with our labor unions as they expire
Jfrom time to time, or if our unionized employees were to engage in a strike or other work stoppage, our
business and operating results could be materially harmed.

We are a party to collective bargaining agreements with our labor unions, which represent a significant
number of our employees. In August 2005, we reached agreements with the CWA and the IBEW on three-year
labor agreements. Each of these agreements was ratified by union members and expires on August 16, 2008.
Although we believe that our relations with our employees are satisfactory, no assurance can be given that we
will be able to successfully extend or renegotiate our collective bargaining agreements as they expire from time
to time. The impact of future negotiations, including changes in wages and benefit levels, could have a material
impact on our financial results. Also, if we fail to extend or renegotiate our collective bargaining agreements, if
disputes with our unions arise, or if our unionized workers engage in a strike or other work stoppage, we could
incur higher ongoing labor costs or experience a significant disruption of operations, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business.

The trading price of our securities could be volatile.

In recent years, the capital markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. The overall
market and the trading price of our securities may fluctuate greatly. The trading price of our securities may be
significantly affected by various factors, including:

e quarterly fluctuations in our operating results;

e changes in investors’ and analysts’ perception of the business risks and conditions of our business;
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e broader market fluctuations;
e general economic or political conditions;

e acquisitions and financings including the issuance of substantial number of shares of our common stock
as consideration in acquisitions;

e sale of a substantial number of shares held by the existing shareholders in the public market, including
shares issued upon exercise of outstanding options or upon the conversion of our convertible notes; and

e general conditions in the telecommunications industry.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal properties do not lend themselves to simple description by character and location. The
percentage allocation of our gross investment in property, plant and equipment consisted of the following as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004:

Land and buildings . . ......... oo 8%
Communications eqUIPMENt . . ... ..ottt ettt et et e e 43%
Other network equipment ... ... ...... .. .ttt 43%
General-purpose computers and other . ........... .. .. ... .. .. .. . i ... 6%

Total .. 100%

Land and buildings consist of land, land improvements, central office and certain administrative office
buildings. Communications equipment primarily consists of switches, routers and transmission electronics. Other
network equipment primarily includes conduit and cable. General-purpose computers and other consist
principally of computers, office equipment, vehicles and other general support equipment. We own substantially
all of our telecommunications equipment required for our business. Total gross investment in property, plant and
equipment was approximately $46.0 billion and $45.4 billion at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively,
before deducting accumulated depreciation.

We own and lease sales offices in major metropolitan locations both in the United States and internationally.
Our network management centers are located primarily in buildings that we own at various locations in
geographic areas that we serve. Substantially all of the installations of central office equipment for our local
service business are located in buildings and on land that we own. Our out-of-region network is generally located
in real property pursuant to an agreement with the property owner or another person with rights to the property. It
is possible that we may lose our rights under one or more of such agreements, due to their termination or their
expiration. In addition, several putative class actions have been filed against us disputing our use of certain of
such rights-of-way. For a description of these actions, see “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of this report. If we lose
any such rights-of-way or are unable to renew them, we may find it necessary to move or replace the affected
portions of the network. However, we do not expect any material adverse impacts as a result of the loss of any
such rights. For additional information, please see Note 4—Property, Plant and Equipment to our consolidated
financial statements in Item 8 of this report.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Throughout this section, when we refer to a class action as “putative” it is because a class has been alleged,
but not certified in that matter. Until and unless a class has been certified by the court, it has not been established
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that the named plaintiffs represent the class of plaintiffs they purport to represent. To the extent appropriate, we
have provided reserves for each of the matters described below.

Settlement of Consolidated Securities Action

Twelve putative class actions purportedly brought on behalf of purchasers of our publicly traded securities
between May 24, 1999 and February 14, 2002 have been consolidated into a consolidated securities action
pending in federal district court in Colorado. The first of these actions was filed on July 27, 2001. Plaintiffs
allege, among other things, that defendants issued false and misleading financial results and made false
statements about our business and investments, including making materially false statements in certain of our
registration statements. The most recent complaint in this matter seeks unspecified compensatory damages and
other relief. However, counsel for plaintiffs indicated that the putative class would seek damages in the tens of
billions of dollars. The SPA action described below has also been consolidated with the consolidated securities
action.

On November 23, 2005, we, certain other defendants, and the putative class representatives entered into and
filed with the federal district court in Colorado a Stipulation of Partial Settlement that, if implemented, will settle
the consolidated securities action against us and certain other defendants. On January 5, 2006, the federal district
court in Colorado issued an order (1) preliminarily approving the proposed settlement, (2) setting a hearing for
May 19, 2006 to consider final approval of the proposed settlement, and (3) certifying a class, for settlement
purposes only, on behalf of purchasers of our publicly traded securities between May 24, 1999 and July 28, 2002.

Under the proposed settlement agreement, we would pay a total of $400 million in cash—$100 million of
which was paid 30 days after preliminary approval of the proposed settlement by the federal district court in
Colorado, $100 million of which would be paid 30 days after final approval of the settlement by the court, and
$200 million of which would be paid on January 15, 2007, plus interest at 3.75% per annum on the $200 million
between the date of final approval by the court and the date of payment.

If approved, the proposed settlement agreement will settle the individual claims of the class representatives
and the claims of the class they represent against us and all defendants in the consolidated securities action,
except Joseph Nacchio, our former chief executive officer, and Robert Woodruff, our former chief financial
officer. (The non-class action brought by SPA that is consolidated for certain purposes with the consolidated
securities action is not part of the settlement.) As part of the proposed settlement, we would receive $10 million
from Arthur Andersen LLP, which would also be released by the class representatives and the class they
represent, which will offset $10 million of the $400 million that would be payable by us.

The proposed settlement agreement is subject to a number of conditions and future contingencies. Among
others, it (i) requires final court approval; (ii) provides plaintiffs with the right to terminate the settlement if the
$250 million we previously paid to the SEC in settlement of its investigation against us is not distributed to the
class members; (iii) provides us with the right to terminate the settlement if class members representing more
than a specified amount of alleged securities losses elect to opt out of the settlement; (iv) provides us with the
right to terminate the settlement if we do not receive adequate protections for claims relating to substantive
liabilities of non-settling defendants; and (v) is subject to review on appeal even if the district court were finally
to approve it. Any lawsuits that may be brought by parties opting out of the settlement will be vigorously
defended regardless of whether the settlement described herein is consummated. No parties admit any
wrongdoing as part of the proposed settlement.

DOJ Investigation and Remaining Securities Actions

The Department of Justice, or DOJ, investigation and the securities actions described below present material
and significant risks to us. The size, scope and nature of the restatements of our consolidated financial statements
for 2001 and 2000, which are described in our previously issued consolidated financial statements for the year
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ended December 31, 2002, or our 2002 Financial Statements, affect the risks presented by this investigation and
these actions, as these matters involve, among other things, our prior accounting practices and related
disclosures. Plaintiffs in certain of the securities actions have alleged our restatement of items in support of their
claims. We can give no assurance as to the impacts on our financial results or financial condition that may
ultimately result from all of these matters.

We have a reserve recorded in our financial statements of approximately $105 million relating to the
remaining securities actions described below, which amount represents the minimum estimated amount of loss
we believe is probable with respect to these matters. We have recorded our estimate of the minimum liability of
these matters because no estimate of probable loss for these matters is a better estimate than any other amount. If
the recorded reserve is insufficient to cover these matters, we will need to record additional charges to our
consolidated statement of operations in future periods. Additionally, we are unable at this time to provide a
reasonable estimate of the upper end of the range of loss associated with these matters due to their complex
nature and current status, and, as a result, the amount we have reserved for these matters is our estimate of the
lowest end of the possible range of loss. The ultimate outcomes of these matters are still uncertain and the
amount of loss we may ultimately incur could be substantially more than the reserve we have provided.

We believe that it is probable that a portion of the recorded reserve for the remaining securities actions
described below and the consolidated securities action described above will be recoverable from a portion of the
insurance proceeds that were placed in a trust to cover our losses and the losses of individual insureds following
our November 2003 settlement of disputes with certain of our insurance carriers related to, among other things,
the DOJ investigation and securities actions. The insurance proceeds are subject to claims by us and other
insureds for, among other things, the costs of defending certain matters and, as a result, such proceeds are being
depleted over time. In any event, the terms and conditions of applicable bylaws, certificates or articles of
incorporation, agreements or applicable law may obligate us to indemnify our current and former directors,
officers and employees with respect to certain liabilities, and we have been advancing legal fees and costs to
many current and former directors, officers and employees in connection with the DOJ investigation, securities
actions and certain other matters.

We continue to defend against the securities actions described below vigorously and are currently unable to
provide any estimate as to the timing of the resolution of these actions. Any settlement of or judgment in one or
more of these actions substantially in excess of our recorded reserves could have a significant impact on us, and
we can give no assurance that we will have the resources available to pay any such judgment. The magnitude of
any settlement or judgment resulting from these actions could materially and adversely affect our ability to meet
our debt obligations and our financial condition, potentially impacting our credit ratings, our ability to access
capital markets and our compliance with debt covenants. In addition, the magnitude of any such settlement or
judgment may cause us to draw down significantly on our cash balances, which might force us to obtain
additional financing or explore other methods to generate cash. Such methods could include issuing additional
securities or selling assets.

DOJ Investigation

On July 9, 2002, we were informed by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of Colorado of a criminal
investigation of our business. We believe the U.S. Attorney’s Office has investigated various matters that include
transactions related to the various adjustments and restatements described in our 2002 Financial Statements,
transactions between us and certain of our vendors and certain investments in the securities of those vendors by
individuals associated with us, and certain prior disclosures made by us. We are continuing in our efforts to
cooperate fully with the U.S. Attorney’s Office in its investigation. However, we cannot predict the outcome of
this investigation or the timing of its resolution.

Remaining Securities Actions

We are a defendant in the securities actions described below. Plaintiffs in these actions have variously
alleged, among other things, that we violated federal and state securities laws, engaged in fraud, civil conspiracy
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and negligent misrepresentation, and breached fiduciary duties owed to investors and current and former
employees. Other defendants in one or more of these actions include current and former directors of Qwest,
former officers and employees of Qwest, Arthur Andersen LLP, certain investment banks and others.

* ERISA actions. Seven putative class actions purportedly brought on behalf of all participants and
beneficiaries of the Qwest Savings and Investment Plan and predecessor plans, or the Plan, from
March 7, 1999 until January 12, 2004 have been consolidated into a consolidated action in federal
district court in Colorado. These suits also purport to seek relief on behalf of the Plan. The first of these
actions was filed in March 2002. Plaintiffs assert breach of fiduciary duty claims against us and others
under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, alleging, among other
things, various improprieties in managing holdings of our stock in the Plan. Plaintiffs seek damages,
equitable and declaratory relief, along with attorneys’ fees and costs and restitution. Counsel for
plaintiffs has indicated that the putative class will seek billions of dollars of damages. A non-class
action alleging similar claims was filed in the federal district court in Montana in June 2003 and was
later transferred to federal district court in Colorado.

e Colorado action. A putative class action purportedly brought on behalf of purchasers of our stock
between June 28, 2000 and June 27, 2002 and owners of U S WEST, Inc. stock on June 28, 2000 is
pending in Colorado in the District Court for the County of Boulder. This action was filed on June 27,
2002. Plaintiffs allege, among other things, that the defendants issued false and misleading statements
and engaged in improper accounting practices in order to accomplish the U S WEST/Qwest merger,
which we refer to as the Merger, to make us appear successful and to inflate the value of our stock.
Plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary damages, disgorgement of illegal gains and other relief.

* New Jersey action. An action by the State of New Jersey (Treasury Department, Division of
Investment), or New Jersey, is pending in the New Jersey Superior Court, Mercer County. This action
was filed on November 27, 2002. New Jersey alleges, among other things, that defendants caused our
stock to trade at artificially inflated prices by employing improper accounting practices and by issuing
false statements about our business, revenue and profits, and contends that it incurred hundreds of
millions of dollars in losses. Among other requested relief, New Jersey seeks from the defendants,
jointly and severally, compensatory, consequential, incidental and punitive damages.

e CalSTRS action. An action by the California State Teachers’ Retirement System, or CalSTRS, is
pending in the Superior Court of the State of California in and for the County of San Francisco. This
action was filed on December 10, 2002. CalSTRS alleges, among other things, that defendants engaged
in a scheme that falsely inflated our revenues and decreased our expenses so that we would appear more
successful than we actually were during the period in which CalSTRS purchased our securities, and
CalSTRS asserts that defendants’ actions caused it to lose in excess of $150 million invested in our
equity and debt securities. Plaintiff seeks compensatory, special and punitive damages, restitution,
pre-judgment interest and costs.

e SURSI action. An action by the State Universities Retirement System of Illinois, or SURSI, is pending
in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois. This action was filed on January 10, 2003. SURSI alleges,
among other things, that defendants engaged in a scheme to falsely inflate our revenue and decrease our
expenses by improper conduct related to transactions with various customers and suppliers and claims
that its losses from investments in our securities are in excess of $12.5 million. SURSI seeks, among
other things, compensatory and punitive damages, costs, equitable relief, including an injunction to
freeze or prevent disposition of the defendants’ assets, and disgorgement.

e SPA action. An action by Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP, or SPA, is pending in federal district court in
Colorado. This action was filed on February 9, 2004. SPA alleges, among other things, that defendants
created a false perception of our revenue and growth prospects and that its losses from investments in
our securities are in excess of $100 million. SPA seeks, among other things, compensatory and punitive
damages, rescission or rescissionary damages, pre-judgment interest, attorneys’ fees and costs.
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e SHC action. An action by Shriners Hospital for Children, or SHC, is pending in federal district court in
Colorado. This action was filed on March 22, 2004. SHC alleges, among other things, that defendants
issued false and misleading financial reports about us. SHC alleges compensatory damages of
approximately $17 million. SHC seeks compensatory and punitive damages, interest, costs and
attorneys’ fees.

e TRSL action. An action by the Teachers’ Retirement System of Louisiana, or TRSL, is pending in
federal district court in Colorado. This action was filed on or about March 30, 2004. TRSL alleges,
among other things, that defendants issued false and misleading financial reports about us. TRSL alleges
compensatory damages of approximately $23 million. TRSL seeks compensatory and punitive damages,
interest, costs and attorneys’ fees.

e NYC Funds action. An action by a number of New York City pension and retirement funds, or NYC
Funds, is pending in federal district court in Colorado. This action was filed on September 22, 2004.
NYC Funds allege, among other things, that defendants created a false perception of our revenue and
growth prospects and that their losses from investments in our securities are in excess of $300 million.
NYC Funds seek, among other things, compensatory and punitive damages, rescission or rescissionary
damages, pre-judgment interest, attorneys’ fees and costs.

KPNQwest Litigation/Investigation

A putative class action is pending in the federal district court for the Southern District of New York against
us, certain of our former executives who were also on the supervisory board of KPNQwest, N.V. (of which we
were a major shareholder), and others. This lawsuit was initially filed on October 4, 2002. The current complaint
alleges, on behalf of certain purchasers of KPNQwest securities, that, among other things, defendants engaged in
a fraudulent scheme and deceptive course of business in order to inflate KPNQwest’s revenue and the value of
KPNQwest securities. Plaintiffs seek compensatory damages and/or rescission as appropriate against defendants,
as well as an award of plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and costs. On February 3, 2006, we, certain other defendants and
the putative class representative in this action executed an agreement to settle the case against us and certain
other defendants. Under the settlement agreement, we will pay $5.5 million in cash to the settlement fund no later
than 30 days following preliminary court approval, and no later than 30 days following final approval by the
court, we will issue shares of our stock to the settlement fund then valued at $5.5 million as additional
consideration for the settlement. The settlement agreement would settle the individual claims of the putative class
representative and the claims of the class he purports to represent against us and all defendants except
Koninklijke KPN N.V. a/k/a Royal KPN N.V., Willem Ackermans, Eelco Blok, Joop Drechsel, Martin Pieters,
and Rhett Williams. The settlement agreement is subject to a number of conditions and future contingencies.
Among others, it (i) requires both preliminary and final court approval; (ii) provides us with the right to terminate
the settlement if class members representing more than a specified amount of alleged securities losses elect to opt
out of the settlement; (iii) provides us with the right to terminate the settlement if we do not receive adequate
protections for claims relating to substantive liabilities of non-settling defendants; and (iv) is subject to review on
appeal even if the district court were finally to approve it. Any lawsuits that may be brought by parties opting out
of the settlement will be vigorously defended regardless of whether the settlement described herein is
consummated. No parties admit wrongdoing as a part of the settlement agreement.

On October 31, 2002, Richard and Marcia Grand, co-trustees of the R.M. Grand Revocable Living Trust,
dated January 25, 1991, filed a lawsuit in Arizona Superior Court which, as amended, alleges, among other
things, that the defendants violated state and federal securities laws and breached their fiduciary duty in
connection with investments by plaintiffs in securities of KPNQwest. We are a defendant in this lawsuit along
with Qwest B.V. (one of our subsidiaries), Joseph Nacchio, our former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
and John McMaster, the former President and Chief Executive Officer of KPNQwest. Plaintiffs claim to have
lost approximately $10 million in their investments in KPNQwest. The court granted defendants’ motion for
partial summary judgment with respect to a substantial portion of plaintiffs’ claims. The court entered judgment
for defendants on those claims and dismissed the remaining claims without prejudice. We have entered into a
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tolling agreement with plaintiffs that allows them to re-file these remaining claims following their appeal of the
court’s order granting summary judgment to defendants on a substantial portion of plaintiffs’ claims. Plaintiffs
have filed such an appeal with the Arizona Court of Appeals.

On June 25, 2004, J.C. van Apeldoorn and E.T. Meijer, in their capacities as trustees in the Dutch
bankruptcy proceeding for KPNQwest, filed a complaint in the federal district court for the District of New
Jersey alleging violations of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, and breach of fiduciary
duty and mismanagement under Dutch law. We are a defendant in this lawsuit along with Joseph Nacchio,
Robert S. Woodruff, our former Chief Financial Officer, and John McMaster. Plaintiffs allege, among other
things, that defendants’ actions were a cause of the bankruptcy of KPNQwest and the bankruptcy deficit of
KPNQwest was in excess of $3 billion. Plaintiffs seek compensatory, treble and punitive damages, as well as an
award of plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and costs.

On June 17, 2005, Appaloosa Investment Limited Partnership I, Palomino Fund Ltd., and Appaloosa
Management L.P. filed a complaint in the federal district court for the Southern District of New York against us,
Joseph Nacchio, John McMaster and Koninklijke KPN N.V., or KPN. The complaint alleges that defendants
violated federal securities laws in connection with the purchase by plaintiffs of certain KPNQwest debt
securities. Plaintiffs seek compensatory damages, as well as an award of plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and costs.

Various former lenders to KPNQwest or their assignees, including Citibank, N.A., Deutsche Bank AG
London and others, have notified us of their intent to file legal claims in connection with the origination of a
credit facility and subsequent borrowings made by KPNQwest of approximately €300 million under that facility.
They have indicated that we would be a defendant in this threatened lawsuit along with Joseph Nacchio, John
McMaster, Drake Tempest, our former General Counsel, KPN and other former employees of Qwest, KPN or
KPNQwest.

On August 23, 2005, the Dutch Shareholders Association (Vereniging van Effectenbezitters, or VEB) filed a
petition for inquiry with the Enterprise Chamber of the Amsterdam Court of Appeals, located in the Netherlands,
with regard to KPNQwest. VEB seeks an inquiry into the policies and course of business at KPNQwest that are
alleged to have caused the bankruptcy of KPNQwest in May 2002, and an investigation into alleged
mismanagement of KPNQwest by its executive management, supervisory board members, joint venture entities
(us and KPN), and KPNQwest’s outside auditors and accountants.

Other than the putative class action in which we have entered into a proposed settlement (and for which we
have recorded a reserve of $11 million in connection with the proposed settlement), we will continue to defend
against the pending KPNQwest litigation matters vigorously and will likewise defend against any claims asserted
by KPNQwest’s former lenders if litigation is filed.

Regulatory Matter

On July 15, 2004, the New Mexico state regulatory commission opened a proceeding to investigate whether
we are in compliance with or are likely to meet a commitment that we made in 2001 to invest in communications
infrastructure in New Mexico through March 2006 pursuant to an Alternative Form of Regulation plan, or
AFOR. The AFOR says, in part, that “Qwest commits to devote a substantial budget to infrastructure investment,
with the goal of achieving the purposes of this Plan. Specifically, Qwest will make capital expenditures of not
less than $788 million over the term of this Plan. This level of investment is necessary to meet the commitments
made in this Plan to increase Qwest’s investment and improve its service quality in New Mexico.” Multiple
parties filed comments in that proceeding and variously argued that we should be subject to a range of
requirements including an escrow account for capital spending, new investment obligations, and customer credits
or price reductions.

On April 14, 2005, the Commission issued its Final Order in connection with this investigation. In this Final
Order, the Commission ruled that the evidence in the record indicates we will not be in compliance with the
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investment commitment at the conclusion of the AFOR in March 2006, and if the current trend in our capital
expenditures continues, there will be a shortfall of $200 million or more by the end of the AFOR. The
Commission also concluded that we have an unconditional commitment to invest $788 million over the life of
the AFOR. Finally, the Commission ruled that if we fail to satisfy this investment commitment, any shortfall
must be credited or refunded to our New Mexico customers. The Commission also opened an enforcement and
implementation docket to review our investments and consider the structure and size of any refunds or credits to
be issued to customers. On May 12 and 13, 2005, we filed appeals in federal district court and in the New
Mexico State Supreme Court, respectively, challenging the lawfulness of the Commission’s Final Order. On
May 31, 2005, the Commission issued an order, in response to a report we filed on May 20, 2005, designating a
hearing examiner to conduct proceedings addressing whether customer credits and refunds should be imposed on
us based on our investment levels as of June 30, 2005, and prior to the expiration of the AFOR in March 2006.

We have vigorously argued, among other things, that the underlying purposes of the investment
commitment set forth in the AFOR have been met in that we have met all service quality and service deployment
obligations under the AFOR; that, in light of this, we should not be held to a specific amount of investment; and
that the Commission has failed to include all eligible investments in the calculation of how much we have
actually invested. Nevertheless, we believe it is unlikely the Commission will reverse its determination that we
have an unconditional obligation to invest $788 million. In addition, we have argued, and will continue to argue,
that customer credits or refunds are an impermissible and illegal form of relief for the Commission to order in the
event there is an investment shortfall. On January 30, 2006, Qwest filed with the New Mexico Commission an
Offer of Settlement and to Revise AFOR. This Offer proposes to extend the time period for Qwest to complete
$788 million in investments to three years following the approval of the Offer. Under the Offer, Qwest has
included within the $788 million of total investments a proposal to invest $85 million in projects approved by the
Commission. In an order dated February 7, 2006, the Commission rejected the Offer on technical grounds, ruling
that it was improper as to form. In this order, the Commission also encouraged Qwest and the other parties to
continue settlement negotiations.

We believe there is a substantial likelihood that the ultimate outcome of this matter will result in us having
to make expenditures or payments beyond those we would otherwise make in the normal course of business.
These expenditures or payments could take the form of one or more of the following: penalties, capital
investment, basic service rate reductions and customer refunds or credits. At this time, however, we are not able
to reasonably estimate the amount of these expenditures or payments and, accordingly, have not reserved any
amount for such potential liability. Any final resolution of this matter could be material.

Other Matters

Several putative class actions relating to the installation of fiber optic cable in certain rights-of-way were
filed against us on behalf of landowners on various dates and in various courts in California, Colorado, Georgia,
[linois, Indiana, Kansas, Mississippi, Missouri, North Carolina, Oregon, South Carolina, Tennessee and Texas.
For the most part, the complaints challenge our right to install our fiber optic cable in railroad rights-of-way.
Complaints in Colorado, Illinois and Texas, also challenge our right to install fiber optic cable in utility and
pipeline rights-of-way. The complaints allege that the railroads, utilities and pipeline companies own a limited
property right-of-way that did not include the right to permit us to install our fiber optic cable in the right-of-way
without the Plaintiffs’ consent. Most actions (California, Colorado, Georgia, Kansas, Louisiana, Mississippi,
Missouri, North Carolina, Oregon, South Carolina, Tennessee and Texas) purport to be brought on behalf of
state-wide classes in the named plaintiffs’ respective states. Several actions purport to be brought on behalf of
multi-state classes. The Illinois state court action purports to be on behalf of landowners in Illinois, lowa,
Kentucky, Michigan, Minnesota, Nebraska, Ohio and Wisconsin. The Illinois federal court action purports to be
on behalf of landowners in Arkansas, California, Florida, Illinois, Indiana, Missouri, Nevada, New Mexico,
Montana and Oregon. The Indiana action purports to be on behalf of a national class of landowners adjacent to
railroad rights-of-way over which our network passes. The complaints seek damages on theories of trespass and
unjust enrichment, as well as punitive damages.
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The IRS proposed a tax adjustment for tax years 1994 through 1996. The principal issue involves the allocation
of costs between long-term contracts with customers for the installation of conduit or fiber optic cable and
additional conduit or fiber optic cable retained by us. The IRS disputes the allocation of the costs between us and
third parties. Similar claims have been asserted against us with respect to the 1997 to 1998 and the 1998 to 2001
audit periods. The 1994-1996 claim is currently being litigated in the Tax Court, and we do not believe the IRS will
be successful, although the ultimate outcome is uncertain. If we were to lose this issue for the tax years 1994
through 1998, we estimate that we would have to pay approximately $57 million in tax plus approximately $43
million in interest pursuant to tax sharing agreements with the Anschutz Company relating to those time periods.

In 2004, we recorded income tax expense of $158 million related to a change in the expected timing of
deductions related to our tax strategy, referred to as the Contested Liability Acceleration Strategy, or CLAS,
which we implemented in 2000. CLAS is a strategy that sets aside assets to provide for the satisfaction of
asserted liabilities associated with litigation in a tax efficient manner. CLAS accelerated deductions for contested
liabilities by placing assets for potential litigation liabilities out of the control of the company and into trusts
managed by a third-party trustee. In 2004, we were formally notified by the IRS that it was contesting the CLAS
tax strategy. Also in 2004 as a result of a series of notices on CLAS strategies issued by the IRS and the receipt
of legal advice with respect thereto, we adjusted our accounting for CLAS as required by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” or SFAS No. 109. The change in
expected timing of deductions caused an increase in our liability for uncertain tax positions and a corresponding
increase in our net operating loss carry-forwards, or NOLs. Because we are not currently forecasting future
taxable income sufficient to realize the benefits of this increase in our NOLSs, we recorded an increase in our
valuation allowance on deferred tax assets as required by SFAS No. 109. Additionally, in 2004 the IRS proposed
a penalty of $37 million on this strategy. We believe that the imposition of a penalty is not appropriate as we
acted in good faith in implementing this tax strategy in reliance on two contemporaneous tax opinions and
adequately disclosed this transaction to the IRS in our initial and subsequent tax returns. We intend to vigorously
defend our position on this and other tax matters.

We have other tax related matters pending against us, certain of which, in addition to CLAS, are before the
Appeals Office of the IRS. We believe we have adequately provided for these matters.

Matters Resolved in the Fourth Quarter of 2005
Regulatory Matters

Beginning in 2002, formal proceedings against us were initiated with the public utilities commissions in
several states alleging, among other things, that we, in contravention of federal and state law, failed to file
interconnection agreements with the state commissions and that we therefore allegedly discriminated against
various CLECs. The complainants sought fines, penalties and/or carrier credits. Most of these cases were
previously resolved. Two remaining state commission proceedings were resolved as follows:

*  Minnesota. On February 14, 2002, the Minnesota Department of Commerce filed a formal complaint
against us with the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission. On November 1, 2002, the Minnesota
Commission issued a written order finding against us. The Minnesota Commission’s final, written
decision was issued on May 21, 2003 and would require a penalty payment to the state of approximately
$26 million and payments of carrier credits of approximately $18 million. Of the $18 million, about $3
million has been released by the carriers in bankruptcy proceedings. The Minnesota Commission, the
carriers and Qwest each appealed portions of the decision to the federal district court in Minnesota, and
the district court upheld the penalty and vacated the carrier credits. The Minnesota Commission, the
carriers and Qwest each appealed to the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals. On November 1, 2005, the
Court of Appeals issued its opinion affirming the district court order, thereby upholding the penalty and
vacating the carrier credits. On November 15, 2005, Qwest petitioned the Court of Appeals for rehearing
on the penalty issue. On December 20, 2005, the Court of Appeals denied Qwest’s petition for
rehearing.
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Based upon newly-discovered evidence, on August 24, 2005, Qwest filed a motion requesting that the
federal district court vacate the penalty based on our assertion that the underlying Minnesota
Commission order is invalid. On November 30, 2005, the district court denied Qwest’s motion to
vacate, and it denied Qwest’s request for reconsideration. Qwest also requested the Minnesota
Commission to investigate the newly-discovered evidence that relates to the validity of orders issued in
this and other Minnesota Commission proceedings, and on October 7, 2005, the Minnesota Commission
opened an investigation into the matter. The outcome of this investigation could lead to action by the
Minnesota Commission that ultimately results in a reduction of the $26 million penalty assessment.

e Colorado. On December 20, 2005, the Colorado Commission issued an order approving a proposed
settlement between Qwest, the Commission Staff, the Office of Consumer Counsel, AT&T, and Covad
that requires Qwest to pay $7.5 million in contributions to state telecommunications programs and that
offers CLECs credits that could total approximately $6.5 million.

Other Matter

On January 20, 2004, we filed a complaint in the District Court for the City and County of Denver against
KMC Telecom LLC and several of its related parent or subsidiary companies (collectively referred to as KMC).
Subsequently, we filed an amended complaint to name additional defendants, including General Electric Capital
Corporation, or GECC, one of KMC'’s lenders, and GECC filed a complaint in intervention. We were seeking a
declaration that a series of agreements with KMC and its lenders were not effective because conditions precedent
were not satisfied and to recoup other damages and attorneys’ fees and costs. GECC and KMC had asserted
counterclaims for declaratory judgment and anticipatory breach of contract. GECC and KMC sought a
declaration that the relevant agreements are in effect and claimed monetary damages for anticipatory breach of
the agreements and their attorneys’ fees and costs. In November 2005, we entered into a settlement agreement
with KMC and GECC regarding this lawsuit and also various other disputes and obligations between the parties.
Under the terms of the settlement, we paid $98 million in order to resolve the lawsuit and all other disputes and
obligations between and among us, KMC and GECC. As a result of the settlement, we have severed our
relationship with KMC in its entirety.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2005.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market for Qwest Common Stock

The United States market for trading in our common stock is the New York Stock Exchange. As of
February 1, 2006, our common stock was held by approximately 370,000 stockholders of record. The following
table sets forth the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock for the periods indicated.

Market Price

High ~ Low
2004
First quarter .. .......oo ittt $5.00  $3.50
Second qUArter . . ... .. 4.40 3.51
Third qUArter .. ... ...t 4.00 2.56
Fourth quarter .......... .. .. . . . . . 4.61 3.25
2005
First quarter .. .......oo it $4.86  $3.50
Second qUArter . . ... ... 3.94 3.30
Third qUArter .. ... ...ttt 4.23 3.58
Fourth quarter .......... .. .. . . . . . 5.95 3.92

We did not pay any cash dividends on our common stock in 2005 or 2004. Some of our debt instruments
contain restrictions on the amount of dividends we can pay (see Note 8—Borrowings to our consolidated
financial statements in Item 8 of this report). The most restrictive covenant currently is under the 2005 QSC
Credit Facility, which is currently undrawn. The 2005 QSC Credit facility currently allows us to pay dividends
up to $1.7 billion, and the $1.7 billion may be increased with cumulative net income and net proceeds from the
issuance of common stock. In addition, like other companies that are incorporated in Delaware, we are also
limited by Delaware law in the amount of dividends we can pay.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

On October 6, 2005, we issued an aggregate of 33,626 additional shares of our common stock upon the
exercise of warrants at an aggregate exercise price of $1,441. The warrants were issued by ICON CMT Corp. in
1997 to one of its consultants and were assumed by us in connection with our acquisition of ICON CMT Corp. in
1999. The shares were issued in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Section 3(a)(9) of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended. No underwriters were involved, and no sales commission or other
remuneration was paid in connection with the issuance.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with, and are qualified by
reference to, the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto in Item 8 of this report and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7 of this report. Certain prior
year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current-year presentation.

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(Dollars in millions, shares in thousands except per share amounts)
Operating reVenue . .................... $ 13,903 $ 13,809 $ 14288 $ 15371 $ 16,530
Operating expenses . ................... 13,048 14,097 14,542 34,288 18,882
Loss from continuing operations . . ........ (757) (1,794) (1,313) (17,618) (6,117)
Net (loss) income(1) ................... $ (779 $ (1,794) $ 1,512 $ (38,468) $ (5,603)
Basic and diluted (loss) income per share:
Loss from continuing operations . . . . . . $ 0.41) $ (1.00) $ (0.76) $ (10.48) $ (3.68)
Net (loss) income per share . ......... $ 0.42) $ (1.00) $ 087 $ (22.87) $ (3.37)
Basic and diluted weighted average shares
outstanding ........................ 1,836,374 1,801,405 1,738,766 1,682,056 1,661,133
Dividends per common share ............ $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.05
Other data:
Cash provided by operating
activities ...................... $ 2,313 $ 1,848 % 2,175 $ 2,388 $ 3,001
Cash used for investing activities . . ... (459) (1,905) (2,730) (2,738) (8,152)
Cash (used for) provided by financing
activities . ..., (2,159) (158) (4,856) (789) 4,660
Capital expenditures ............... 1,613 1,731 2,088 2,764 8,042
As of December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Total @SSetS . . oo v et $ 21,497 $ 24324 $ 26343 $ 29473 $ 72,290
Totaldebt(2) ........... ..., 15,480 17,286 17,508 22,540 25,037
Total debt to total capital ratio(3) ......... 126.23% 117.80% 106.16% 114.36% 41.42%

(1)  Amounts that follow in this footnote are on an after-tax basis.

2005. 2005 net loss includes a net loss of $ 462 million ($0.25 per basic and diluted share) relating to the
early retirement of debt, a charge of $22 million ($0.01 per basic and diluted share) resulting from adoption
of Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Interpretation, or FIN, No. 47, “Accounting for
Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations,” or FIN 47, relating to accounting for conditional asset
retirement obligations, a charge of $114 million ($0.06 per basic and diluted share) for realignment and
severance related costs, which is included in our selling, general and administrative expenses; and a gain of
$ 263 million ($0.14 per basic and diluted share) in connection with wireless asset sales of PCS licenses and
related wireless network assets.

2004. 2004 net loss includes a charge of $550 million ($0.31 per basic and diluted share) for litigation
related losses; a net charge of $211 million ($0.12 per basic and diluted share) for restructuring, realignment
and severance related costs which is included in our selling, general and administrative expenses; a charge
of $113 million ($0.06 per basic and diluted share) for an impairment of assets consisting primarily of
excess network supplies, network facilities, payphone operations and abandoned long-term capacity routes
and a benefit of approximately $50 million ($0.03 per basic and diluted share) relating to favorable
customer bankruptcy settlements.

2003. 2003 net income includes a charge of $140 million ($0.08 per basic and diluted share) for an
impairment of assets (primarily cell sites, switches, related tools and equipment inventory and certain
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information technology systems supporting the wireless network), a net gain of $206 million ($0.12 per
basic and diluted share) resulting from the adoption of SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations,” or SFAS No. 143, relating to the reversal of net removal costs where there was not a legal
removal obligation, a net charge of $241 million ($0.14 per basic and diluted share) resulting from the
termination of services arrangements with Calpoint and another service provider, a net charge of $69 million
($0.04 per basic and diluted share) for restructuring charges, a net charge of $61 million ($0.04 per basic
and diluted share) for litigation related losses, a net gain of $23 million ($0.01 per basic and diluted share)
relating to the early retirement of debt and a net gain on sale of discontinued operations of $2.619 billion
($1.51 per basic and diluted share).

2002. 2002 net loss includes a charge of $22.800 billion ($13.55 per basic and diluted share) for a
transitional impairment from the adoption of a change in accounting for goodwill and other intangible
assets, charges aggregating $14.927 billion ($8.87 per basic and diluted share) for additional goodwill and
asset impairments, a net charge of $112 million ($0.07 per basic and diluted share) for Merger-related,
restructuring and other charges, a charge of $1.190 billion ($0.71 per basic and diluted share) for the losses
and impairment of investment in KPNQwest, a gain of $1.122 billion ($0.67 per basic and diluted share)
relating to the gain on the early retirement of debt and income from and gain on sale of discontinued
operations of $1.950 billion ($1.16 per basic and diluted share).

2001. 2001 net loss includes charges aggregating $697 million ($0.42 per diluted share) for Merger-related,
restructuring and other charges, a charge of $3.300 billion ($1.99 per basic and diluted share) for the losses
and impairment of investment in KPNQwest, a charge of $136 million ($0.08 per basic and diluted share)
for a depreciation adjustment on access lines returned to service, a charge of $163 million ($0.10 per basic
and diluted share) for investment write-downs, a charge of $154 million ($0.09 per basic and diluted share)
for asset impairments, a charge of $65 million ($0.04 per basic and diluted share) for the early retirement of
debt and a gain of $31 million ($0.02 per basic and diluted share) for the sale of rural exchanges.

Amounts exclude future purchase commitments, operating leases and guarantees. At December 31, 2005,
the amount of those future purchase commitments, operating leases, letters of credit and guarantees was
approximately $3.4 billion. 2001 amount includes outstanding commercial paper borrowings of

$3.165 billion. There were no commercial paper borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2005, 2004,
2003 and 2002.

The total debt to total capital ratio is a measure of the amount of total debt in our capitalization. The ratio is
calculated by dividing total debt by total capital. Total debt includes current borrowings and long-term
borrowings as reflected on our consolidated balance sheets. Total capital is the sum of debt and total
stockholders’ (deficit) equity.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Certain statements set forth below under this caption constitute forward-looking statements. See
“Business—Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in Item 1 of this report for additional factors
relating to such statements, and see “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this report for a discussion of certain risk
factors applicable to our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Business Overview and Presentation

We provide local telecommunications and related services, long-distance services and wireless, data and
video services within our local service area, which consists of the 14-state region of Arizona, Colorado, Idaho,
Iowa, Minnesota, Montana, Nebraska, New Mexico, North Dakota, Oregon, South Dakota, Utah, Washington
and Wyoming. We also provide reliable, scalable and secure broadband data and voice (including long-distance)
communications outside our local service area as well as globally.

We previously provided directory publishing services in our local service area. In November 2002, we sold
our directory publishing business in seven of the 14 states in which we offered these services. In September
2003, we sold the directory publishing business in the remaining states. As a consequence, the results of
operations of our directory publishing business are included in income from discontinued operations in our
consolidated statements of operations.

Our analysis presented below is organized to provide the information we believe will be instructive for
understanding the relevant trends going forward. However, this discussion should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this report, including the notes thereto. Our operating revenue is
generated from our wireline services, wireless services and other services segments. An overview of the segment
results is provided in Note 15—Segment Information to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this
report. Segment discussions reflect the way we currently report our segment results to our Chief Operating
Decision Maker, or CODM, and include revenue results for each of our customer channels within the wireline
services segment: business, mass markets and wholesale. In order to better serve the similar needs of our small
business and consumer customers, in 2005 we combined these customers into a new channel, which we refer to
as “mass markets,” and have reclassified our small business customers for all periods presented. Certain prior
year revenue and expense amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentations.

Business Trends
Our financial results continue to be impacted by several significant trends, which are described below:

e Access line losses. Our revenue has been, and we expect it to continue to be, adversely affected by
access line losses. Increased competition, including product substitution, continues to be the primary
reason for our access line losses. For example, consumers are increasingly substituting cable and
wireless telecommunications services for traditional telecommunications services, which has increased
the number and type of competitors within our industry and decreased our market share. Product
bundling, as described more fully below, has been one of our responses to our declining revenue due to
access line losses.

*  Product bundling. We believe consumers increasingly value the convenience of receiving multiple
services from a single provider. As such, we increased our marketing and advertising spending levels in
2005 focusing on product bundling and packaging. Product bundles and packages represent
combinations of products and services, such as local voice, high-speed Internet and wireless, and
features and services, such as three-way calling and call forwarding related to an access line. As a result
of these offerings, we have seen increased sales (primarily of our long-distance and high-speed Internet
products and services).

*  Variable expenses. Expenses associated with higher growth products, such as long-distance, high-speed
Internet and wireless services, tend to be more variable in nature. While our traditional
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telecommunications services tend to rely upon our fixed cost structure, the mix of products we expect to
sell, combined with regulatory and market pricing forces, will continue to pressure operating margins. In
addition, facility costs (described below) are not always reduced proportionally with revenue
fluctuations due to contractual cost commitments.

Facility costs. Facility costs are third-party telecommunications expenses we incur to connect our
customers to networks or to end-user product platforms not owned by us. We have benefited in this area
from the renegotiation, termination or settlement of various service arrangements, from network
optimization initiatives and from regulatory approvals allowing us to provide long-distance services in
our local service area using our own network, thereby decreasing our reliance on third-party providers.
However, these benefits have been offset in varying degrees by increased costs due to increased long-
distance traffic and data and Internet volumes and by new wireless facility costs due to our use of a
third-party wireless provider.

Operational efficiencies. We have continued to evaluate our operating structure and focus, and we
continue to right-size our workforce in response to changes in the telecommunications industry.
Through targeted restructuring plans in prior years, focused improvements in operational efficiency,
process improvements through automation and normal employee attrition, we have reduced our
workforce and employee-related costs while achieving operational goals.

While these trends are important to understanding and evaluating our financial results, the other
transactions, events and trends discussed in “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this report may also materially impact
our business operations and financial results.

Results of Operations

Overview

We generate revenue from our wireline services, wireless services and other services. Depending on the products
or services purchased, a customer may pay an up-front or monthly fee, a usage charge or a combination of these.

Wireline services. The wireline services segment uses our network to provide voice services and data
and Internet services to mass markets (which include consumer and small business customers), business
and wholesale customers. Our wireline services include:

*  Voice services. Voice services revenue includes local voice services, long-distance voice services
and access services. Local voice services revenue includes revenue from basic local exchange
services, switching services, custom calling features, enhanced voice services, operator services,
collocation services and related equipment. Local voice services revenue also includes revenue from
the provision of network transport, billing services and access to our local network on a wholesale
basis. Long-distance voice services revenue includes revenue from InterLATA and IntraLATA
long-distance services. Access services revenue includes fees charged to other data and
telecommunications providers to connect their customers and their network to our network.

e Data and Internet services. Data and Internet services revenue includes data services (such as
traditional private lines, wholesale private lines, frame relay, ATM and related equipment) and
Internet services (such as high-speed Internet, ISDN, VPN, web hosting, professional services and
related equipment).

Wireless services. We offer wireless services and equipment to residential and business customers,
providing them the ability to use the same telephone number for their wireless phone as for their home
or business phone. In August 2003, we entered into a services agreement with a third-party provider that
allows us to resell wireless services, including access to its nationwide PCS wireless network, to mass
markets and business customers, primarily in the states within our local service area.

Other services. Other services revenue is predominantly derived from the sublease of some of our real
estate, such as space in our office buildings, warehouses and other properties.
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The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended 2005, 2004 and 2003:

Operating revenue
Operating expenses, excluding asset

impairment charges
Asset impairment charges
Other expense—net

Loss before income taxes, discontinued
operations and cumulative effect of
changes in accounting principles

Income tax benefit (expense)

Loss from continuing operations
Income from and gain on sale of discontinued
operations—net of taxes
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of
changes in accounting principles
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting
principles—net of taxes

Net (loss) income

Basic and diluted (loss) income per share . . . .

nm—>percentages greater than 200% and comparisons from positive to negative values or to zero values are

considered not meaningful.
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Percentage
Years Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease) Change
2005 v 2004 v 2005v 2004 v
2005 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)
$13,903 $13,809 $14288 $ 94 §$ (479) 1%  (3)%
13,048 13,984 14,312 (936) (328) (M% @)%
— 113 230 (113) (117) nm  (5D%
1,615 1,418 1,578 197 (160) 14% (10)%
(760) (1,706) (1,832) 946 126 55% 7%
3 (88) 519 91 (607) nm nm
757  (1,794) (1,313) 1,037 (481) 58% (37)%
— — 2,619 — (2,619) nm nm
(757)  (1,794) 1,306 1,037 (3,1000 58% nm
(22) — 206 (22)  (206) nm  nm
$ (779) $(1,794) $ 1,512 $1,015 $(3,306) 57% nm
$ (042) $ (1.00) $ 0.87 $ 058 $ (1.87) 58% nm



Operating Revenue
2005 COMPARED TO 2004

The following table compares our operating revenue by segment including the detail of customer channels
within our wireline services segment:

Years Ended Increase/  Percentage
December 31, (Decrease) Change
2005 v 2005 v
2005 2004 2004 2004

(Dollars in millions)
Wireline services revenue
Voice services
Local voice

Business . ........oiii $ 1,074 $ 1,140 $ (66) (6)%
Massmarkets . .......... . 4,527 4,723 (196) 4%
Wholesale . ... e 747 783 (36) 5)%

Total local voice . ........ ...t 6,348 6,646 (298) (4%

Long-distance

Business . ........ .. 447 450 3) (1Y%
Massmarkets . .......... .. 686 607 79 13%
Wholesale . ... 1,098 1,031 67 6%

Total long-distance ........... ... ..t 2,231 2,088 143 7%
ACCESS SEIVICES v v vt i it ettt e 660 689 (29) D)%
Total VOICE SEIVICES . .ot v ettt et et e e 9,239 9,423 (184) (2)%

Data and Internet services:

BUSINESS . .ot 2,086 1,962 124 6%
Massmarkets . .......... ... 745 586 159 27%
Wholesale . .......... ... . 1,265 1,284 (19) (1)%

Total dataand Internet .. ....... .. ... ... ... 4,096 3,832 264 7%
Total wireline SErviCes TEVENUE . . . ... ... ..o ein e 13,335 13,255 80 1%
Wireless SErviCeS TEVEINUE . . .ot v vt e et e e et e e et 527 514 13 3%
Other SEIVICES TEVENUE . . . . oottt et e et e et e e 41 40 1 3%
Total Operating TeVENUE . . . ..o vttt ettt e $13,903 $13,809 $ 94 1%

Wireline Services Revenue

Voice Services

Local voice services. The decrease in local voice services revenue in our business and mass markets
channels was primarily due to access line losses from competitive pressures including technology substitution,
partially offset by an increase in Universal Service Fund, or USF, revenue due to long-distance revenue growth
and USF rate increases. In our mass markets channel we have seen a slowing of access line losses, and this,
combined with rate increases in this channel, has decreased our rate of revenue decline from 10% in 2004 to 4%
in 2005. The decrease in our wholesale channel was primarily due to the sale of a large portion of our payphone
business in August 2004 partially offset by UNE increases, including our non-tariff product. In addition,
wholesale access lines decreased along with sales of UNEs and related operator and billing services to local
competitors as an increasing percentage of competition in our local area is coming from facilities-based
competition, including wireless and cable companies.
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The following table shows our access lines by channel as of December 31, 2005 and 2004:

Access Lines*

Years Ended Increase/ Percentage
December 31, (decrease) Change
2005 v 2005 v
2005 2004 2004 2004
(in thousands)
Massmarkets ..............ouiiriiiiaa 10,653 11,081 (428) (4)%
Business ...........c. i 2,376 2,562 (186) (7%
WHOIESALE . . e et e e e 1,710 1,879 (169) (9)%
TOtAl © o e e e 14,739 15,522 (783) (5)%

* We may modify the channel classification of our access lines from time to time in our efforts to better
approximate the related revenue channels and better reflect how we manage our business.

Long-distance services. The increase in mass markets long-distance services revenue was primarily due to
(1) a 6% increase in in-region long-distance subscribers (adding 270,000 subscribers in 2005) (ii) increased
minutes of use, (iii) increases in our monthly recurring charges, and (iv) increased participation in our unlimited
plan. These increases were partially offset by out-of region declines in both mass markets and business. The
wholesale revenue increase was driven by volume and domestic rate increases partially offset by decreased
international volume and rates.

Access services. Access services revenue continues to be negatively affected by mass markets and business
access line losses, as well as our increasing penetration into in-region long-distance (as we became a competitor
to our access services customers). The decrease in total access services was partially offset by favorable
settlements of customer billing disputes during 2005.

Data and Internet Services

The increase in business data and Internet services revenue was driven by the recognition of $70 million in
revenue from a large government CPE and other data services arrangement and increased revenue related to
WAN (including IQ and UPN) and Private Line services, partially offset by a decrease in Frame Relay revenue.
We anticipate that the large government CPE and other data services arrangement will continue to positively
impact our revenue growth, although to a lesser extent, for the next few quarters as this contract is completed.

The increase in mass markets data and Internet services revenue was primarily driven by a 43% increase in
the number of high-speed Internet subscribers as we expanded our high-speed Internet service area to 77% of our
local service area in 2005 from 67% in 2004. This growth came from continued expansion of service availability
and increased penetration of high-speed Internet where service is available. We believe this growth was
supported by our expanded marketing efforts.

The decline in our wholesale channel was due to the termination of our wholesale modem services product
in April 2005 partially offset by increases in Frame Relay, Private Line and dedicated Internet access revenue.

Wireless Services Revenue

Wireless services revenue increased primarily due to increased price plan and airtime rates for new
subscribers resulting in higher average revenue per subscriber. Although the average number of subscribers for
2005 declined as compared to 2004, total subscribers as of December 31, 2005 increased 2% from December 31,
2004.
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2004 COMPARED TO 2003
The following table compares our operating revenue by segment including the detail of customer channels
within our wireline services segment:

Years Ended Increase/ Percentage
December 31, (Decrease) Change
2004 v 2004 v
2004 2003 2003 2003

(Dollars in millions)
Wireline services revenue
Voice services
Local voice

Business ........... ... $ 1,140 $ 1,204 $ (64) 5)%
Mass markets .................... 4,723 5,258 (535) (10)%
Wholesale . ...................... 783 801 (18) 2)%
Total local voice . .................... 6,646 7,263 617) (8)%
Long-distance
Business ............ ... ... .. ... 450 430 20 5%
Massmarkets .................... 607 569 38 7%
Wholesale . ...................... 1,031 865 166 19%
Total long-distance ................... 2,088 1,864 224 12%
ACCESS SEIVICES ..o v vvi i 689 755 (66) (9%
Total vOiCe Services ...........covvrenenn... 9,423 9,882 (459) 5)%
Data and Internet services:
Business ............... ... .. ..., 1,962 1,888 74 4%
Massmarkets . ................... 586 556 30 5%
Wholesale . ...................... 1,284 1,321 37 3)%
Total data and Internet .. ............... 3,832 3,765 67 2%
Total wireline services revenue .................. 13,255 13,647 (392) 3)%
Wireless services revenue . ..................... 514 598 (84) (14)%
Other services revenue . . ..........cvueeenn... 40 43 3) (7%
Total operating revenue . ....................... $13,809  $14,288 $(479) 3)%

Wireline Services Revenue

Voice Services

Local voice services. The decrease in our local voice services revenue was primarily due to access line
losses from competitive pressures including technology substitution and was also impacted by our customers
migrating to our package offerings, which generally offer lower pricing than our stand-alone products. In
particular, in 2004 and 2003, a significant portion of the losses of our mass markets and business access lines was
attributable to the CLECs’ use of UNE-P and unbundled local loops to deliver voice services. These losses were
partially offset by corresponding increases in our wholesale access lines (where UNEs are reflected) in our
wholesale channel. However, the regulated price structure of UNEs applied downward pressure on our revenue.

The following table shows our access lines by channel as of December 31, 2004 and 2003:

Years Ended Increase/ Percentage

December 31, (decrease) Change

2004 v 2004 v

2004 2003 2003 2003
(in thousands)

Massmarkets .............ouiiriiiia 11,081 11,773 (692) (6)%
Business ......... ... 2,562 2,748 (186) (7%

Wholesale . ......... . . . . . . 1,879 1,688 191 11%
Total . ... 15,522 16,209 (687) 4%




* We may modify the channel classification of our access lines from time to time in our efforts to better
approximate the related revenue channels and better reflect how we manage our business.

Long-distance services. The decrease in local voice services revenue was partially offset by an increase in
long distance services revenue. In January 2003, we began to receive regulatory approval to offer long-distance
service in each state within our 14-state region. In the fourth quarter of 2003, we received regulatory approval for
the last of our 14 in-region states. As we received regulatory approval in each of the states, we began to increase
the marketing and promotion of InterLATA long-distance service to our customers, resulting in growth of
in-region long-distance services revenue. In total, 2.4 million and 2.2 million long distance subscribers were
added in our 14-state region in 2004 and 2003, respectively. In contrast, out-of-region long-distance mass
markets and business revenue declined due to continuing competitive pressures, including pricing pressures.
Wholesale long-distance revenue increased due to increased international and domestic long-distance call
volume, partially offset by lower rates.

Access services. The decrease in access services was primarily due to lower volumes resulting from our
re-entry into in-region long distance (as we became a competitor to our access services customers) and access
line losses.

Data and Internet Services

Data and Internet services revenue increased due to increases in our high-speed Internet, Internet hosting
and VPN offerings, and broadband services continued to be expanded geographically to make our high-speed
Internet service available to more customers. The number of mass markets high-speed Internet subscribers grew
by 62%, and we expanded our high-speed Internet service area to 67% of our local service area in 2004;
however, the impact of increases in mass markets high-speed Internet subscribers and related revenue was offset
in part by decreases in wholesale data and Internet services revenue.

Wireless Services Revenue

The decrease in our wireless revenue is primarily attributable to a net loss of 116,000, or 13% of subscribers
in 2004. A portion of the 2004 loss of subscribers occurred in connection with the migration, completed in 2005,
of our customers to a third-party network and tightened credit policies.

Operating Expenses

This section should be read in conjunction with our business trends discussed above.
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2005 COMPARED TO 2004

The following table provides further detail regarding our operating expenses:

Years Ended Increase/  Percentage
December 31, (Decrease) Change
2005 v 2005 v
2005 2004 2004 2004

(Dollars in millions)

Operating expenses:
Cost of sales

Facility COStS ...ttt $ 2692 $2728 $ (36) (H%
Network eXpenses .. .........ooviuinenninenenann.. 266 262 4 2%
Employee-related costs . ......... ... . .. 1,593 1,706 (113) (N %
Other non-employee related costs .. .................. 1,285 1,194 91 8%
Total costofsales ............ ..., 5,836 5,890 (54) (D%
Selling, general and administrative
Property and other taxes ................. .. .. ...... 353 386 33) 9%
Baddebt ......... .. . . 173 194 21 (11)%
Restructuring, realignment and severance related costs . .. 114 211 o7 (46)%
Employee-related costs . .......... .. ... .. ... 1,623 1,729 (106) (6)%
Other non-employee related costs .. .................. 1,884 2,451 (567) (23)%
Total selling, general and administrative . .................. 4,147 4,971 (824) (17)%
Depreciation .. ...t 2,612 2,626 (14) (D)%
Capitalized software and other intangible assets amortization . . 453 497 44) (9)%
Asset impairment charges . ................ . . — 113 (113) nm
Total Operating eXpenses . ... ......c.uuerueereernennennnn $13,048 $14,097  $(1,049) (%

nm—percentages greater than 200% and comparisons from positive to negative values or to zero values are
considered not meaningful.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales includes employee-related costs, such as salaries, wages and benefits directly attributable to
products or services, network expenses, facility costs and other non-employee related costs such as real estate,
USF charges, call termination fees, materials and supplies, contracted engineering services, computer system
support and the cost of CPE sold.

Cost of sales as a percentage of revenue decreased from 43% in 2004 to 42% in 2005 primarily due to
decreased facility and employee-related costs as described below.

Facility costs decreased largely due to cost savings primarily from network optimization efforts including
the renegotiation, termination or settlement of service arrangements. These benefits were partially offset by
approximately $220 million in increases associated with reselling wireless through a third party as opposed to
operating and maintaining our own wireless network and higher long distance volumes.

Employee-related costs decreased primarily due to a 5% employee reduction from our prior year
restructuring plans as well as a continued focus on containing our employee-related costs and productivity
improvements.

Other non-employee related costs increased primarily due to non-recurring costs associated with the large
government CPE and other data services arrangement described above. The remaining fluctuation is primarily
due to increased call termination fees related primarily to a favorable settlement in 2004, and USF rate increases,
offset by decreased equipment costs related to our wireless and high-speed Internet products.
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Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative, or SG&A, expenses include employee-related costs such as salaries,
wages and benefits not directly attributable to products or services, severance related costs, sales commissions,
bad debt charges and other non-employee related costs such as property taxes, real estate costs, advertising,
professional service fees and computer systems support.

SG&A expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased from 36% in 2004 to 30% in 2005 primarily due to
$550 million of reserves recorded in 2004 related to litigation matters and employee-related costs primarily due
to prior year restructuring as described below.

Our property and other taxes decreased primarily due to favorable property tax settlements in 2005 in excess
of property tax settlements in 2004.

Bad debt expense decreased primarily due to the continued trend of improved wireline collections resulting
in reduced days’ sales outstanding, partially offset by favorable bad debt settlements in 2004.

Restructuring, realignment and severance related costs decreased due to a charge of $128 million in the
second quarter of 2004 resulting from a planned workforce reduction. Employee-related costs decreased
primarily due to employee reductions from our restructuring efforts, normal attrition and productivity
improvements.

Other non-employee related costs decreased for the year ended December 31, 2005 primarily due to $550
million of reserves recorded in 2004 related to litigation matters and reductions in legal and other costs in 2005.
This decrease was partially offset by increased marketing and advertising costs.

Pension and post-retirement benefits. We sponsor noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering
substantially all of our employees. Our post-retirement benefit plans for current and certain future retirees include
healthcare and life insurance coverage.

Our 2005 pension and post-retirement benefit expense of $236 million increased from the 2004 expense of
$188 million. Increases in expense were due to a reduction in the expected return on assets of $78 million related
primarily to the five year smoothing convention used for recognizing gains and losses on the pension plan assets,
completion of the amortization of $63 million for the transition asset in the pension plan in 2004, and recognition
of $42 million in higher actuarial losses. Offsetting decreases in expense were due to $15 million in lower service
costs due to reduced headcount and fewer eligible participants, reduced interest costs of $111 million due to
lower discount rates, changes in participant demographics and assumption changes, and $9 million due to plan
design changes affecting prior service costs.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004 the net unrecognized actuarial loss related to the pension and post-
retirement benefit plans decreased by $634 million and $210 million, respectively. Differences between expected
and actual rates of return on assets, discount rates applied to the pension and post-retirement plan obligations,
expected benefit from Medicare Part D reimbursements and healthcare claims experience are the primary
components of the net unrecognized actuarial (gain) loss.

The difference created between the expected return on assets and the actual net earnings on the assets is
deferred at the end of the year and classified as an unrecognized net actuarial (gain) loss. Lower than expected
earnings create losses and higher than expected earnings create gains. Similarly, the difference between the
discount rate at the beginning of the year and the discount rate at the end of the year is deferred at the end of the
year and classified as an unrecognized net actuarial (gain) loss. Lower than expected discount rates create losses
and higher than expected discount rates create gains. Unrecognized net actuarial losses are similar to deferred
costs and are amortized to expense over 9 to 11 years based on the average remaining service period of the
employees expected to receive benefits in accordance with pension and post-retirement benefit accounting rules.
The impact of recognizing amortization of the net actuarial losses increased the net cost included in current
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earnings by $136 million, $94 million and $101 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Net unrecognized actuarial losses increase the prepaid pension asset and lower the post-retirement
liability recorded in the financial statements while net unrecognized actuarial gains decrease the prepaid pension
asset and increase the post-retirement liability. A significant decrease in net unrecognized actuarial losses is more
likely to occur as a result of changes in the debt and equity markets than through amortization.

For additional information on our pension and post-retirement plans see Note 11—Employee Benefits to our
consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this report.

Operating Expenses by Segment

Segment expenses include employee-related costs, facility costs, network expenses and other non-employee
related costs such as customer support, collections and marketing. We manage indirect administrative services
costs such as finance, information technology, real estate and legal centrally; consequently, these costs are
included in the other services segment. We evaluate depreciation, amortization, interest expense, interest income,
and other income (expense) on a total company basis. As a result, these charges are not assigned to any segment.
Similarly, we do not include impairment charges in the segment results. Our CODM regularly reviews the results
of operations at a segment level to evaluate the performance of each segment and allocate resources based on
segment income.

Wireline Services Segment Expenses

The following table provides further financial detail regarding our wireline services segment for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004:

Years Ended Increase/  Percentage
December 31, (Decrease) Change
2005 v 2005 v
2005 2004 2004 2004

(Dollars in millions)

Wireline services expenses:

Facility COSES ..ottt ettt et $2,386 $2,584  $(198) )%
Network eXpenses . ....... ..., 258 242 16 7%
Baddebt ...... ... 122 157 (35) (22)%
Restructuring, realignment and severance related costs ......... 33 102 (69) (68)%
Employee-related costs .......... ... i 2,397 2,595 (198) (8)%
Other non-employee related costs . ......................... 1,404 1,313 91 7%
Total wireline SErvices EXpenses . ............oueeeeeeeeenen.... $6,600 $6,993  $(393) (6)%

Wireline services operating expenses decreased primarily due to decreased facility costs achieved through
network optimization initiatives and the renegotiation, termination or settlement of services arrangements,
savings in employee-related costs as a result of our restructuring and reduced restructuring and severance related
costs, offset by the cost associated with the large data CPE arrangement mentioned above.
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Wireless Services Segment Expenses

The following table provides detail regarding our wireless services segment for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004:

Years Ended Increase/  Percentage
December 31, (Decrease) Change

2005 v 2005 v
2005 2004 2004 2004

(Dollars in millions)

Wireless services expenses:

Facility COStS ... oot $305 $143 $162 113%
Wireless equipment . ... .........ououitnene i 107 117 (10) 9%
Baddebt . ... .o 51 29 22 76%
Employee-related costs . ......... ... . . . i 39 34 5 15%
Other non-employee related costs . ............ ... ... 9% 178 (82) (46)%
Total Wireless SErvices EXPEnSES . .. .oovveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeen... $598 $501  $ 97 19%

Wireless services operating expenses increased primarily due to facility costs associated with our customers
who previously received their services on our network and whose services we now provide through a third-party.
As a result of this transition, beginning in the third quarter of 2004, we realized savings in depreciation and other
non-employee related costs such as real estate costs, network costs and professional fees. In addition, other
non-employee related costs decreased due to decreased marketing and advertising directly attributable to our
wireless product. We expect our facility costs as a percentage of wireless revenue to remain relatively constant
subject to certain volume discounts as volumes increase. Wireless bad debt increased due to a change in the
application of our credit policy and a decline in collections.

Other Services Segment Expenses

Other services expenses include corporate expenses for services such as finance, information technology,
legal, marketing services and human resources, which we centrally manage and are not assigned to the wireline
or wireless services segments. The following table sets forth additional expense information to provide greater
detail as to the composition of the other services segment for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004:

Years Ended Increase/  Percentage
December 31, (Decrease) Change
2005 v 2005 v
2005 2004 2004 2004

(Dollars in millions)

Other services expenses:

Property and other taxes ...................cuuuueeeea.... $ 351 $ 385 $ (34) (9%
Real estate COStS ... vttt e 422 415 7 2%
Restructuring, realignment and severance related costs ......... 80 107 27 (25)%
Employee-related costs ... .......... i 784 807 (23) 3)%
Other non-employee related costs . .. .......... ... ... . 1,148 1,653 (505) B1DH%
Total other SErvices EXpenses ... .......couuereinerneeneennnn.. $2,785 $3,367 $(582) (17)%

The decrease in other services expense was primarily driven by $550 million in litigation reserves recorded
in 2004, partially offset by increased marketing expenses. Restructuring, realignment and severance related costs
decreased due to significant restructuring charges recorded in 2004, which exceeded 2005 employee realignment
costs incurred as we continued to right-size our workforce.

41



2004 COMPARED TO 2003

The following table provides further detail regarding our operating expenses:

Years Ended Increase/  Percentage
December 31, (Decrease) Change
2004 v 2004 v
2004 2003 2003 2003

(Dollars in millions)

Operating expenses:
Cost of sales

Facility COStS . .....ooiiiiee i $ 2,728 $ 3,220  $(492) (15)%
Network eXpenses . .. ......veuereunenenenennenen . 262 301 39) (13)%
Employee-related costs . .......... .. ... ... 1,706 1,804 98) (5)%
Other non-employee related costs .. .................. 1,194 1,130 64 6%
Total costofsales .......... .. ... 5,890 6,455 (565) (9)%
Selling, general and administrative
Property and othertaxes ............... ... ... ..... 386 452 (66) (15)%
Baddebt ....... ... ... . . .. 194 304 (110) (36)%
Restructuring, realignment and severance related costs . . . 211 112 99 88%
Employee-related costs .......... ... ... 1,729 1,801 (72) D)%
Other non-employee related costs . .. ................. 2,451 2,021 430 21%
Total selling, general and administrative .................. 4,971 4,690 281 6%
Depreciation .. .........o.iii 2,626 2,739 (113) 4%
Capitalized software and other intangible assets
amortization . ............ ... 497 428 69 16%
Asset impairment charges . ........... .. .. .. ... .. ... 113 230 (117) 51D)%
Total Operating EXPEnSES . . ..o v vveeeee e, $14,097 $14,542  $(445) 3)%
Cost of Sales

Cost of sales includes employee-related costs, such as salaries, wages and benefits directly attributable to
products or services, network expenses, facility costs and other non-employee related costs such as real estate,
USF charges, call termination fees, materials and supplies, contracted engineering services, computer system
support and the cost of CPE sold.

Cost of sales as a percentage of revenue decreased from 45% in 2003 to 43% in 2004 due to decreased
facility and employee-related costs as described below.

Facility costs decreased primarily due to the renegotiation, termination or settlement of service
arrangements and network optimization initiatives. These activities resulted in savings during the period of over
$675 million, of which approximately $400 million were caused by one-time termination charges in 2003.
Additionally, we experienced a decrease of approximately $260 million as a result of reduction in our reliance on
third party facility providers. These additional decreases were more than offset by (i) international, mass markets
and wholesale long-distance volume increases, (ii) facility costs associated with the increase in long-distance
revenue in our local service area and (iii) commencement of usage of a third-party wireless network as we
migrated our wireless customers.

The decrease in network costs was primarily due to improved maintenance and right-of-way costs related to
our out-of-region network.

The decrease in employee related costs was primarily due to employee reductions from our restructuring
efforts, normal attrition and productivity improvements.
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Other non-employee related costs increased primarily due to increased equipment costs for high-speed
Internet modems as a result of subscriber growth and for wireless handsets as a result of the transition of our
customers to a third-party wireless network, and increased voice/data CPE costs. The higher equipment costs
were partially offset by favorable call termination fees, reduced materials purchases and external commissions.

Selling, General and Administrative

SG&A expenses include employee-related costs such as salaries, wages and benefits not directly attributable
to products or services, severance related costs, sales commissions, bad debt charges and other non-employee
related costs such as property taxes, real estate costs, advertising, professional service fees and computer systems
support.

SG&A expenses as a percentage of revenue increased from 33% in 2003 to 36% in 2004 primarily due to
increased litigation expenses and restructuring, realignment and severance costs as described below.

The decrease in property and other taxes was primarily due to reduced property values as a result of our
impairments and favorable settlements in 2004.

The decrease in bad debt expense was primarily due to a favorable settlement of approximately $50 million
in the second quarter 2004 from customers emerging from bankruptcy, and improved credit policies and
collection processes.

The increase in restructuring, realignment and severance related costs was primarily due to our 2004
restructuring plan pursuant to which we reduced 4,000 employees in certain job functions, including information
technology, network construction, customer installations, sales and back-office areas, in response to continued
declines in revenue and our plans for improved operational efficiencies. $28 million of the increase in
restructuring costs was due to changes in sublease projections for idle real estate properties.

The decrease in employee related expenses was due to employee reductions related to the above mentioned
restructuring plans.

The increase in other non-employee related costs was primarily attributable to the $550 million of charges
recorded in 2004 and the $100 million recorded in 2003 for litigation matters that are further discussed in “Legal
Proceedings” in Item 3 of this report.

Pension and post-retirement benefits. Our 2004 pension and post-retirement benefit expense of $188 million
decreased from the 2003 expense of $209 million. Decreases in expense were due to recognition of $7 million in
lower actuarial losses partially due to the recognition of the Medicare Part D benefit, $10 million in lower service
costs due to reduced headcount and fewer covered participants, a reduction in interest costs of $69 million due to
lower discount rates and a reduction of $32 million due to plan design changes affecting prior service costs.
These decreases are partially offset by increases in expense due to a reduction in the expected return on assets of
$89 million related primarily due to the reduction in the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets from
9.00% to 8.50% and lower amortization of $8 million due to the completion of the amortization for the transition
asset in the pension plan in 2004.

Operating Expenses by Segment

Segment expenses include employee-related costs, facility costs, network expenses and other non-employee
related costs such as customer support, collections and marketing. We manage indirect administrative services
costs such as finance, information technology, real estate and legal centrally; consequently, these costs are
assigned to the other services segment. We evaluate depreciation, amortization, interest expense, interest income,
and other income (expense) on a total company basis. As a result, these charges are not included in any segment.
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Similarly, we do not include impairment charges in the segment results. Our CODM regularly reviews the results
of operations at a segment level to evaluate the performance of each segment and allocate capital resources based
on segment income.

Wireline Services Segment Expenses

The following table provides further financial detail regarding our wireline services segment for the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003:

Years Ended Increase/  Percentage
December 31, (Decrease) Change
2004 v 2004 v
2004 2003 2003 2003

(Dollars in millions)
Wireline services expenses:

FacCility COSES ...\ttt e e e e $2,584 $3,178  $(594) (19)%
Network eXpenses . ... ..ot 242 267 (25) D%
Baddebt ........ ... ... 157 250 (93) (37)%
Restructuring, realignment and severance related costs ......... 102 67 35 52%
Employee-related costs .. ... 2,595 2,673 (78) 3)%
Other non-employee related costs . .. .............. . ... .. 1,313 1,391 (78) (6)%
Total wireline Services eXpenses . . . .. ...vuueee e eennennen.. $6,993 $7,826  $(833) (11)%

The decrease in wireline operating expenses was primarily due to the reductions in facility costs discussed
above.

Wireless Services Segment Expenses

The following table provides detail regarding our wireless services segment for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003:

Years Ended Increase/  Percentage

December 31, (Decrease) Change
2004 v 2004 v

2004 2003 2003 2003

(Dollars in millions)
Wireless services expenses:

Facility COSES . ..o voiit ettt $143 $ 40  $103 nm
NEtWOrk €XPenses . .. ..ottt e 117 98 19 19%
Baddebt ....... ... 29 50 (21) (42)%
Employee-related costs . ..........c i 34 29 5 17%
Other non-employee related costs . .. ........ ... ... 178 134 44 33%
Total wireless SErvices EXPenSes . . ..o v v e vttt ie e e e $501 $351 $150 43%

nm—percentages greater than 200% and comparisons from positive to negative values or to zero values are
considered not meaningful.

Wireless operating expenses increased, primarily due to facility and network costs associated with the costs
of transitioning wireless services to a third-party provider. These facility and network costs included usage and
roaming costs associated with our use of the third-party provider’s network and development costs associated
with the migration of our customers to the third-party provider’s network. Other non-employee related costs
increased due to additional marketing and advertising costs as we aggressively marketed our new wireless
products.

44



Other Services Segment Expenses

The following table sets forth additional expense information to provide greater detail as to the composition
of the other services segment for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003:

Years Ended Increase/  Percentage
December 31, (Decrease) Change
2004 v 2004 v
2004 2003 2003 2003

(Dollars in millions)
Other services expense:

Property and other taxes ......................ccouuio.... $ 385 $ 451 $ (66) (15)%
Real estate COStS ... ... ot 415 434 (19) D%
Restructuring, realignment and severance related costs ......... 107 45 62 138%
Employee-related costs ... .......... .o 807 905 (98) (11)%
Other non-employee related costs . .. ....................... 1,653 1,133 520 46%
Total other SErvices EXpenses . ... ......covuereinerneenaennnn.. $3,367 $2,968 $399 13%

The increase in other services expense is primarily due to increased other non-employee related costs
attributable to the $550 million of charges recorded in 2004 compared to the $100 million recorded in 2003 for
litigation matters that are further discussed in more detail above in “Operating expenses—2004 compared to
2003—selling, general and administrative” expenses and an increase in professional fees related to the
outsourcing of our information technology services. This increase was partially offset by lower hardware,
software and maintenance costs resulting from such outsourcing.

Partially offsetting the increase in other non-employee related costs were lower employee-related costs,
attributable to decreases in salaries and wages and overtime related to our agreement to outsource certain
information technology services and lower property and other taxes due to changes in property tax estimates and
a one-time $28 million expense reduction from a successful property tax appeal.

Non-Segment Operating Expenses
Years Ended Increase/ Percentage
December 31, (Decrease) Change

2005v  2004v  2005v 2004 v
2005 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

(Dollars in millions)

Depreciation . ...........c.ooviiiiniinin... $2,612 $2,626 $2,739 § (14) $(113) (D)% D%
Capitalized software and other intangible assets

AMOTtZAON ..o\ v vttt 453 497 428 (44) 69 D% 16%
Asset impairment charges ..................... — 113 230 (113) (117) nm 51D)%

nm—percentages greater than 200% and comparisons from positive to negative values or to zero values are
considered not meaningful.

Depreciation

The decreases in depreciation were primarily the result of reduced capital expenditures beginning in 2002 as
well as asset impairment charges, recorded in 2004 and 2003, which resulted in decreases in the depreciable basis
of our fixed assets. The level of depreciation in all three years is lower than in previous years due to our
impairment of assets in 2002.

Capitalized Software and Other Intangible Assets Amortization

The increase in amortization expense from 2003 to 2004 was attributable to the increase in total capitalized
software. The decrease from 2004 to 2005 was primarily due to the completion of amortization for a number of
intangible assets.
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Asset Impairment Charges

In conjunction with our efforts to sell certain assets during 2004, we determined that the carrying amounts
of those assets were in excess of our expected sales proceeds. This, in addition to the abandonment of various
leased long-term network capacity routes, resulted in an asset impairment charge of $113 million in 2004.

The 2003 asset impairment charges of $230 million were due to the anticipated decrease in usage of our
wireless network following the transition of our customers onto a third-party network.

For more information on our asset impairment charges, please see Note 4—Property, Plant and Equipment
to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this report.

Other Consolidated Results

The following table provides further detail regarding other expense—net, income tax benefit (expense) and
cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles—net of taxes:

Years Ended Increase/ Percentage
December 31, (Decrease) Change

2005v  2004v  2005v 2004 v
2005 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

(Dollars in millions)

Other expense—net:

Interest expense—net .. ................... $1,483 $1,531 $1,757 $ (48) $(226) (3% (13)%
Loss (gain) on early retirement of debt—net . . . 462 1 (38) 461 39 nm nm
Otherincome-net ........................ 67) (106) (141) 39 35 37%  25%
Gainonsaleofassets ..................... (263) ®) — (255) (8) nm nm
Total other expense—net . ..................... $1,615 $1,418 $1,578 $ 197 $(160) 14% (10)%
Income tax benefit (expense) ................... $ 3% (83 $ 519 $ 91 $(607) nm nm

Cumulative effect of changes in accounting
principles—net of taxes ..................... $ 22) $ — $ 206 $ (22) $(206) nm nm

nm—>percentages greater than 200% and comparisons from positive to negative values or to zero values are
considered not meaningful.

Other Expense—Net

Other expense—net includes interest expense, net of capitalized interest; investment write-downs; gains and
losses on the sales of investments and fixed assets; gains and losses on early retirement of debt; declines in
market values of warrants to purchase securities in other entities; and our share of the investees’ income or losses
for investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting.

Interest expense—net. Interest expense decreased from 2004 to 2005 primarily due to the expensing of
unamortized debt issue costs associated with the early termination of a previous credit facility in 2004 and from
2003 to 2004 primarily due to the significant pay-down of debt in 2003 using cash proceeds from the sale of our
directory business. We expect that our interest expense will decline by approximately $300 million in 2006 as a
result of our debt restructuring activity. See Note 8—Borrowings to our consolidated financial statements in
Item 8 of this report for further information.

Loss(gain) on early retirement of debt-net. The 2005 loss on early retirement of debt was primarily due to
the payment of premiums associated with the extinguishment of certain of our higher coupon debt. The gain in
2003 was primarily attributable to a $44 million gain due to the exchange of debt for shares of our common stock
in 2003.
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Other income—net. The decrease from 2004 to 2005 was primarily due to $80 million in gains in 2004 from
the settlement of customers emerging from bankruptcy and termination of indefeasible rights of use, or IRU,
agreements, offset in part by a $50 million increase in interest income from higher interest rates and an increase
in cash and investment balances. The decrease from 2003 to 2004 was primarily due to gains related to the early
termination of services contracts and IRU agreements, which were $20 million higher in 2003.

Gain on sale of assets. The gain on the sale of assets in 2005 was due to the sale of all of our PCS licenses
and substantially all of our related wireless network assets.

Income Tax Benefit

Our continuing operations effective tax benefit (expense) rate was 0.4%, (5.1)%, and 28.3% in 2005, 2004
and 2003, respectively. The increase from 2004 to 2005 was primarily due to expenses recognized during 2004
for uncertain tax positions. The decrease in our income tax benefit from 2003 to 2004 was primarily due to a net
charge to tax expense of $88 million in 2004, which was primarily due to the $158 million increase to our asset
valuation allowance for CLAS. This increase was offset primarily by a reduction in our liability for other
uncertain tax positions. This and other related tax matters could require significant cash outlays if they are not
successfully defended. See Note 14—Income Taxes to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this
report for further information.

Cumulative Effect of Changes in Accounting Principles—Net of Tax

In 2005, we recognized a charge of $22 million from the cumulative effect of adopting FIN No. 47,
“Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations.” In 2003, we recognized a gain of $206 million (net
of $131 million of taxes) from the cumulative effect of adopting SFAS No. 143. See Note 2—Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this report for further
information.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Near-Term View

Our working capital deficit, or the amount by which our current liabilities exceed our current assets, was
$1,071 million and $68 million as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase in our working
capital deficit was primarily caused by our use of cash to fund our tender offer for high coupon debt in the
quarter ended December 31, 2005, which more than offset the working capital generated by our operations net of
capital expenditures.

We believe that our cash on hand together with our short-term investments, our currently undrawn revolver
and our cash flows from operations should be sufficient to meet our cash needs through the next twelve months.
However, if we become subject to significant judgments, settlements and/or tax payments, as further discussed in
“Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of this report, we could be required to make significant payments that we may not
have the resources to make. The magnitude of any settlements or judgments resulting from these actions could
materially and adversely affect our ability to meet our debt obligations and our financial condition, potentially
impacting our credit ratings, our ability to access capital markets and our compliance with debt covenants. In
addition, the magnitude of any settlements or judgments may cause us to draw down significantly on our cash
balances, which might force us to obtain additional financing or explore other methods to generate cash. Such
methods could include issuing additional securities or selling assets.

To the extent that our EBITDA (as defined in our debt covenants) is reduced by cash judgments, settlements
and/or tax payments, our debt to consolidated EBITDA ratios under certain debt agreements will be adversely
affected. This could reduce our liquidity and flexibility due to potential restrictions on drawing on our line of
credit and potential restrictions on incurring additional debt under certain provisions of our debt agreements.
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The 2005 QSC Credit Facility contains various limitations, including a restriction on using any proceeds
from the facility to pay settlements or judgments relating to the investigation and securities actions discussed in
“Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of this report.

The wireline services segment provides over 95% of our total operating revenue with the balance attributed
to our wireless services and other services segments and the wireline services segment also provides all of the
consolidated cash flows from operations. Cash flows used in operations of our wireless services segment are not
expected to be significant in the near term. Cash flows used in operations of our other services segment are
significant; however, we expect that the cash flows provided by the wireline services segment will be sufficient
to fund these operations in the near term.

We expect that our 2006 capital expenditures will be slightly higher than our 2005 levels, with the majority
being used in our wireline services segment.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we completed several transactions to improve our near-term
financial position, including registered exchange offers, cash tender offers and consent solicitations with respect
to our high coupon debt, issuances of new debt and convertible notes and debt-for-equity exchanges. For a more
detailed description of these activities, see Note 8—Borrowings to our consolidated financial statements in
Item 8 of this report.

In November 2005, QCII sold $1.265 billion aggregate principal amount of 3.50% Convertible Senior Notes
due 2025 under a universal shelf registration statement filed with the SEC in August 2005. Due to changes in the
federal securities laws effective in December 2005, we will not issue any additional securities under that
registration statement. In December 2005, we filed a new universal shelf registration statement, under which we
may issue up to $1.235 billion of securities in one or more offerings. Our ability and willingness to issue
securities pursuant to this registration statement will depend on market conditions at the time of any such desired
offering.

As a result of the various debt offerings, exchanges and payments in 2005, we expect that our interest
expense will decline by approximately $300 million in 2006.

Long-Term View

We have historically operated with a working capital deficit as a result of our highly leveraged position, and
it is likely that we will operate with a working capital deficit in the future. We believe that cash provided by
operations and our currently undrawn revolver, combined with our current cash position and continued access to
capital markets to refinance our current portion of debt, should allow us to meet our cash requirements for the
foreseeable future.

We may periodically need to obtain financing in order to meet our debt obligations as they come due. We
may also need to obtain additional financing or investigate other methods to generate cash (such as further cost
reductions or the sale of assets) if revenue and cash provided by operations decline, if economic conditions
weaken, if competitive pressures increase or if we become subject to significant judgments, settlements and/or
tax payments as further discussed in “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of this report. In the event of an adverse
outcome in one or more of these matters, we could be required to make significant payments that we do not have
the resources to make. The magnitude of any settlements or judgments resulting from these actions could
materially and adversely affect our ability to meet our debt obligations and our financial condition, potentially
impacting our credit ratings, our ability to access capital markets and our compliance with debt covenants. In
addition, the magnitude of any settlements or judgments may cause us to draw down significantly on our cash
balances, which might force us to obtain additional financing or explore other methods to generate cash. Such
methods could include issuing additional securities or selling assets.

The 2005 QSC Credit Facility makes available to us $850 million of additional credit subject to certain
restrictions as described below, and is currently undrawn. This facility has a cross payment default provision, and
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this facility and certain other debt issues also have cross acceleration provisions. When present, such provisions
could have a greater impact on liquidity than might otherwise arise from a default or acceleration of a single debt
instrument. These provisions generally provide that a cross default under these debt instruments could occur if:

* we fail to pay any indebtedness when due in an aggregate principal amount greater than $100 million;

e any indebtedness is accelerated in an aggregate principal amount greater than $100 million ($25 million
in the case of one of the debt instruments); or

* judicial proceedings are commenced to foreclose on any of our assets that secure indebtedness in an
aggregate principal amount greater than $100 million.

Upon such a cross default, the creditors of a material amount of our debt may elect to declare that a default
has occurred under their debt instruments and to accelerate the principal amounts due such creditors. Cross
acceleration provisions are similar to cross default provisions, but permit a default in a second debt instrument to
be declared only if in addition to a default occurring under the first debt instrument, the indebtedness due under
the first debt instrument is actually accelerated. In addition, the 2005 QSC Credit Facility contains various
limitations, including a restriction on using any proceeds from the facility to pay settlements or judgments
relating to the investigation and securities actions discussed in “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of this report.

Payment Obligations and Contingencies
Payment Obligations
The following table summarizes our future contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2005:

Payments Due by Period

2011 and
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010  Thereafter Total

(Dollars in millions)

Future Contractual Obligations:(1)

Long-termdebt ........................... $ 495 § 996 $§ 595 $1,315 $ 927 $11,264 $15,592
Interestondebt(2) ............ ... ... ... ..., 1,114 1,047 1,001 907 847 6,888 11,804
Capital lease and other obligations ............ 35 33 30 21 8 45 172
Operating leases . ..............cooiuen... 289 261 233 213 182 1,125 2,303
Subtotal ........ ... .. . 1,933 2,337 1,859 2456 1964 19,322 29,871
Purchase commitment obligations:(3)(5)
Telecommunications commitments(4) .. ... 166 87 66 10 — — 329
IRU operating and maintenance
obligations .. ............. ... ..., 17 17 17 17 17 195 280
Adpvertising and promotion .............. 37 32 31 31 31 174 336
SEeIvices .. ..ovvii 12 10 6 1 1 — 30
Total purchase commitment
obligations . .................... 232 146 120 59 49 369 975
Total future contractual obligations . .. .. $2,165 $2,483 $1,979 $2,515 $2,013 $19,691 $30,846

(1) The table does not include:

e our open purchase orders as of December 31, 2005. These purchase orders are generally at fair value,
are generally cancelable without penalty and are part of normal operations;

» accounts payable of $773 million, accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $2.3 billion, and
other long-term liabilities of $1.5 billion, all of which are recorded on our December 31, 2005
consolidated balance sheet; and

e any amounts related to the legal contingencies described in Note 17—Commitments and Contingencies
to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this report.
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(2) Interest expense in all years may differ due to future refinancing of debt. Interest on our floating rate debt
was calculated for all years using the rates effective as of December 31, 2005.

(3) We have various long-term, non-cancelable purchase commitments for advertising and promotion services,
including advertising and marketing at sports arenas and other venues and events. We also have service
related commitments with various vendors for data processing, technical and software support. Future
payments under certain services contracts will vary depending on our actual usage. In the table above we
estimated payments for these service contracts based on the level of services we expect to receive.

(4) In the ordinary course of business and in order to optimize our cost structure, we enter into contractual
obligations to utilize network facilities from local exchange carriers with terms greater than one year. Since
the contracts generally have no minimum volume requirements and are based on an interrelationship of
volumes and discounted rates, we assessed our minimum commitment based on the termination fees to exit
the contracts, assuming we exited the contracts on December 31, 2005. At December 31, 2005 the
termination fees that would have been incurred to exit all such contracts would have been approximately
$382 million. These termination fees are excluded from the above table as the fees would not be paid in
every year and the timing of such payments, if any, is uncertain. We believe that the payment of these fees
is remote in the future under normal business conditions.

(5) We calculated the minimum obligation for certain agreements to purchase goods or services based on
termination fees that may have to be paid to exit the contract. If we elect to exit these contracts, termination
fees for all such contracts could be approximately $228 million in 2006. These termination fees are
excluded from the above table as the fees would not be paid in every year and the timing of such payments,
if any, is uncertain. We believe that the payment of these fees is remote in the future under normal business
conditions.

Employee Benefit Plans. We offer pension, non-qualified, post-retirement healthcare and life insurance
benefits to certain current and future retirees, some of which are due under contractual agreements. Pension and
certain occupational post-retirement benefits are paid through trusts and therefore are not included in this table as
we are not able to reliably estimate future required contributions to the trusts, if any. As of December 31, 2005,
our qualified defined benefit pension plan was fully funded. As of December 31, 2005, we had a liability
recorded on our balance sheet of $3.459 billion for non-qualified pension, post-retirement healthcare and life
insurance and other post-employment benefit obligations. The liability is impacted by various actuarial
assumptions and will differ from the sum of the future value of actuarially estimated payments. See further
discussion of our benefit plans in Note 1 1—Employee Benefits to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8
of this report.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In 2004, we identified two relationships that may be subject to consolidation by us under the accounting
guidance in FIN No. 46 (revised December 2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” or FIN 46R.
Both relationships are with entities that provide or provided Internet port access and services to their customers.
In November 2005, we entered into a settlement agreement with one of the entities, which terminated any
potential variable interests and any consolidation requirements under FIN 46R. We do not currently have
sufficient information about the other entity to complete our analysis under FIN 46R, even though until this
entity ceased doing business we continuously requested such information. Unless further information becomes
available to us about this entity, which we believe is unlikely because the entity has ceased doing business, we
are unable to come to any conclusion regarding consolidation under FIN 46R. We previously recorded a liability
and charge associated with our relationship with the second entity, and as a result, we believe that our exposure
to loss, excluding interest accretion, has been reflected in our consolidated financial statements.

Other than this entity and the operating leases described above, we have no special purpose or limited
purpose entities that provide off-balance sheet financing, liquidity, or market or credit risk support, and we do not
engage in leasing, hedging, research and development services, or other relationships that expose us to liability
that is not reflected on the face of the financial statements.

50



Letters of Credit

We maintain letter of credit arrangements with various financial institutions for up to $147 million. At
December 31, 2005, we had outstanding letters of credit of approximately $144 million.

Historical View

The following table summarizes the decrease in our cash and cash equivalents for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:

Years Ended Increase/ Percentage
December 31, (Decrease) Change
2005 v 2004v  2005v 2004 v
2005 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
(Dollars in millions)
Cash flows:
Provided by operating activities ........ $2313 $1,848 $2,175 $ 465 $ (327) 25% (15%
Used for investing activities ........... (459) (1,905) (2,730) 1,446 825 76%  30%
Used for financing activities ........... (2,159) (158) (4,856) (2,001) 4,698 nm 97%
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents ....... $ (305 $ (215) $(5.411) $ (90) $5,196 (42)% 96%

nm——percentages greater than 200% and comparisons between positive and negative values or to zero values are
considered not meaningful.

Operating Activities

Our primary source of funds is cash generated from operating activities. During 2005 cash from operating
activities improved as income increased due to our continued efforts to reduce costs and maintain or grow
revenue. Changes in operating assets and liabilities caused a use of funds in 2005 due in large part to payments
made on our contracts with KMC and our second and final payment of $125 million related to our 2004
settlement with the SEC. These uses were offset by additional improvements in working capital management
from credit, collections and payment initiatives. In 2004, changes in operating assets and liabilities caused a
source of funds largely due to a legal reserve of $550 million and tax reserves, reduced by our first payment of
$125 million related to the above-mentioned settlement with the SEC. Cash provided by operating activities
decreased from 2003 to 2004 as large settlement, tax and restructuring payments were offset by improvements in
our working capital accounts.

Investing Activities

Cash used for investing activities decreased in 2005 primarily as a result of liquidating short-term
investments in order to pay down debt and reduced capital expenditure levels. We believe that our current level
of capital expenditures will sustain our business at existing levels and support our anticipated core growth
requirements in areas such as high-speed Internet, long-distance and VoIP products.

Financing Activities

Cash used for financing activities increased from 2004 to 2005 primarily due to debt repayments and
associated early retirement of debt costs, and decreased from 2003 to 2004 primarily due to the payment of debt
in 2003 with proceeds from the sale of our directory publishing business.

At December 31, 2005, we were in compliance with all provisions or covenants of our borrowings. See
Note 8—Borrowings to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this report for more information on our
2005 and historical financing activities as well as additional information regarding the covenants of our existing
debt instruments. We paid no dividends in 2005.
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Credit Ratings

The table below summarizes our long-term debt ratings at December 31, 2005 and 2004:

December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004
Moody’s & Fitch Moody’s E Fitch
Corporate rating/Sr. Implied rating ................. Bl BB- NR B2 BB- NR
Qwest Corporation . ............c.euiunenenann... Ba3 BB BB+ Ba3 BB- BB
Qwest Communications Corporation ................ NR NR B+ NR NR B
Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. . ...................... B3 B B+ Caa2 B B
Qwest Communications International Inc.* .. ......... B2/B3 B BB/B+ B3/Caal/Caa2 B B+/B

NR = Not rated
* = QCII notes have various ratings

On October 20, 2005, S&P raised its ratings on QC to BB and assigned a BB rating to the 2005 QSC Credit
Facility. On November 1, 2005, Moody’s raised its ratings on Qwest and its affiliates as reflected in the table
above. In addition, Moody’s assigned a B1 rating to the 2005 QSC Credit Facility. On November 15, 2005, Fitch
raised its ratings on Qwest and its affiliates as reflected in the table above. At the same time, Fitch also assigned
a BB+ rating to the 2005 QSC Credit Facility.

With respect to Moody’s, a Ba rating is judged to have speculative elements, meaning that the future of the
issuer cannot be considered to be well-assured. Often the protection of interest and principal payments may be
very moderate, and thereby not well safeguarded during both good and bad times. The “1,2,3” modifiers show
relative standing within the major categories, 1 being the highest, or best, modifier in terms of credit quality.

With respect to S&P, any rating below BBB indicates that the security is speculative in nature. A BB rating
indicates that the issuer currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation; however, it
faces major ongoing uncertainties or exposure to adverse business, financial or economic conditions, which could
lead to the obligor’s inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation. An obligation rated
B is more vulnerable to nonpayment than obligations rated BB, but the obligor currently has capacity to meet its
financial commitment on the obligation. Adverse business, financial, or economic conditions will likely impair
the obligor’s capacity or willingness to meet its financial commitment on the obligation. The plus and minus
symbols show relative standing within the major categories.

With respect to Fitch, any rating below BBB is considered speculative in nature. A BB rating indicates that
there is a possibility of credit risk developing, particularly as the result of adverse economic change over time;
however, business or financial alternatives may be available to allow financial commitments to be met. A B
rating indicates that significant credit risk is present, but a limited margin of safety remains. Financial
commitments are currently being met; however, capacity for continued payment is contingent upon a sustained,
favorable business and economic environment. The plus and minus symbols show relative standing within major
categories.

Debt ratings by the various rating agencies reflect each agency’s opinion of the ability of the issuers to repay
debt obligations as they come due. In general, lower ratings result in higher borrowing costs and/or impaired
ability to borrow. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell, or hold securities and may be subject to
revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organization.

Given our current credit ratings, as noted above, our ability to raise additional capital under acceptable terms
and conditions may be negatively impacted.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We have identified the policies and estimates below as critical to our business operations and the
understanding of our results of operations, either past or present. For a detailed discussion on the application of
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these and other significant accounting policies, see the notes to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of
this report. These policies and estimates are considered “critical” because they either had a material impact or
they have the potential to have a material impact on our financial statements, and because they require significant
judgments, assumptions or estimates. Note that our preparation of this annual report on Form 10-K requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of our consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. We believe that the estimates, judgments and assumptions made when
accounting for items and matters such as future usage under long-term contracts, customer retention patterns,
collectibility of accounts receivable, expected economic duration of assets to be depreciated or amortized, asset
valuations, internal labor capitalization rates, recoverability of assets, rates of return on assets held for employee
benefits, timing and amounts of future employee benefit payments, uncertain tax positions, reserves and other
provisions and contingencies are reasonable, based on information available at the time they are made. However,
there can be no assurance that actual results will not differ from those estimates.

Loss Contingencies and Litigation Reserves

We are involved in several material legal proceedings, as described in more detail in “Legal Proceedings” in
Item 3 of this report. We assess potential losses in relation to these and other pending or threatened legal and tax
matters. For matters not related to income taxes, if a loss is considered probable and the amount can be
reasonably estimated, we recognize an expense for the estimated loss. If a loss is considered possible and the
amount can be reasonably estimated, we disclose it if material. For income tax related matters, we record a
liability computed at the statutory income tax rate if we determine that (i) we do not believe that we are more
likely than not to prevail on an uncertainty related to the timing of recognition for an item, or (ii) we do not
believe that it is probable that we will prevail and the uncertainty is not related to the timing of recognition. The
overall tax liability also considers the anticipated utilization of any applicable tax credits and net operating
losses. To the extent these estimates are more or less than the actual liability resulting from the resolution of such
matters, our earnings will be increased or decreased accordingly and if the differences are material, our
consolidated financial statements could be materially impacted.

Revenue Recognition and Related Reserves

Revenue from services is recognized when the services are provided. Up-front fees received, primarily
activation fees and installation charges, as well as the associated customer acquisition costs, are deferred and
recognized over the expected life of the product, generally one to five years. Payments received in advance are
deferred until the service is provided. Customer arrangements that include both equipment and services are
evaluated to determine whether the elements are separable based on objective evidence. If the elements are
deemed separable, total consideration is allocated to each element based on the relative fair values of the separate
elements and the revenue associated with each element is recognized as earned. If the elements are not deemed
separable, total consideration is deferred and recognized ratably over the longer of the contractual period or the
expected customer relationship period. We believe that the accounting estimates related to estimated lives and to
the assessment of whether bundled elements are separable are “critical accounting estimates” because: (i) they
require management to make assumptions about how long we will retain customers; (ii) the assessment of
whether bundled elements are separable is subjective; (iii) the impact of changes in actual retention periods
versus these estimates on the revenue amounts reported in our consolidated statements of operations could be
material; and (iv) the assessment of whether bundled elements are separable may result in revenue being reported
in different periods than significant portions of the related costs.

As the telecommunications market experiences greater competition and customers shift from traditional land
based telephony services to wireless and Internet-based services, our estimated customer relationship period
could decrease and we will accelerate the recognition of deferred revenue and related costs over a shorter
estimated customer relationship period.
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Restructuring and Realignments

Periodically, we commit to exit certain business activities, eliminate office or facility locations and/or
reduce our number of employees. The amount we record for such a charge depends upon various assumptions,
including future severance payments, sublease income, length of time on market for abandoned rented facilities
and contractual termination costs. Such estimates are inherently judgmental and may change materially based
upon actual experience. The estimate of future losses on sublease income and disposal activity generally involves
the most significant judgment. Due to the estimates and judgments involved in the application of each of these
accounting policies, changes in our plans and these estimates and market conditions could materially impact our
financial condition or results of operations.

Economic Lives of Assets to be Depreciated or Amortized

Due to rapid changes in technology and the competitive environment, selecting the estimated economic life
of telecommunications plant, equipment and software requires a significant amount of judgment. We regularly
review data on utilization of equipment, asset retirements and salvage values to determine adjustments to our
depreciation rates. The effect of a one year increase or decrease in the estimated useful lives of our property,
plant and equipment would have been decreased depreciation of approximately $370 million or increased
depreciation of approximately $520 million, respectively. The effect of a one year increase or decrease in the
estimated useful lives of our intangible assets with finite lives would have been decreased amortization of
approximately $80 million or increased amortization of approximately $130 million, respectively.

Pension and Post-Retirement Benefits

Pension and post-retirement healthcare and life insurance benefits attributed to employees’ service during
the year, as well as interest on projected benefit obligations, are accrued currently. Prior service costs and credits
resulting from changes in plan benefits are amortized over the average remaining service period of the employees
expected to receive benefits or over the term of the collective bargaining agreement, as applicable. Pension and
post-retirement costs are recognized over the period in which the employee renders service and becomes eligible
to receive benefits as determined using the projected unit credit method.

In computing the pension and post-retirement healthcare and life insurance benefit costs, we must make
numerous assumptions about such things as discount rates, expected rate of return on plan assets, employee
mortality and turnover, salary and wage increases, expected future cost increases, healthcare claims experience
and negotiated caps on reimbursable costs. These items generally have the most significant impact on the level of
cost: the discount rate, the expected rate of return on plan assets and the terms of our post-retirement plan
benefits covered by collective bargaining agreements as negotiated with our employees’ unions.

Annually, we set our discount rate primarily based upon the yields on high-quality fixed-income
investments available at the measurement date and expected to be available during the period to maturity of the
pension and other post-retirement benefits. In making this determination, we use a simple average of four
specific indices of high quality corporate bond yields that would generate the necessary cash flows to pay our
projected benefits when due.

The expected rate of return on plan assets is the long-term rate of return we expect to earn on the plans’
assets. The rate of return is determined by the investment composition of the plan assets and the long-term risk
and return forecast for each asset category. The forecasts for each asset class are generated using historical
information as well as an analysis of current and expected market conditions. The expected risk and return
characteristics for each asset class are reviewed annually and revised, as necessary, to reflect changes in the
financial markets.

The estimate of the accumulated benefit obligation (“ABO”) for our occupational (union) post-retirement
plan benefits is based on the terms of our written benefit plan as negotiated with our employees’ unions. In
making this determination we consider the exchange of benefits between us and our employees that occurs as
part of the negotiations.
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We have a noncontributory qualified defined benefit pension plan, or the pension plan, for substantially all
management and occupational (union) employees. Our post-retirement benefit plans for certain current and future
retirees include healthcare and life insurance benefits. To compute the expected return on pension and post-
retirement benefit plan assets, we apply an expected rate of return to the market-related asset value of the pension
plan and to the fair value of post-retirement plan assets. The market-related asset value is a computed value that
recognizes changes in fair value of pension plan equity assets over a period of time, not to exceed five years. The
five year weighted average gains and losses related to the equity assets are added to the fair value of bonds and
other assets at year-end to arrive at the market-related asset value. In accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’
Accounting for Pensions,” we elected to recognize actual returns on our pension plan assets ratably over a five
year period when computing our market-related value of pension plan assets. This method has the effect of
reducing the impact on expense from annual market volatility that may be experienced from year to year.

Changes in any of the assumptions we made in computing the pension and post-retirement healthcare and
life insurance benefit costs could have a material impact on various components that comprise these expenses.
Factors to be considered include the strength or weakness of the investment markets, changes in the composition
of the employee base, fluctuations in interest rates, significant employee hiring or downsizings, medical cost
trends and changes in our collective bargaining agreements. Changes in any of these factors could impact cost of
sales and SG&A in the consolidated statement of operations as well as the value of the asset or liability on our
consolidated balance sheet. If our assumed expected rate of return of 8.5% for 2005 were 100 basis points lower,
the impact would have been to increase the pension and post-retirement expense by $97 million. If our assumed
discount rate of 5.75% for 2005 were 100 basis points lower, the impact would have been to increase the net
expense by $77 million. If the caps on reimbursement of post-retirement health costs for certain plan participants
that are effective January 1, 2009, were not substantive, the impact would have been to increase our ABO
approximately $2.3 billion.

The pension plan ABO represents the actuarial present value of benefits based on employee service and
compensation as of a certain date and does not include an assumption about future compensation levels. If the
ABO exceeds plan assets and at least this amount has not been accrued, an additional minimum liability must be
recognized. Annually, we evaluate the funded status of our pension plan to determine whether any additional
minimum liability is required to be recognized.

Recoverability of Long-lived Assets

Due to our ongoing losses, we periodically perform evaluations of the recoverability of the carrying value of
our long-lived assets using gross undiscounted cash flow projections. These evaluations require identification of
the lowest level of identifiable, largely independent, cash flows for purposes of grouping assets and liabilities
subject to review. The cash flow projections include long-term forecasts of revenue growth, gross margins and
capital expenditures. All of these items require significant judgment and assumptions. We believe our estimates
are reasonable, based on information available at the time they were made. However, if our estimates of our
future cash flows had been different, we may have concluded that some of our long-lived assets were not
recoverable, which would likely have caused us to record a material impairment charge. Also, if our future cash
flows are significantly lower than our projections we may determine at some future date that some of our long-
lived assets are not recoverable.

Impairments of Long-lived Assets

Pursuant to the 2003 services agreement with a third-party provider that allows us to resell wireless services,
our wireless customers who were serviced through our proprietary wireless network were transitioned onto the
third-party provider’s network. Due to the anticipated decrease in usage of our own wireless network following
the transition of our customers onto this network, in the third quarter of 2003 we performed an evaluation of the
recoverability of the carrying value of our long-lived wireless network assets.
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We compared gross undiscounted cash flow projections to the carrying value of the long-lived wireless
network assets and determined that certain asset groups were not expected to be recovered through future
projected cash flows. For those asset groups that were not recoverable, we then estimated the fair value using
estimates of market prices for similar assets. Cell sites, switches, related tools and equipment inventory and
certain information technology systems that support the wireless network were determined to be impaired by
$230 million.

Estimating the fair value of the asset groups involved significant judgment and a variety of assumptions.
Comparable market data was obtained by reviewing recent sales of similar asset types. The price allocated to
these assets in our subsequent agreement to sell the assets to Verizon indicated that the ultimate proceeds from
the sale of the assets differed from our estimate by an immaterial amount.

Asset Retirement Obligations

We have network assets located in leased properties such as equipment rooms, central offices, and wireless
sites. For certain of these leases, we are legally obligated to remove our equipment when the lease expires. As
required by SFAS No. 143, we record a liability for the estimated current fair value of the costs associated with
these removal obligations. We estimate our removal liabilities using historical cost information, industry factors,
and current engineering estimates. We then estimate the present value of these costs by discounting the future
expected cash payout to current fair value based on our incremental borrowing rate. To the extent there are
material differences between our estimated and actual removal costs and our estimated and actual discount rates,
we could be required to adjust our recorded liabilities at that time. These estimates were critical factors in
determining the net income impact of $206 million upon the adoption of SFAS No. 143 in 2003.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements and Cumulative Effect of Adoption

In December 2005, we adopted FIN 47, which is an interpretation of SFAS No. 143 and requires us to
recognize asset retirement obligations that are conditional on a future event, such as the obligation to safely
dispose of asbestos when a building is demolished or under certain circumstances, renovated. Upon adoption of
FIN 47, we determined that we have conditional asset retirement obligations to properly dispose of or
encapsulate asbestos in several of our buildings and to close fuel storage tanks and dispose of other potentially
hazardous materials. We recorded a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle charge upon adoption
of FIN 47 of $22 million (liability of $26 million net of an asset of $4 million) in 2005. Had FIN 47 been adopted
prior to 2003, our liabilities associated with asset retirement obligations would have increased by $25 million
both at December 31, 2004 and 2003. Had we adopted FIN 47 prior to 2003, our operating results for the years
ending December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 would not have changed materially.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Non-Monetary Assets,” or SFAS
No. 153, which we adopted in July 2005. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 153, we were required to measure
the value of certain assets exchanged in non-monetary transactions by using the net book value of the asset
relinquished. Under SFAS No. 153, we now measure assets exchanged at fair value, as long as the transaction
has commercial substance and the fair value of the assets exchanged is determinable within reasonable limits. A
non-monetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are expected to change
significantly as a result of the exchange. The adoption of SFAS No. 153 has not had a material effect on our
financial position or results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2005.

We adopted the provisions of FIN 46R in the first quarter of 2004. FIN 46R requires an evaluation of three
additional criteria to determine if consolidation is required. These criteria are: (i) whether the entity is a variable
interest entity; (ii) whether the company holds a variable interest in the entity; and (iii) whether the company is
the primary beneficiary of the entity. If all three of these criteria are met, consolidation is required.

Upon adoption of FIN 46R, we identified two relationships that may be subject to consolidation by us under
the provisions of FIN 46R. Both relationships are with groups of entities that provide Internet port access and
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services to their customers. The first relationship was with entities owned by KMC Telecom Holdings, Inc. As
discussed in “Legal Proceedings—Matters Resolved in the Fourth Quarter of 2005” in Item 3 of this report, in
November 2005 we entered into a settlement agreement with KMC and one of its lenders to resolve all
outstanding disputes and obligations between and among us, KMC and the lender. As a result of the settlement,
we have severed our relationship with KMC in its entirety and terminated any potential variable interests and any
consolidation requirements under FIN 46R.

We previously recorded a liability and charge associated with our relationship with the second entity. We do
not currently have sufficient information about this entity to complete our analysis under FIN 46R, even though
until this entity ceased doing business we had continuously requested such information. Unless further
information becomes available to us about this entity, which we believe is unlikely because the entity has ceased
doing business, we are unable to come to any conclusion regarding consolidation under FIN 46R. As a result of
previously recording a liability and charge associated with this relationship, we believe that our exposure to loss,
excluding interest accretion, has been reflected in our financial statements.

In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (the
“Medicare Act”) became law in the United States. The Medicare Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under
Medicare as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree healthcare benefit plans that provide a benefit that is
at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare benefit. We adopted the provisions of FASB Staff Position
No. 106-2 (“FSP No. 106-2”), “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription
Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.” Accounting for the government subsidy provided under the
Act reduced our accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation by $235 million. The Medicare Act reduced the
prescription drug expense component of our 2005 and 2004 post-retirement benefit expenses by $38 million and
$33 million, respectively. During 2005, the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services issued and clarified rules
for implementing the Medicare Act. We have revised our actuarial estimate of the federal subsidy and using our
December 31, 2005 measurement date, the total reduction in our ABO was $510 million. This reduction was
recorded as an unrecognized actuarial gain which will be amortized to expense. The issuance and clarification of
the rules for implementing the Medicare Act during 2005 are expected to further reduce our prescription benefit
cost in 2006. See Note 11—Employee Benefits to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this report.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2005, the FASB, as part of an effort to conform to international accounting standards, issued SFAS
No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections,” or SFAS No. 154, which was effective for us beginning
on January 1, 2006. SFAS No. 154 requires that all voluntary changes in accounting principles are retrospectively
applied to prior financial statements as if that principle had always been used, unless it is impracticable to do so.
When it is impracticable to calculate the effects on all prior periods, SFAS No. 154 requires that the new
principle be applied to the earliest period practicable. Currently, we do not anticipate any voluntary changes in
accounting principles that, upon the adoption of SFAS No. 154, would have a material effect on our financial
position or results of operations.

In April 2005, the SEC delayed the effective date of SFAS No. 123R, “Share Based Payments,” or SFAS
No. 123R. SFAS No. 123R was effective for us as of the interim reporting period beginning January 1, 2006.
SFAS No. 123R requires that compensation cost relating to share-based payment transactions be recognized in
the financial statements based on the fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. SFAS No. 123R
covers a wide range of share-based compensation arrangements including share options, restricted share plans,
performance-based awards, share appreciation rights and employee share purchase plans. We do not anticipate
that the adoption of SFAS No. 123R will have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.
However, depending on valuation factors such as the price of our common stock, if we grant stock-based awards
at similar volume to what was granted in prior years, then the application of SFAS No. 123R could have a
material impact on our results of operations in future periods.
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Risk Management

We are exposed to market risks arising from changes in interest rates. The objective of our interest rate risk
management program is to manage the level and volatility of our interest expense. We may employ derivative
financial instruments to manage our interest rate risk exposure. We may also employ financial derivatives to
hedge foreign currency exposures associated with particular debt.

Approximately $2.0 billion of floating-rate debt was exposed to changes in interest rates as of December 31,
2005 and December 31, 2004. This exposure is linked to LIBOR. A hypothetical increase of 100 basis points in
LIBOR would have increased annual pre-tax interest expense by $20 million in 2005. As of December 31, 2005
and December 31, 2004, we had approximately $0.5 billion and $0.6 billion, respectively, of long-term fixed rate
debt obligations maturing in the subsequent 12 months. We are exposed to changes in interest rates at any time
that we choose to refinance this debt. A hypothetical increase of 100 or 200 basis points in the interest rates on
any refinancing of the current portion of long-term debt would not have a material effect on our earnings.

As of December 31, 2005, we had $737 million invested in money market instruments and $60 million
invested in auction rate securities. As interest rates change, so will the interest income derived from these
instruments. Assuming that these investment balances were to remain constant, a hypothetical increase of 100
basis points in money market rates would be immaterial.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The information under the caption “Risk Management” in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7 of this report is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Qwest Communications International Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Qwest Communications International
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005.
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Qwest Communications International Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and
2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in note 2 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements, effective December 31, 2005,
the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations.
Also, as discussed in note 2, effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of Qwest Communications International Inc.’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report
dated February 16, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective
operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado
February 16, 2006
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

(Dollars in millions except per share
amounts, shares in thousands)

OPpEerating rEVEINUE . . . . oottt ettt et et et e et e $ 13903 $ 13,809 $ 14,288
Operating expenses:
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) . ...... 5,836 5,890 6,455
Selling, general and administrative . ............ ... ... ...... 4,147 4971 4,690
Depreciation . ........... i 2,612 2,626 2,739
Capitalized software and other intangible assets amortization . . . .. 453 497 428
Asset impairment charges ............... .. .. .. . ... — 113 230
Total operating €Xpenses . . .. .....vwuereneenenenennen.. 13,048 14,097 14,542
Other expense—net:
Interest eXpense—mnet .. ... ...ttt 1,483 1,531 1,757
Loss (gain) on early retirement of debt—net .................. 462 1 (38)
Otherincome—net . .......... .. ...ttt 67) (106) (141)
Gainonsale of @Ssets . ... ... (263) 8) —
Total other expense—net ..............c.couiuiniennnn.. 1,615 1,418 1,578
Loss before income taxes, discontinued operations and cumulative
effect of changes in accounting principles ...................... (760) (1,706) (1,832)
Income tax benefit (€Xpense) . ..............iiiiiiiiii.. 3 (88) 519
Loss from continuing operations . ... .........ouvuenineenenenen.. (757) (1,794) (1,313)
Income from and gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of taxes of
$0, $0 and $1,658, respectively . .......cooiiiii i — — 2,619
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of changes in accounting
PrINCIPIES . . .ot (757) (1,794) 1,306
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles, net of taxes of
$0, $0 and $131, respectively ......... ... (22) — 206
Net (I0SS) INCOME . . ..o vttt e e e e e e e $ 779 $ (1,794) $ 1,512
Basic and diluted (loss) income per share:
Loss from continuing Operations . . . ......................... $ 041) $ (1.00) $ (0.76)
Discontinued operations, netof taxes ........................ — — 1.51
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of changes in accounting
PrinCIples . . ..ot 0.41) (1.00) 0.75
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles, net of
LS &+ v ettt e e (0.01) — 0.12
Basic and diluted (loss) income per share . ........................ $ 042) $ (1.00) $ 0.87
Basic and diluted weighted-average shares outstanding . ............. 1,836,374 1,801,405 1,738,766

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2005 2004

(Dollars in millions,
shares in thousands)

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ........... ... i, $ 846 $ 1,151

Short-term INVEStMENLS . . . . ..ottt et e e e et e 101 764

Accounts receivable—Iless allowances of $167 and $178, respectively ............ 1,525 1,594

Prepaid expenses and other assets ............ ... i i 692 709
Total CUITENT @SSELS . . o vttt e et e e e e e e e e e e e 3,164 4,218
Property, plant and equipment—mnet . . ......... . 15,568 16,853
Capitalized software and other intangible assets—net .. ................ ... ..., 1,007 1,179
Prepaid pension asset . .. ... ... ...t 1,165 1,192
Other A8SES . . o ot ittt 593 882

TOtAl ASSEES -+« v v o e e e e e e e e $ 21,497 $ 24,324

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current liabilities:

Current BOrTOWINES . . ..o ottt ettt ettt $ 512 8 59

Accounts payable ... ... 773 731

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities . ........... ... ... .. ... . ... 2,317 2,290

Deferred revenue and advance billings ............. ... .. i 633 669
Total current Habilities . . . .. ... 4,235 4,286
Long-term borrowings (net of unamortized debt discount of $221 and $32,

TESPECHIVELY) .ot 14,968 16,690
Post-retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations ...................... 3,459 3,428
Deferred revenue . ... ... ... e 522 559
Other long-term liabilities .. ... ... ... e 1,530 1,973

Total Habilities . . ... ...ttt e 24714 26,936

Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)
Stockholders’ deficit:
Preferred stock—$1.00 par value, 200 million shares authorized, none issued or

OULSTANAING . . . oottt et — —
Common stock—$0.01 par value, 5 billion shares authorized; 1,867,422 and

1,817,494 issued, respectively . ......... ..o 19 18
Additional paid-in capital .. ......... ... 43,290 43,111
Treasury stock—1,062 and 1,108 shares, respectively (including 62 and 168 shares,

respectively, held inrabbi trust) . ........ ... ... . (17) (20)
Accumulated deficit ... ... ... ... .. (46,500) (45,721)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss .. .......... ... ... ©)] —

Total stockholders’ deficit . ... ... ... ... ... e e (3,217) (2,612)

Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit .. .......... ... ... ... .. i iin... $ 21,497 $ 24,324

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in millions)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net (1I0SS) INCOME . . o oottt et e e e e e e e e e $ (779 $(1,794) $ 1,512
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Income from and gain on sale of discontinued operations—net of taxes ..... — — (2,619)
Depreciation and amortization . .. ...ttt 3,065 3,123 3,167
Provision for bad debts—mnet ......... .. ... .. . 173 194 304
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles—net of taxes ........ 22 — (206)
Asset impairment charges . ........ ... — 113 230
Gainon sale Of @SSELS . .. ...t (263) 8) —
Deferred inCOmME taXes . ... .ot vttt e (@) 7 (532)
Loss (gain) on early retirement of debt—net ... ........................ 462 1 (38)
Other non-cash charges—mnet . ............ . ... 37 91 212
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable .. ... ... .. (104) 170 78
Prepaid and other current assets .. ...ttt (8) (20) 65
Accounts payable and accrued eXpenses . ... ..., 73 (80) (126)
Deferred revenue and advanced billings .............. ... ... .. .. .. ... (73) (255) (247)
Other non-current assets and liabilities ............................... (287) 306 375
Cash provided by operating activities .................c..couvun... 2,313 1,848 2,175
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets ......... (1,613) (1,731) (2,088)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment ........................... 420 48 7
Proceeds from sale of investment securitie€s . ................uuuiiiinnn.. 1,793 1,922 13
Purchase of investment SECUritieS . ................ouutinrenrennennn.. (1,086) (2,137) (601)
O heT . .o e 27 @) (61)
Cash used for investing activities . .. .. ...c.vvu v, 459) (1,905) (2,730)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term borrowings . .. ........ ..ot 3,152 2,601 1,729
Repayments of long-term borrowings, including current maturities ........... 4,716) (2,714) (5,792)
Net payments of from short-termdebt .......... ... .. .. ... ... ... ..... — — (750)
Proceeds from issuance of common and treasury stock . .................... 39 10 —
Early retirement of debt costs . ........ ... .. (567) — —
Debt iSSUANCE COSES .« v vttt ettt e e e e e (67) (55) 43)
Cash used for financing activities ................c.covuiinen.... (2,159) (158) (4,856)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents . .......... ... .. ... ... .. .. ..... (305) (215) (5.,411)
Net cash generated by discontinued operations (operating activities) ........ — — 234
Proceeds from sale of directory publishing business (investing activity) .. ... — — 4,290
Beginning balance ........... ... 1,151 1,366 2,253
Endingbalance . ....... ... ... $ 846 $ 1,151 $ 1,366

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

Common
Stock and Accumulated
Shares of Additional Treasury Other
Common Paid-in  Stock, at Accumulated Comprehensive Comprehensive
Stock Capital cost Deficit Loss Total Loss
(Shares in
thousands) (Dollars in millions)
Balance, December 31,2002 . .. .. 1,699,115  $43,242 $(618) $(45,439) $(15) $(2,830)
Netincome . ................... — — — 1,512 — 1,512 $ 1,512
Other comprehensive loss—net
oftaxes................. — — — — ) 2) 2)
Total comprehensive
iNCOMe ... .o $ 1,510
Common stock issuances:
401(k) plan match ... ... 18,260 76 —_ —_ — 76
Other ................ 21) — — — — —
Stock-based compensation
CXPENSE .o evvveee — 6 — — — 6
Extinguishment of debt . ... .. 52,482 (396) 598 — — 202
Rabbi Trust treasury share
issuance ................ 60 5) 5 — — —
Other .................... — 20 — — — 20
Balance, December 31, 2003 . . ... 1,769,896 42,943 (15) (43,927) 7 (1,016)
Netloss ........coviiiiiin.. — — — (1,794) — (1,794) $(1,794)
Other comprehensive
income—net of taxes . .. ... — — — — 17 17 17
Total comprehensive loss .. .. $(1,777)
Common stock issuances:
Stock options
exercised ........... 794 2 — — — 2
Employee stock purchase
plan ............... 2,257 7 — — — 7
401(k) plan match .. .... 7,454 33 — — — 33
Stock-based compensation
EXPENSE .. eiie — 2) — — — 2)
Extinguishment of debt . ... .. 36,354 144 — — — 144
Rabbi Trust treasury share
disposition (issuance) .. ... 159 8) 9 — — 1
Other .................... (528) 10 (14) — — 4)
Balance, December 31,2004 . . . .. 1,816,386 43,129 (20) (45,721) — (2,612)
Netloss .....cooiuiiien.. — — — (779) — (779) $ (779)
Other comprehensive loss—net
oftaxes................. — — — — 9) 9) 9)
Total comprehensive loss . . .. $ (788)
Common stock issuances:
Stock options
exercised ........... 8,432 26 — — — 26
Employee stock purchase
plan ........ ... ... 2,064 7 — — — 7
401(k) plan trustee
discretionary
purchases ........... 1,084 5 — — — 5
Extinguishment of debt ... ... 38,348 145 — — — 145
Rabbi Trust treasury share
disposition (issuance) .. ... 106 3) 4 — — 1
Other .................... (60) — (1) — — (1)
Balance, December 31, 2005 . . . .. 1,866,360  $43,309 $ (17) $(46,500) $ 9 $(3,217)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

o« » €«

Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this report to “Qwest,” “we,” “us,” the “Company’
and “our” refer to Qwest Communications International Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. References in
this report to “QCII” refer to Qwest Communications International Inc. on an unconsolidated, stand-alone
basis.

s

Note 1: Business and Background

We provide local telecommunications and related services, long-distance services and wireless, data and
video services within our local service area, which consists of the 14-state region of Arizona, Colorado, Idaho,
Iowa, Minnesota, Montana, Nebraska, New Mexico, North Dakota, Oregon, South Dakota, Utah, Washington
and Wyoming. We also provide reliable, scalable and secure broadband data and voice (including long-distance)
services outside our local service area as well as globally.

We previously provided directory publishing services in our local service area. In November 2002, we sold
our directory publishing business in seven of the 14 states in which we offered these services. In
September 2003, we sold the directory publishing business in the remaining states. As a consequence, the results
of operations of our directory publishing business are included in income from discontinued operations in our
consolidated statements of operations.

We adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation (“FIN”)
No. 46 (revised December 2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46R”) in the first quarter of
2004. Upon adoption of FIN 46R, we identified two relationships that may be subject to consolidation by us.
Both relationships are with entities that provide or provided Internet port access and services to their customers.
In November 2005, we entered into a settlement agreement with one of the entities, which terminated any
potential variable interests and any consolidation requirements under FIN 46R. We do not currently have
sufficient information about the other entity to complete our analysis under FIN 46R. Until further information is
available to us about this entity, which we believe is unlikely because this entity ceased doing business, we are
unable to come to any conclusion regarding consolidation under FIN 46R.

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Significant Accounting Polices

Basis of presentation. The accompanying consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the
accounts of our subsidiaries over which we exercise control. All intercompany amounts and transactions with our
consolidated subsidiaries have been eliminated.

Use of estimates. Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). These accounting principles require us
to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. We believe that the estimates, judgments and assumptions
made when accounting for items and matters such as long-term contracts, customer retention patterns, allowance
for bad debts, depreciation, amortization, asset valuations, internal labor capitalization rates, recoverability of
assets, impairment assessments, employee benefits, taxes, reserves and other provisions and contingencies are
reasonable, based on information available at the time they are made. These estimates, judgments and
assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial
statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented. We also assess
potential losses in relation to threatened or pending legal and tax matters. For matters not related to income taxes,
if a loss is considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, we recognize an expense for the
estimated loss. For income tax related matters, we record a liability computed at the statutory income tax rate if
we determine that (i) we do not believe that we are more likely than not to prevail on an uncertainty related to the
timing of recognition for an item, or (ii) we do not believe that it is probable that we will prevail and the
uncertainty is not related to the timing of recognition. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Reclassifications. We have reclassified our investments in auction rate securities of $619 million as of
December 31, 2004 from cash and cash equivalents into short-term investments in our consolidated balance
sheets. We invest in auction rate securities as part of our cash management strategy. These investments are
highly liquid, variable-rate debt securities. While the underlying security typically has a stated maturity of 20 to
30 years, the interest rate is reset through dutch auctions that are typically held every 7, 28 or 35 days, creating a
highly liquid, short-term instrument. The securities trade at par and are callable at par on any interest payment
date at the option of the issuer. Interest is paid at the end of each auction period. We have reclassified the
purchases and sales of these auction rate securities in our consolidated statements of cash flows, increasing cash
used for investing activities by $229 million from $1,676 million to $1,905 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 and increasing cash used for investing activities by $390 million from $2,340 million to
$2,730 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. This reclassification has no impact on previously reported
total current assets, total assets, working capital position, results of operations or debt covenants and does not
affect previously reported cash flows from operating or financing activities.

Other short-term investments of $145 million as of December 31, 2004 have also been reclassified to short-
term investments from prepaid and other assets.

Certain other prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Revenue recognition. Revenue for services is recognized when the related services are provided. Payments
received in advance are deferred until the service is provided. Up-front fees received, primarily activation fees
and installation charges, as well as the associated customer acquisition costs, are deferred and recognized over
the expected customer relationship period, which ranges from one to five years. The amount of customer
acquisition costs which are deferred is less than or equal to the amount of up-front fees deferred. Costs in excess
of up-front fees are recorded as an expense in the period incurred. Expected customer relationship periods are
estimated using historical data of actual product patterns. Termination fees or other fees on existing contracts that
are negotiated in conjunction with new contracts are deferred and recognized over the new contract term.

We have periodically transferred optical capacity assets on our network to other telecommunications service
carriers. These transactions are structured as indefeasible rights of use, commonly referred to as IRUs, which are
the exclusive right to use a specified amount of capacity or fiber for a specified term, typically 20 years. We
account for the consideration received on transfers of optical capacity assets for cash and on all of the other
elements deliverable under an IRU as revenue ratably over the term of the agreement. We do not recognize
revenue on contemporaneous exchanges of our optical capacity assets for other optical capacity assets.

Revenue related to equipment sales is recognized upon acceptance by the customer and when all the
conditions for revenue recognition have been satisfied. Customer arrangements that include both equipment and
services are evaluated to determine whether the elements are separable based on objective evidence. If the
elements are separable and separate earnings processes exist, total consideration is allocated to each element
based on the relative fair values of the separate elements and the revenue associated with each element is
recognized as earned. If separate earnings processes do not exist, total consideration is deferred and recognized
ratably over the longer of the contractual period or the expected customer relationship period.

Advertising costs. Costs related to advertising are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was
$430 million; $362 million and $335 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, and is included in selling, general and administrative on our consolidated statements of operations.

Income taxes. The provision for income taxes consists of an amount for taxes currently payable and an
amount for tax consequences deferred to future periods, and adjustments to our liabilities for uncertain tax
positions. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

the differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities as well as for operating loss
and tax credit carryforwards using enacted tax rates expected to apply in the year in which the differences are
expected to affect taxable income. The effect on deferred income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rate
is recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are established
when necessary to reduce deferred income tax assets to the amounts expected to be recovered.

We use the deferral method of accounting for federal investment tax credits earned prior to the repeal of
such credits in 1986. We also defer certain transitional investment tax credits earned after the repeal, as well as
investment tax credits earned in certain states. We amortize these credits ratably over the estimated service lives
of the related assets as a credit to our income tax provision in our consolidated statement of operations.

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible into cash and are not subject to significant risk from
fluctuations in interest rates. As a result, the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair
value. To preserve capital and maintain liquidity, we invest with financial institutions we deem to be of sound
financial condition and in high quality and relatively risk-free investment products. Our cash investment policy
limits the concentration of investments with specific financial institutions or among certain products and includes
criteria related to credit worthiness of any particular financial institution.

Allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts receivable reflects our best estimate
of probable losses inherent in our receivable portfolio determined on the basis of historical experience, specific
allowances for known troubled accounts and other currently available evidence.

Assets held for sale and discontinued operations. Assets to be disposed of that meet all of the criteria to be
classified as held for sale are reported at the lower of their carrying amounts or fair values less cost to sell. Assets
are not depreciated while they are classified as held for sale. Assets held for sale that are significant and have
operations and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished, operationally and for financial reporting purposes,
from the rest of our assets are reported in discontinued operations when (a) it is determined that the operations
and cash flows of the assets will be eliminated from our ongoing operations and (b) we will not have any
significant continuing involvement in the operations of the assets after the disposal transaction.

Property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost, plus the estimated value of
any associated legal retirement obligations. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated primarily using the
straight-line group method. Under the straight-line group method, assets dedicated to providing
telecommunications services (which comprise the majority of our property, plant and equipment) that have
similar physical characteristics, use and expected useful lives are categorized in the year acquired on the basis of
equal life groups for purposes of depreciation and tracking. Generally, under the straight-line group method,
when an asset is sold or retired, the cost is deducted from property, plant and equipment and charged to
accumulated depreciation without recognition of a gain or loss. A gain or loss is recognized in our consolidated
statements of operations only if a disposal is abnormal or unusual or when a sale involves land or assets
associated with the sale of customer contracts. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the
useful lives of the assets or the lease term. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.
Interest is capitalized during the construction phase of network and other internal-use capital projects.
Employee-related costs directly related to construction of internal use assets are also capitalized during the
construction phase. Property, plant and equipment supplies used internally are carried at average cost, except for
significant individual items for which cost is based on specific identification.

We have asset retirement obligations associated with the removal of a limited group of property, plant and
equipment assets from leased properties, and the disposal of certain hazardous materials present in our owned

66



QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

properties. When an asset retirement obligation is identified, usually in association with the acquisition of the
asset, we record the fair value of the obligation as a liability. The fair value of the obligation is also capitalized as
property, plant and equipment and then amortized over the estimated remaining useful life of the associated asset.
Where the removal obligation is not legally binding, the net cost to remove assets is expensed in the period in
which the costs are actually incurred.

Our policy for asset retirement obligations was changed at December 31, 2005 to include accruals for the
estimated disposal costs of certain hazardous materials present in our owned properties, pursuant to our adoption
of FIN 47. See further discussion below in the section entitled Recently adopted accounting pronouncements.
Our policy for asset retirement obligations was also changed in 2003 with the adoption of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (“SFAS No. 143”).
Prior to 2003, we included estimated net removal costs (removal costs less salvage) in our group depreciation
rates, including those asset retirement obligations that were not legally binding. These costs had been reflected in
the calculation of depreciation expense and, therefore, were recognized in accumulated depreciation. The change
in policy in 2003 required us to record a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle benefit of
$365 million before taxes. The total net income impact of the 2003 change in policy was $206 million
($365 million less an asset retirement obligation of $43 million, net of an incremental adjustment to the historical
cost of the underlying assets of $15 million, net of income taxes of $131 million).

Impairment of long-lived assets. We review long-lived assets, other than goodwill and other intangible
assets with indefinite lives, for impairment whenever facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts
of the assets may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized only if the carrying amount of the asset is
not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparing
the carrying amount of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows expected to be generated by
the asset. If the asset’s carrying value is not recoverable, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by
which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. We determine fair values by using a combination of
comparable market values and discounted cash flows, as appropriate.

Capitalized software, goodwill and other intangible assets. Internally used software, whether purchased or
developed, is capitalized and amortized using the straight-line group method over an estimated useful life of 18 months
to five years. In accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position 98-1,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,” we capitalize certain costs
associated with software such as costs of employees devoting time to the projects and external direct costs for materials
and services. Costs associated with internally developed software to be used internally are expensed until the point at
which the project has reached the development stage. Subsequent additions, modifications or upgrades to internal-use
software are capitalized only to the extent that they allow the software to perform a task it previously did not perform.
Software maintenance and training costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. The capitalization of
software requires judgment in determining when a project has reached the development stage and the period over
which we expect to benefit from the use of that software.

Intangible assets arising from business combinations, such as goodwill, customer lists, trademarks and trade
names, are initially recorded at fair value. Other intangible assets not arising from business combinations, such as
capitalized software, are initially recorded at cost.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over that life. Where there are no
legal, regulatory, contractual or other factors that would reasonably limit the useful life of an intangible asset, we

classify the intangible asset as indefinite lived and such intangible assets are not amortized.
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Impairment of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets. Goodwill and other long-lived
intangible assets with indefinite lives, such as trademarks, trade names and wireless spectrum licenses, are
reviewed for impairment annually or whenever an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely
than not reduce fair value below carrying value. These assets are carried at historical cost if their estimated fair
value is greater than their carrying amounts. However, if their estimated fair value is less than the carrying
amount, goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets are reduced to their estimated fair value through an
impairment charge to our consolidated statements of operations.

Investments. Investments where we exercise significant influence, but do not control the investee are
accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments are recorded at
initial cost and are adjusted for contributions, distributions and our share of the investee’s income or losses as
well as impairment write-downs for other-than-temporary declines in value.

Equity investments where we cannot exercise significant influence over the investee are carried at cost or, if
the security is publicly traded, at fair-market value. For publicly traded securities, unrealized gains or losses, net
of taxes, are included in other comprehensive income (loss) until realized upon sale or other disposition of the
securities. Realized gains and losses on securities and other-than-temporary declines in value are determined on
the specific identification method and are reclassified from other comprehensive income (loss) and included in
the determination of net income (loss).

Marketable debt securities are classified as held-to-maturity when we have both the intent and the ability to
hold the securities to maturity. Held-to-maturity securities are carried at amortized cost, adjusted for amortization
of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity.

Derivative instruments. All derivatives are measured at fair value and recognized as either assets or
liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. Changes in the fair values of derivative instruments that do not
qualify as hedges and/or any ineffective portion of hedges are recognized as a gain or loss in our consolidated
statement of operations in other income—net in the current period. Changes in the fair values of derivative
instruments used effectively as fair value hedges are recognized in earnings (losses), along with the change in the
value of the hedged item. Changes in the fair value of the effective portions of cash flow hedges are reported in
other comprehensive income (loss) and recognized in earnings (losses) when the hedged item is recognized in
earnings (losses).

Restructuring charges. Periodically, we commit to exit certain business activities, eliminate administrative
and network locations and/or significantly reduce our number of employees. At the time a restructuring plan is
approved, we record a charge to our consolidated statement of operations for our estimated costs associated with
the plan. We also record a charge when we permanently cease use of a leased location. Charges associated with
these exits or restructuring plans incorporate various estimates, including severance costs, sublease income and
costs, disposal costs, length of time on market for abandoned rented facilities and contractual termination costs.
Estimates of charges associated with abandoned operating leases, some of which entail long-term lease
obligations, are based on existing market conditions and net amounts that we estimate we will pay in the future.
In accordance with SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” (“SFAS
No. 146), charges associated with abandoned operating leases recorded under restructuring plans in 2003 and
subsequently were measured using the present value of the estimated net amounts we will pay, while charges
recorded prior to 2003 were measured on an undiscounted basis.

Fair value of financial instruments. Our financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, investments, accounts payable, borrowings and interest rate swap agreements. The carrying values of
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cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, auction rate securities, marketable debt securities, accounts
payable and short-term borrowings approximate their fair values because of their short-term nature. Our publicly
traded marketable debt securities investments classified as held-to-maturity are recorded at amortized cost, not at
fair value. The fair value of these investments based on quoted market prices was $41 million and $189 million at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Our long-term borrowings had a fair value of approximately

$16.1 billion and $18.4 billion at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. We did not have any interest rate
swap agreements in effect at December 31, 2005. Our interest rate swap agreements had a fair value of $5 million
at December 31, 2004. The fair values of our long-term borrowings are based on quoted market prices where
available or, if not available, based on discounted future cash flows using current market interest rates.

Stock-based compensation. We account for our stock-based compensation arrangements under the intrinsic-
value recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees.” Under the intrinsic-value method, no compensation expense is recognized for
options granted to employees when the strike price of those options equals or exceeds the value of the underlying
security on the measurement date. Any excess of the stock price on the measurement date over the exercise price
is recorded as deferred compensation and amortized over the service period during which the stock option award
vests using the accelerated method described in FIN No. 28, “Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and
Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans.”

Had compensation cost for our stock-based compensation plans been determined under the fair-value
method in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
(“SFAS No. 123”), our net loss and basic and diluted loss per share would have been changed to the pro forma
amounts indicated below:

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

(Dollars in millions, except per
share amounts)

Net (loss) income:
Asreported . ... $(779) $(1,794) $1,512
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined
under the fair-value-based method for all awards, net of related tax

e (171) (59)  (65)

Proforma .. ...t $(950) $(1,853) $1,447
Earnings (loss) per share:

As reported—basic and diluted . . . .. ... $(0.42) $ (1.00) $ 0.87

Pro forma—basicand diluted . ........... ... .. $(0.52) $ (1.03) $ 0.83

The pro forma amounts reflected above may not be representative of the effects on our reported net income
or loss in future years because the number of future shares to be issued under these plans is not known and the
assumptions used to determine the fair value can vary significantly. See “Recently issued accounting
pronouncements” below for further discussion of SFAS No. 123R, “Share Based Payments” (“SFAS No. 123R”).

On August 18, 2005, the Compensation and Human Resources Committee of our Board of Directors
accelerated the vesting of all outstanding and unvested stock options that have an exercise price equal to or
greater than $3.79, which was the closing market price of Qwest’s common stock on such date. As a result of the
acceleration, 50.4 million stock options, of which 10.5 million stock options were held by our executive officers,
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became exercisable on August 18, 2005. The impact of the acceleration on net (loss) income as shown in the
above table was an increase in proforma stock-based compensation expense of approximately $103 million in
2005. Aside from the acceleration of the vesting date, the terms and conditions of the stock option agreements
governing the underlying stock options remain unchanged.

The purpose of the acceleration was to avoid recognizing future compensation expense associated with the
accelerated options upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123R. SFAS No. 123R sets forth accounting requirements for
“share-based” compensation to employees and requires companies to recognize in their income statements the
grant-date fair value of stock options and other equity-based compensation. We estimate that future
compensation expense will be reduced by approximately $80 million over the remaining vesting period of the
options as a result of the acceleration.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2005, we adopted FIN No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations”
(“FIN 47”). FIN 47 is an interpretation of SFAS No. 143 and requires us to recognize asset retirement obligations
that are conditional on a future event, such as the obligation to safely dispose of asbestos when a building is
remodeled or demolished. Upon adoption of FIN 47, we determined that we have conditional asset retirement
obligations to properly dispose of or encapsulate asbestos in several of our buildings and to dispose of fuel storage
tanks and other similar potentially hazardous items. We recorded a cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle charge upon adoption of FIN 47 of $22 million (liability of $26 million net of an asset of $4 million) in
2005. Had FIN 47 been adopted prior to 2003, our liabilities associated with asset retirement obligations would have
increased by $25 million both at December 31, 2004 and 2003. Had we adopted FIN 47 prior to 2003, our operating
results for the years ending December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 would not have changed materially.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Non-Monetary Assets” (“SFAS
No. 153”), which we adopted on July 1, 2005. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 153, we were required to
measure the value of certain assets exchanged in non-monetary transactions by using the net book value of the
asset relinquished. Under SFAS No. 153, we now measure assets exchanged at fair value, as long as the
transaction has commercial substance and the fair value of the assets exchanged is determinable within
reasonable limits. A non-monetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are
expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. The adoption of SFAS No. 153 has not had a
material effect on our financial position or results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2005, the FASB, as part of an effort to conform to international accounting standards, issued SFAS
No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections” (“SFAS No. 154”), which was effective for us beginning
on January 1, 2006. SFAS No. 154 requires that all voluntary changes in accounting principles be retrospectively
applied to prior financial statements as if that principle had always been used, unless it is impracticable to do so.
When it is impracticable to calculate the effects on all prior periods, SFAS No. 154 requires that the new
principle be applied to the earliest period practicable. Currently, we do not anticipate any voluntary changes in
accounting principles that, upon the adoption of SFAS No. 154, would have a material effect on our financial
position or results of operations.

In April 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) delayed the effective date of SFAS
No. 123R. SFAS No. 123R is effective for us as of the interim reporting period beginning January 1, 2006. SFAS
No. 123R requires that compensation cost relating to share-based payment transactions be recognized in the
financial statements based on the fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. SFAS No. 123R covers a
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wide range of share-based compensation arrangements including share options, restricted share plans,
performance-based awards, share appreciation rights and employee share purchase plans. Based on the unvested
stock-based awards outstanding at December 31, 2005, we do not anticipate that the adoption of SFAS No. 123R
will have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations. However, depending on valuation
factors such as the price of our common stock, if we grant stock-based awards at a similar volume to what was
granted in prior years, then the application of SFAS No. 123R could have a material impact on our results of
operations in future periods.

Note 3: Accounts Receivable
The following table presents details of our accounts receivable balances:

December 31,

2005 2004
_(Dollars_
in millions)

Trade 1eCeivVables . . . . oo v ot $1,197  $1,239
Earned and unbilled receivables .............. .. . ... . 352 357
Purchased receivables . ........ ... .. . 65 83
Otherreceivables . . . ...t 78 93
Total accounts receivables . ... ... 1,692 1,772
Less: Allowance forbad debts . ......... .. ... .. . . (167) (178)
Accounts receivable—net . ... ... $1,525  $1,594

We are exposed to concentrations of credit risk from customers within our local service area and from other
telecommunications service providers. We generally do not require collateral to secure our receivable balances.
We have agreements with other telecommunications service providers whereby we agree to bill and collect on
their behalf for services rendered by those providers to our customers within our local service area. We purchase
accounts receivable from other telecommunications service providers on a recourse basis and include these
amounts in our accounts receivable balance. We have not experienced any significant losses related to these
purchased receivables.

Note 4: Property, Plant and Equipment

The components of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Depreciable December 31,
Lives 2005 2004
- (Dollars in millions)
Land . ... ... N/A $ 104 $ 107
Buildings ......... ... . 15-40 years 3,486 3,588
Communications equipment . ................... 8-10 years 19,505 19,346
Other network equipment ...................... 8-50 years 19,964 19,355
General purpose computers and other ............. 3-11 years 2,686 2,844
Construction in progress . ... ........oeeuenene... N/A 209 188
Total property, plant and equipment .......... 45,954 45,428
Less: accumulated depreciation . ................. (30,386) (28,575)
Property, plant and equipment—net .......... $ 15568 $ 16,853

Asset impairments recognized for property, plant and equipment and internal use software projects for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $0 million, $113 million, and $230 million, respectively.
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2004 Activities

During 2004, in conjunction with our effort to sell certain assets, we determined that the carrying amounts
were in excess of our expected sales price, which indicated that our investments in these assets may have been
impaired at that date. As a result of such efforts and pursuant to SFAS No. 144 “Accounting for the Impairment
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS No. 144”), we recorded the following impairment charges:

e Impairment charges totaling $67 million to reduce the carrying value of network supplies held for sale
to their estimated fair value based on recent selling prices for comparable assets.

* Impairment charges totaling $46 million for hosting assets sold in conjunction with sub-leasing a
network facility, a reduction in the carrying value of payphone assets to their estimated fair value and
for various long-term network capacity leases that were abandoned.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the estimated fair value of the impaired assets becomes the new basis for
accounting purposes. As such, approximately $122 million in accumulated depreciation was eliminated against
the cost of these impaired assets in connection with the accounting for these impairments. The impact of the
impairments is not material to our depreciation expense.

2003 Activities

In August 2003, we entered into a services agreement with a third-party wireless provider that allowed us to
sell wireless services. Due to the anticipated decrease in usage of our own wireless network following the
transition of our customers onto the third-party provider’s network, we determined, in the third quarter of 2003,
that certain asset groups were not expected to be recovered through future projected cash flows and recorded an
impairment charge of $230 million.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the fair value of the impaired assets became the new basis for accounting
purposes. As such, approximately $25 million in accumulated depreciation was eliminated in connection with the
accounting for the impairment. This impairment reduced our annual depreciation and amortization expense by
approximately $40 million effective October 1, 2003.

Asset Retirement Obligations

As discussed in Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, we adopted SFAS No. 143 on
January 1, 2003, and we adopted FIN 47 on December 31, 2005. At December 31, 2005, our asset retirement
obligations primarily related to the costs of removing circuit equipment from leased properties when leases
expire, and the costs of properly disposing of asbestos and other hazardous materials when we remodel or
demolish buildings we own. Asset retirement obligations are included in other long-term liabilities on our
consolidated balance sheets. During 2005, we sold or disposed of our wireless towers and, in connection with
that sale, the related asset retirement obligations were transferred to the buyer. See Note 6—Assets Held for Sale
Including Discontinued Operations for additional information. The following is a reconciliation of our asset
retirement obligations for the periods indicated:

2005 2004 2003

(Dollars in millions)

Asset retirement obligations, January 1 ......... ... ... ... .. ... ... $55 $49 §$43
ACCIEtION EXPENSE . o v ot ottt et et et e e e 7 7 6
Liabilities incurred, including adoption of FIN 47 . ................. 26 — —
Liabilities settled and other .............. ... ... ... ... .......... (15) @) —

Asset retirement obligations, December 31 . ......................... $73 $55 $ 49
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Note 5: Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had intangible assets with finite lives of between 1.5 and 5 years
with carrying costs of $2,233 million and $2,475 million, respectively, and accumulated amortization of $1,267
million and $1,336 million, respectively. We also had trademarks and trade names with an approximate carrying
value of $41 million as of December 31, 2005 and $40 million as of December 31, 2004 that have indefinite
lives.

We recorded amortization expense of $453 million in 2005 for intangible assets with finite lives. Based on
the current balance of intangible assets subject to amortization, the estimated amortization for each of the
succeeding 5 years is as follows:

Estimated
Amortization
Expense
(Dollars
in millions)
20006 . $405
2007 248
2008 L e 172
2000 L 98
2000 L 43
Total ..o $966

Note 6: Assets Held for Sale Including Discontinued Operations

In the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, we did not have any discontinued operations. The
following table presents the summarized results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2003, related to
our discontinued operations in that year. These results primarily relate to our directory publishing business.

(Dollars in

millions)
REVENUE ..ot $ 648
Costs and expenses:
Costofsales ........... . (232)
Selling, general and administrative . . . ....... ... oo i i (93)
Income from Operations . .............. it 323
Gain on sale of directory publishing business ........................ 4,065
Other @XPeNSE . . .t vttt ettt e e e e (111)
Income before inCOME taxes .. ... .ottt 4,277
Income tax proviSion ... ... .. ...ttt (1,658)
Income from and gain on sale of discontinued operations ................... $ 2,619

Discontinued Directory Publishing Business

On November 8, 2002, we completed the first stage of the sale (the “Dex Sale”) of our directory publishing
business (“Dex”), which involved the sale of Dex operations in the states of Colorado, lowa, Minnesota,
Nebraska, New Mexico, North Dakota and South Dakota (“Dex East”) for a cash sales price of $2.75 billion. We
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recognized a gain of $1.6 billion (net of $1.0 billion in taxes) from the Dex East sale. The sale of Dex in the
remaining states of Arizona, Idaho, Montana, Oregon, Utah, Washington and Wyoming (“Dex West”) was
completed in September 2003. We received approximately $4.3 billion in gross cash proceeds and recognized a
gain of $2.5 billion (net of $1.6 billion in taxes) from the Dex West sale.

Assets Held for Sale

On July 1, 2004, we entered into an agreement with Verizon Wireless (“Verizon) under which it agreed to
acquire all of our personal communications services, or PCS, licenses and substantially all of our related wireless
network assets in our local service area (including cell sites and wireless network infrastructure, site leases, and
associated network equipment). This sale closed in the first quarter of 2005, and Verizon paid us $418 million to
purchase these assets. As of December 31, 2004, $160 million of the related assets were classified as held for
sale. We recorded a gain of $263 million from this sale and other dispositions of wireless assets during the year
ended December 31, 2005.

Note 7: Investments

The following table summarizes the carrying value of our investments as of December 31, 2005 and 2004:

December 31,
2005 2004
(Dollars in millions)
Short-term publicly traded marketable debt securities ............ ... .. ... .. ... ... $101 $764
Non-current investments:
Publicly traded marketable debt securities and other investments .................. — 45
TOtal INVESLIMENTS .+« o .\ttt ettt e e e e e et e e e et e e $101 $809

The following table summarizes information related to our investments in debt and equity securities for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Publicly Private

Traded Company Total
(Dollars in millions)
Balance as of December 31,2002 .......................... $ 1 $ 22 $ 23
Additions . ... 601 — 601
DISpOSItONS . ..ottt (13) — (13)
Unrealized mark-to-market gains . ....................... — 3 3
Other-than-temporary declines in value and mark-to-market
adjustment of warrants .. ............. . i (1) (19) (20)
Balance as of December 31,2003 .......................... 588 6 594
Additions . ... 2,137 — 2,137
DIiSpOSItions . ..ottt (1,917) — (1,917)
Other-than-temporary declines in value and mark-to-market
adjustment and write downs . ........ .. ... . . oL — (®)] 5
Balance as of December 31,2004 .......................... 808 1 809
Additions ... ... 1,086 — 1,086
DiSpoOSItions ... ..ottt (1,793) — (1,793)
Other-than-temporary declines in value and mark-to-market
adjustment and write downs . ........... .. ... ... — (D (D)
Balance as of December 31,2005 .......................... $ 101 $— $ 101
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Debt Securities

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, our portfolio of publicly traded securities consisted of U.S. government
agency debt securities, which we intend to hold to maturity, and auction rate securities that are available for sale.
We accrete the discount of the hold-to-maturity bonds and recognize interest income in our consolidated
statement of operations over the term of the notes using the effective interest rate method. The auction rate
securities are reported on our balance sheet at par value, which equals fair value, as these securities have liquidity
provisions that specify interest rate reset dates, typically every 7, 28 or 35 days. Short-term bonds of $ 41 million
and $145 million and auction rate securities of $60 million and $619 million are included in short-
term investments in our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Non-current bonds of $0 million and $44 million are included in non-current other assets on our consolidated
balance sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Note 8: Borrowings
Current Borrowings

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, our current borrowings consisted of:

December 31,

2005 2004

(Dollars in

millions)
Current portion of long-term borrowings ............. ... ... ......... $492  $584
Current portion of capital lease obligations and other .................. 20 12
Total current bOITOWINgs . . ..o v et $512  $596
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Long-term Borrowings

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, long-term borrowings consisted of the following (for all notes with
unamortized discount or premium, the face amount of the notes and the unamortized discount or premium are
presented separately):

December 31,
2005 2004
(Dollars in millions)

Qwest Corporation (“QC”):
Notes with various rates ranging from 5.50% to 9.02% including LIBOR* + 4.75% and

maturities from 2007 t0 2043 . . ... $ 7,789 $ 7,788
Unamortized diSCOUNT . . .. ... e e (129) (139)
Capital lease 0bligations . .. ... ...ttt e 5 11
Less: Current pOrtion . .. ... ...ttt e (1) (405)

Qwest Services Corporation (“QSC”):
Notes with various rates ranging from 13.00% to 14.00% and maturities from 2007 to

200 21 3,377
Unamortized premilm . ... ..ottt e e e 1 150
Qwest Communications Corporation (“QCC”):
7.25% Senior Notes due 2007 . ... ...t 314 314
Unamortized discount and other . ............. . . .. . i (20) 24)
Capital lease obligations and other .............. .. ... ... 82 58
Less: Current portion . ... ..... .ottt e @) @))

Qwest Capital Funding (“QCF”):
Notes with various rates ranging from 6.25% to 7.90% and maturities from 2006 to

203 ot 3,473 3,825
Unamortized diSCOUNT . . .. ... e e e 2) ©)
Less: current pOrtion . .. ... ...ttt e (485) (179)

Qwest Communications International Inc.:
Senior notes with various rates ranging from 3.50% to 9.47% including LIBOR +

3.50% and maturities from 2007 t0 2025 . ... ... 3,942 1,877
Unamortized discount and other .. ........... .. ... . i (73) (13)
Note payable to Anschutz Digital Media, Inc. (Note 16—Related Party

Transactions) . .. ...t v et e e 21 27
Less: current portion . ... ...ttt e (6) (@)

Other:
Capital lease 0bligations . .. .. .. ... vtt it e 56 44
Less: current portion . ... ...ttt e (13) (6)
Total long-term bOITOWINGS . . ... oottt ettt e e $14,968 $16,690

* London interbank offering rate.
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Our long-term borrowings had the following interest rates and maturities at December 31, 2005:

Maturities
Interest Rates 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010  Thereafter Total
(Dollars in millions)
UptoS% ..o $— $— $— $ — $— $ 1,265 $ 1,265
Above 5% t0 6% . ... 6 77 328 — — — 411
Above 6% t0 7% . ... — 90 171 562 500 1,591 2,914
Above T%t08% . ... 485 314 71 750 403 6,643 8,666
Above 8% t09% . ....... .. .. 1 1 22 — — 1,750 1,774
Above 9% t010% .. ...... ... — 511 — — — — 511
Above 10% . ... 3 3 3 3 24 15 51
Total ... ... . $495 $996 $595 $1,315 $927 $11,264 $15,592
Capital lease obligations .. ............ 112
Unamortized discount and other ... ..... (224)
Less current borrowings . ............. (512)
Total long-term borrowings ................... $14,968
QC Notes
Covenants

The indentures governing the QC notes contain certain covenants including, but not limited to: (i) a
prohibition on certain liens on the assets of QC and (ii) a limitation on mergers or sales of all, or substantially all,
of the assets of QC, which limitation requires that a successor assume the obligation with regard to these notes.
These indentures do not contain any cross-default provisions. We were in compliance with all of the covenants at
December 31, 2005.

New Issues

On June 17, 2005, QC issued a total of $1.15 billion aggregate principal amount of new debt consisting of
$750 million of Floating Rate Notes due 2013 with interest at LIBOR plus 3.25% (7.74% as of December 31,
2005) and $400 million of 7.625% Notes due 2015.

On November 23, 2004, QC issued $250 million aggregate principal amount of its 7.875% Notes due 2011.
On August 19, 2004, QC issued an aggregate of $575 million of 7.875% Notes due 2011.

The aggregate net proceeds from the above offerings have been or will be used for general corporate
purposes, including funding or refinancing our investments in telecommunication assets.

Tender Offers and Related Payments at Maturity
On June 7, 2005, QC commenced the following cash tender offers:

e QC offered to purchase up to $250 million aggregate principal amount of its 638% Notes due 2005 (the
“QC 6¥8% Notes”). We received and accepted tenders of approximately $211 million face amount of
these note for $212 million. On September 15, 2005, QC paid the remaining $39 million of these notes
that matured on that date.
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*  QC offered to purchase up to $150 million aggregate principal amount of its 6 /8% Notes due
November 15, 2005 (the “QC 6 8% Notes”). We received and accepted tenders of approximately $129
million face amount for $130 million. On November 15, 2005, QC paid the remaining $21 million of
these notes that matured on that date.

On August 11, 2004, QC commenced a cash tender offer for up to $750 million aggregate principal amount
of its 7.20% Notes due November 1, 2004. QC received and accepted tenders of approximately $569 million face
amount for $574 million in cash. On November 1, 2004, QC paid the remaining $181 million of these notes that
matured on that date.

Prepayment

On June 20 and June 23, 2005, QC pre-paid an aggregate of $750 million face amount of the $1.25 billion
floating rate tranche of its senior term loan that matures in June 2007 for $773 million.

Redemption

On May 1, 2004, QC redeemed the entire $100 million outstanding principal on its 5.65% Notes due
November 1, 2004 and the entire $41 million outstanding principal amount on its 39-year 5.5% debentures due
June 1, 2005 at par and all related interest ceased to accrue.

Registered Exchange Offers

On May 27, 2005, QC commenced registered exchange offers for its 7.875% Notes due 2011 (the “2011 QC
Notes”) and its 8 /8% Notes due 2012 (the “2012 QC Notes”) pursuant to the registration rights agreements that
it entered into in connection with the issuance of these notes. QC completed the registered exchange offers for
the 2011 QC Notes and 2012 QC Notes on July 5, 2005.

QSC Notes
Tender Offers

On December 1, 2005, QSC completed cash tender offers (the “QSC Tender Offer”), and accepted tenders,
for the following notes:

e Approximately $52 million outstanding principal amount of its 13.00% Senior Subordinated Secured
Notes due 2007 (the “2007 QSC Notes,”) for $56 million.

*  Approximately $2.211 billion of the approximately $2.232 billion outstanding principal amount of its
13.50% Senior Subordinated Secured Notes due 2010 (the “2010 QSC Notes”) for $2.548 billion.

*  Approximately $641 million outstanding principal amount of its 14.00% Senior Subordinated Secured
Notes due 2014 (the “2014 QSC Notes”) for $794 million.

These transactions resulted in a loss of $426 million.

In connection with the QSC Tender Offer, QSC also received consents from a majority in aggregate
principal amount of all holders of the above notes agreeing to remove or modify substantially all of the restrictive
covenants in the indenture governing those notes (the “Covenant Amendment Consent”) and from 66%3% in
aggregate principal amount of all holders of the above notes to release all collateral securing these notes and the
collateral securing the guarantees thereof by QCII (the “Collateral Release Consent”). Concurrent with the
Collateral Release Consent, all liens securing notes issued by QCII and QSC’s guarantees of notes issued by
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QCII were also released. Upon completion of the QSC Tender Offer and in accordance with the applicable
indentures, the subordination provisions of the QSC guarantees of debt securities of QCII were terminated. The
QSC guarantees of QCII debt securities now rank pari passu in right of payment with all existing and future
senior unsecured obligations of QSC (including QSC’s guarantee of the 2009, 2011 and 2014 QCII Notes (as
defined below)) and rank senior in right of payment to all existing and future obligations of QSC that are

expressly subordinated to such QSC guarantees. As of December 31, 2005, no publicly held debt of QCII and its
subsidiaries was secured.

On June 7, 2005, we commenced a cash tender offer for the purchase of $504 million aggregate principal
amount of the 2007 QSC Notes. We received and accepted tenders of approximately $452 million face amount
for $500 million, resulting in a loss of $18 million.

Registered Exchange Offers

On May 11, 2005, we commenced a registered exchange offer for the 2010 QSC Notes and the 2014 QSC
Notes pursuant to the registration rights agreements that we entered into in connection with the issuance of these
notes. We completed the registered exchange offer for these notes on June 17, 2005.

QSC Credit Facility

October 21, 2005, QSC replaced its pre-existing three-year $750 million revolving credit facility with a new
five-year $850 million revolving credit facility (the “2005 QSC Credit Facility”), which is currently undrawn. If
drawn, the 2005 QSC Credit Facility would, at our election, bear interest at a rate of adjusted LIBOR or a base
rate, in each case plus an applicable margin. Such margin varies based upon the credit ratings of the facility and
is currently 2.0% for LIBOR based borrowings and 1.0% for base rate borrowings. The 2005 QSC Credit Facility
is guaranteed by QCII and is secured by a senior lien on the stock of QC. The 2005 QSC Credit Facility will
mature on October 21, 2010.

Covenants

The 2005 QSC Credit Facility contains certain other covenants including, but not limited to, limitations on:
e incurrence of indebtedness (suspended while the 2005 QSC Credit Facility remains undrawn);

e restricted payments;

e using any proceeds to pay settlements or judgments relating to investigations and securities actions
discussed in Note 17—Commitments and Contingencies;

e dividend and other payments;

e mergers, consolidations and asset sales;

e investments; and

e liens (suspended while the 2005 QSC Credit Facility remains undrawn).

In the event of certain changes of control, each lender under the 2005 QSC Credit Facility may terminate its

commitment thereunder and declare any outstanding amounts for such lender’s account immediately due and
payable.
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The 2005 QSC Credit Facility makes available to us $850 million of borrowing capacity subject to certain
restrictions as described below, and is currently undrawn. The 2005 QSC Credit Facility contains financial
covenants that (i) require Qwest and its consolidated subsidiaries to maintain a debt-to-consolidated EBITDA
ratio of not more than 6 to 1 and (ii) require QC and its consolidated subsidiaries to maintain a
debt-to-consolidated EBITDA ratio of not more than 2.5 to 1. Consolidated EBITDA as defined in the 2005 QSC
Credit Facility means our net income (loss) adjusted for taxes, interest and non-cash and certain non-recurring
items. Compliance with these financial covenants is not required while the 2005 QSC Credit Facility remains
undrawn.

This facility has a cross payment default provision, and this facility and certain other debt issues also have
cross acceleration provisions. When present, such provisions could have a greater impact on liquidity than might
otherwise arise from a default or acceleration of a single debt instrument. These provisions generally provide that
a cross default under these debt instruments could occur if:

* we fail to pay any indebtedness when due in an aggregate principal amount greater than $100 million;

* any indebtedness is accelerated in an aggregate principal amount greater than $100 million ($25 million
in the case of one of the debt instruments); or

e judicial proceedings are commenced to foreclose on any of our assets that secure indebtedness in an
aggregate principal amount greater than $100 million.

Upon such a cross default, the creditors of a material amount of our debt may elect to declare that a default
has occurred under their debt instruments and to accelerate the principal amounts due such creditors. Cross
acceleration provisions are similar to cross default provisions, but permit a default in a second debt instrument to
be declared only if in addition to a default occurring under the first debt instrument, the indebtedness due under
the first debt instrument is actually accelerated. Under certain circumstances described in the 2005 QSC Credit
Facility, QCII may become a substitute borrower under such facility.

QCC Notes
Covenants

The indenture governing the outstanding QCC notes contains certain covenants including, but not limited to:
(i) a prohibition on certain liens on assets of QCC and (ii) a limitation on mergers or sales of all, or substantially
all, of the assets of QCC, which requires that a successor assume the obligation with regard to these notes. This
indenture contains provisions accelerating payment of the notes upon an acceleration of any other debt
obligations of QCC in the aggregate in excess of $25 million. We were in compliance with all of the indenture
covenants as of December 31, 2005.

QCF Notes
Covenants

The QCF notes are guaranteed by QCII on a senior unsecured basis. The indentures governing these QCF
notes contain certain covenants including, but not limited to: (i) a prohibition on certain liens on the assets of
QCEF and (ii) a limitation on mergers or sales of all, or substantially all, of the assets of QCF or us, which
limitation requires that a successor assume the obligation with regard to these notes. These indentures do not
contain any cross-default provisions. We were in compliance with all of the covenants as of December 31, 2005.
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Tender Offers

On February 26, 2004, we completed a cash tender offer for the purchase of up to $963 million aggregate
principal amount of QCF’s 5.875% Notes due August 2004. We received and accepted tenders of approximately
$921 million in total principal amount of the QCF notes for $939 million, resulting in a loss of $21 million.

Repayment

On July 15, 2005, we paid the remaining $179 million of QCF’s 6 4% Notes due July 15, 2005 that
matured on that date.

Exchange Offers

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we exchanged approximately $167 million of existing QCF
notes for approximately 38 million shares of our common stock with an aggregate value of $145 million at the
time of issuance. The effective share price for the exchange transactions ranged from $4.03 per share to $4.98 per
share (principal and accrued interest divided by the number of shares issued). The trading prices for our shares at
the time that the exchange transactions were consummated ranged from $3.53 per share to $4.09 per share. As a
result, we recorded a gain of $23 million on debt extinguishments.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, we exchanged $169 million face amount of existing QCF notes
for 36.4 million shares of our common stock with an aggregate value of $144 million and effective share prices
ranging from $4.01 to $5.32. The trading prices for our shares at the time the exchange transactions were
consummated ranged from $3.60 per share to $4.39 per share. As a result, a gain of $25 million was recorded on
the debt extinguishments.

These gains are included in other expense (income) in our consolidated statements of operations.

QCII Notes
Covenants

The 2004 QCII notes are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by QSC and QCF. The indenture governing
these notes limits QCII’s and its subsidiaries’ ability to:

e incur or guarantee additional debt or issue preferred stock;

e pay dividends or distributions on or redeem or repurchase capital stock;
* make investments and other restricted payments;

e issue or sell capital stock of restricted subsidiaries;

e grant liens;

e transfer or sell assets;

e consolidate or merge or transfer all or substantially all of our assets; and
e enter into transactions with affiliates.

If the notes receive investment grade ratings, most of the covenants with respect to the notes will be subject
to suspension or termination. Under the indenture governing these notes, we must repurchase the notes upon
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certain changes of control. This indenture also contains provisions for cross acceleration relating to any of our
other debt obligations and the debt obligations of our restricted subsidiaries in an aggregate amount in excess of
$100 million. We were in compliance with all of the covenants as of December 31, 2005.

New Issues

On June 17, 2005, QCII issued $600 million of 7 2% Senior Notes due 2014—Series B. On June 23, 2005,
QCII issued an additional $200 million aggregate principal amount of such notes, bringing the total principal
amount outstanding to $800 million. The aggregate net proceeds from these offerings have been or will be used
for general corporate purposes, including repayment of indebtedness, and funding or refinancing our investments
in telecommunication assets.

On February 5, 2004, QCII issued a total of $1.775 billion of senior notes, which consisted of $750 million
in Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2009 with interest at LIBOR plus 3.50% (7.84% as of December 31, 2005),
$525 million in 7 V4% Senior Notes due 2011, and $500 million in 7 ¥2% Senior Notes due 2014. These notes are
guaranteed by QCF and QSC. The guarantees by QCF and QSC are on a senior unsecured basis. Upon
completion of the QSC Tender Offer and in accordance with the applicable indentures, the subordination
provisions of the QSC guarantees of debt securities of QCII were terminated. The net proceeds from this note
offering were used for general corporate purposes, including repayment of indebtedness.

Registered Exchange Offers

On May 11, 2005, we commenced a registered exchange offer for QCII’s Floating Rate Senior Notes due
2009, 7%4% Senior Notes due 2011, and 7 ¥2% Senior Notes due 2014 (collectively, the “2009, 2011 and 2014
QCII Notes”) pursuant to the registration rights agreement that we entered into in connection with the issuance of
these outstanding notes. We completed the registered exchange offer for these notes on June 16, 2005.

QCII Convertible Senior Notes
New Issues

On November 8, 2005, QCII completed an offering of $1.265 billion aggregate principal amount of 3.50%
Convertible Senior Notes due 2025. The conversion value of the notes may be calculated prior to maturity by
using an initial conversion rate of 169.4341 per $1,000 in principal amount of the notes or an initial conversion
price of $5.90, subject to certain conditions as described in the indenture governing the notes (the “Indenture”).

As a general matter, assuming no adjustment to the initial conversion rate or price is made or required under
the terms of the Indenture and the requisite conditions to an exercise of the conversion right provided under the
Indenture are satisfied, the following hypothetical examples would apply:

(1) If the price of our common stock exceeds $5.90 per share when the notes are converted, then, for every
$1,000 in principal amount of the notes surrendered for conversion, the holder will receive the following:

e $1,000 in cash, and

e the amount by which the conversion value (calculated as the product of the initial conversion rate and
the average of the closing sale prices of the common stock during the conversion period as described in
the Indenture) exceeds $1,000, which amount the Indenture defines as the “residual value shares”. At
our option, we may elect to pay all or a portion of the residual value shares, calculated as provided in the
Indenture, in cash or in a number of shares of our common stock.
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(2) If the price of our common stock is at or below $5.90 per share when the notes are converted, then, for
every $1,000 in principal amount of the notes surrendered for conversion, the holder will receive the lesser of:

e $1,000 in cash, or

e the conversion value in cash.

Covenants

The indenture governing the 3.50% Senior Notes contains certain covenants including, but not limited to, a
limitation on mergers or sales of all, or substantially all, of the assets of QCII, which requires that a successor
assume the obligation with regard to these notes. The indenture contains provisions requiring acceleration of
payment of the notes upon an acceleration of any other debt obligations of QCII in an aggregate amount in excess
of $100 million. We were in compliance with all of the indenture covenants as of December 31, 2005.

Interest Rate Swap Activities

In 2004 we entered into interest rate swap agreements with notional amounts totaling $825 million. We
previously disclosed that all these interest rate swap agreements were designated as fair-value hedges, which
effectively converted the related fixed-rate debt to floating rate through the receipt of fixed-rate amounts in
exchange for floating-rate interest payments. While the structure of the swaps did not change, we determined in
the first quarter of 2005 that agreements with notional amounts totaling $575 million did not meet all the
requirements to be treated as fair-value hedges. As a result of this change, the changes in the fair value of the
swap agreements were included in other expense—net in our consolidated statements of operations. Had we
applied this same accounting treatment to the swap agreements in 2004, the impact would have been less than
$1 million in our 2004 financial statements.

In the second quarter of 2005, we terminated all of these interest rate swap agreements. We paid $3 million
to terminate the agreements that were not treated as fair-value hedges, and we received $6 million from the
termination of the interest rate swap agreement that was treated as a fair-value hedge. For the agreements that
were not treated as fair-value hedges the changes in fair value prior to termination resulted in a net $3 million
non-operating loss in 2005, which amount is included in other expense—net in our consolidated statements of
operations. For the interest rate swap agreement that was treated as a fair-value hedge, we are amortizing the
$6 million of proceeds as a reduction in interest expense over the remaining six years until the hedged notes
mature.

Interest

The following table presents the amount of gross interest expense, capitalized interest and cash paid for
interest during 2005, 2004 and 2003:

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in millions)
GTOSS INTETESt EXPEMSE . . o v vttt et et e e e e e e et e e et e $1,496 $1,543  $1,776
Capitalized INETESE . . . o . vttt e e (13) (12) (19)
NEt INErESt EXPENSE .+ v vt ettt e ettt et e e et et e $1,483  $1,531  $1,757
Cashinterest paid . .. ...ttt e e $1,428 $1.476  $1,839
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Note 9: Realignment and Restructuring Charges

During 2004 and previous years, as part of our ongoing effort to evaluate our operating costs, we established
restructuring programs, which included workforce reductions, consolidation of excess facilities, and restructuring
of certain business functions. The restructuring reserve balances discussed below are included in our
consolidated balance sheets in the category of accrued expenses and other current liabilities for the current
portion and other long-term liabilities for the long-term portion. Charges and reversals discussed below are
included in our consolidated statement of operations in selling, general and administrative expenses. As of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, the amounts included as current liabilities were $62 million and $146 million,
respectively, and the non-current portions are $366 million and $374 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes the activity related to the remaining liability for restructuring costs
discussed below, comprised primarily of future net payments on abandoned operating leases, as of December 31,
2005. These future net payments for lease obligations are also included in our commitments table in Note 17—
Commitments and Contingencies:

Restructuring Plans
2002 and

2004 2003 Prior Total
(Dollars in millions)

December 31,2002 Balance . ....................o i, $— $— $ 547 $ 547

ProvisSions . ...t — 131 — 131
UtIZation ... ..ot — (14) (122) (136)
Reversals .. ... ... . . — — (18) (18)

December 31,2003 Balance ....................... ... ... $— $117 $ 407 $ 524

Provisions .. ....... ... 179 4 67 250
UtIlZation . ... ...t (95) 57) (50) (202)
Reversals . ... (6) (26) 20) (52)

December 31,2004 Balance ................... ... ... .. ..., $78 $ 38 $ 404 $ 520

Provisions . ......... ... e — 4 36 40
UtIlZation ... ... (55) ) (37) (101)
Reversals . ... ... . (12) ©)] (10) 31

December 31,2005 Balance ................. ..., $11 $24 $ 393 $ 428

2004 Restructuring Plan

During the year ended December 31, 2004, as part of an ongoing effort of evaluating costs of operations, we
reviewed employee levels in certain areas of our business. We identified approximately 4,000 employees from
various functional areas to be terminated as part of this 2004 restructuring plan. As a result, we established a
reserve and recorded a charge to our 2004 consolidated statement of operations for $179 million for severance
benefits pursuant to established severance policies. Through December 31, 2004 we had utilized $95 million of
this reserve for severance payments and adjusted our estimated payments by $6 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we utilized $55 million of the 2004 restructuring plan reserves
for employee severance payments and through December 31, 2005 we had terminated 3,900 employees. As the
2004 employee reduction plan was essentially complete and actual costs were less than originally estimated, we
reversed $12 million of severance benefits during the year ended December 31, 2005. The remaining 2004
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reserve includes $11 million for severance payments, the majority of which we expect to be utilized during 2006
with some utilization for outplacement over the next several years.

2003 Restructuring Plan

During the year ended December 31, 2003, as part of an ongoing effort of evaluating costs of operations, we
reviewed employee levels in certain areas of our business. As a result, we established a reserve and recorded a
$131 million charge to our 2003 consolidated statement of operations comprised of $107 million for severance
benefits pursuant to established severance policies and $24 million for real estate exit obligations, which
primarily include estimated future net payments on abandoned operating leases. We identified approximately
2,240 employees from various functional areas to be terminated as part of this restructuring. The real estate exit
costs include the net present value of rental payments due over the remaining term of the leases, net of estimated
sublease rentals and estimated costs to terminate the leases. Through December 31, 2003 we had utilized
$12 million of the 2003 restructuring reserves for severance payments and $2 million for real estate exit costs.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, we utilized $54 million of the 2003 restructuring plan reserves
for employee severance payments and $3 million for real estate exit-related payments. Through December 31,
2004, we had terminated 2,230 employees. As the 2003 employee reduction plan was essentially complete and
actual costs were less than originally estimated, we reversed $17 million of severance benefits during the year
ended December 31, 2004. We also updated our remaining real estate reserves for completed transactions and our
current assessment of remaining exit costs, resulting in an additional net reduction of the reserve of $9 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2005 we updated our remaining real estate reserves for completed
transactions and our current assessment of remaining exit costs, utilizing $9 million of the 2003 restructuring
reserves and increasing the reserve by $4 million. As the majority of the severance related costs had been paid,
we reversed an additional $9 million of severance accrual. The remaining restructuring reserve for the 2003
restructuring plan of $24 million is for real estate exit costs which we expect to utilize over the remaining term of
the leases.

2002 and Prior Restructuring Plans

We had identified 11,500 employees to be terminated as part of the 2002 restructuring and prior plans and as
of December 31, 2003, these employee reductions were complete. As the employee reduction portion of the 2002
restructuring and prior plans were complete and actual costs were less than originally estimated, we reversed
$18 million of the restructuring reserve during the year ended December 31, 2003. During the year ended
December 31, 2003, we utilized $47 million of the reserves for employee severance payments, $53 million for
real estate exit-related payments and the remaining reserve related to our merger with U S WEST, Inc. (the
“Merger”) in the amount of $22 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, we utilized $50 million of the 2002 and prior restructuring plan
reserves for abandoned real estate exit-related payments. As there were no remaining unpaid employee-related
benefits, we reversed the remaining estimated severance reserves of $7 million. We re-evaluated our exit costs
for completed leased real estate transactions and reversed the remaining $13 million. Additionally, we
re-evaluated our estimated real estate costs for incomplete transactions and increased our reserve by $67 million.
The increase in the estimated costs for real estate exit-related costs was caused primarily by continued
oversupply of available telecommunications and data center hosting space in certain markets. We based our
adjustment on a current assessment of market conditions.
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During the year ended December 31, 2005 we updated our real estate reserves for completed transactions
resulting in a decrease of $37 million to the 2002 and prior restructuring reserve and we re-evaluated our
estimated real estate costs for non-complete transactions resulting in a net increase in our reserve of $26 million.
The increase in the estimated costs for real estate exit-related costs was caused primarily by continued
oversupply of available telecommunications and data center hosting space in certain markets and greater than
anticipated increases in lease related costs in 2005. We based our adjustment on a current assessment of market
conditions. The remaining restructuring reserve for the 2002 and prior restructuring plan of $393 million is for
real estate exit costs. The real estate exit accrual is expected to be utilized over approximately the next 20 years.

During 2005 we incurred charges of $114 million related to severance and exiting of operating leases in the
normal course of business. These realignment charges, which are included in our consolidated statements of
operations in selling, general and administrative expenses, were the result of ongoing management of our
workforce in our competitive industry.

Segment Information

The restructuring provisions less reversals for the plans discussed above for our wireline services segment
are ($16) million, $104 million, and $69 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. No amounts were
recorded for our wireless services segment for any periods presented. The 2005, 2004 and 2003 amounts for our
other services segment was $25 million, $94 million, and $44 million, respectively.

Cumulative Plan Utilization

The following table outlines our cumulative utilization of the 2004, 2003, 2002 and prior restructuring plans
through December 31, 2005.

December 31, 2005—Cumulative

Utilization
Real Estate
Severance Exit and
and Related Related Total
(Dollars in millions)
2004 restructuring plan . . . ... .. $ 150 $ — $ 150
2003 restructuring plan . . .. ... . 67 13 80
2002 restructuring and priorplans ............ .. ... .. ... 1,110 1,361 2,471
Total cumulative utilization . ......................... $1,327 $1,374 $2,701
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Note 10: Other Financial Information
Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:

December 31,
2005 2004
(Dollars
in millions)
ACCTUEd INEETESE . . . o vttt ettt e e e e $ 290 $ 286
Employee compensation . . ... .......uuuntn ittt 429 483
Accrued property and other taXxes .. ..........ouirin it 328 350
Accrued facilities COSES . .o .ottt e e e e 431 440
Current portion of state regulatory and other legal reserves . .................. 291 289
Restructuring and realignment T€SETVES . ... ..o vttt nt e 117 147
Other .. 431 295
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities ......................... $2,317  $2,290

Other Long-Term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities include principally restructuring and realignment liabilities and reserves for
contingencies and litigation. Restructuring liabilities are discussed in Note 9—Restructuring Charges and other
significant items are discussed below and in Note 17—Commitments and Contingencies.

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had liabilities of $124 million and $235 million, respectively, of
which $0 million and $131 million, respectively, was long term, related to the termination of our Calpoint LLC
(“Calpoint”) services agreement. We entered into a services agreement with Calpoint in 2001. In connection with
this arrangement, we also agreed to pay monthly services fees directly to the trustee that serves as a paying agent
on debt instruments issued by special purpose entities sponsored by Calpoint. This unconditional purchase
obligation required us to pay at least 75% of the monthly service fees for the entire term of the agreement,
regardless of whether Calpoint provided us service. In September 2003, we terminated our services arrangement
with Calpoint. We paid to terminate the services agreement, but will continue to make payments to a trustee
related to the unconditional purchase obligation. As a result of this transaction, in September 2003, we recorded a
liability of $346 million for the net present value of the remaining obligation that will be paid through 2006.

In November 2005, we entered into a settlement agreement with KMC Telecom LLC and several of its
related parent or subsidiary companies (collectively, “KMC”) and one of KMC’s lenders, General Electric
Capital Corporation (“GECC”), to settle several disputes and obligations between the parties. Under the terms of
the settlement, we paid $98 million in order to resolve all outstanding disputes and obligations between and
among us, KMC and GECC. In connection with the resolution of this matter, we reduced our pre-existing
deferred credit and other liabilities related to the matter resulting in a net $4 million gain related to this
settlement, which is included as a reduction of cost of sales.

Prepaid and Other Assets

Prepaid and other assets contained $186 million and $192 million of deferred activation and installation
charges as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

87



QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Note 11: Employee Benefits
Pension, Post-retirement and Other Post-employment Benefits

We sponsor a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the “Pension Plan”) for substantially all
management (non-union) and occupational (union) employees. In addition to this tax qualified Pension Plan we
also maintain a non-qualified pension plan for certain highly compensated employees and executives (the “Non-
Qualified Pension Plan”). We maintain post-retirement benefit plans that provide healthcare and life insurance
benefits for eligible management and occupational retirees. We also provide post-employment benefits for other
eligible former employees. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, shares of our common stock and ownership of
our debt accounted for less than 0.5% of the assets held in the pension and post-retirement benefit plans.

The Pension Plan features a traditional service-based program as well as a cash balance program.
Participants in the service-based program include all occupational (union) employees, and management
employees that had reached 20 years of service by December 31, 2000 or who would be service pension eligible
by December 31, 2003. The cash balance program covers management employees hired after December 31, 2000
and management employees who did not have 20 years of service by December 31, 2000 or who would not be
service pension eligible by December 31, 2003. Future benefits in the cash balance plan are based on 3% of pay
while actively employed plus an investment return. The investment return an employee’s cash balance plan
account earns in a given year is based upon the average 30 year Treasury interest rate in effect during August—
December of the prior year and the employee’s account balance at the beginning of the year.

Pension and post-retirement healthcare and life insurance benefits attributed to employee service during the
year, as well as interest on projected benefit obligations, are accrued currently. Prior service costs and credits
resulting from changes in plan benefits are amortized over the average remaining service period of the employees
expected to receive benefits or, for changes associated with our 2005 collective bargaining agreement, over the
three year term of the agreement. Costs for the pension and post-retirement plans are recognized over the period
in which the employee renders services and becomes eligible to receive benefits as determined using the
projected unit credit method.

The accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation (“ABQO”) for our occupational (union) healthcare and
life insurance post-retirement plan benefits is estimated based on the terms of our written plan as negotiated with
our employees’ unions as well as numerous assumptions, estimates and judgments, including but not limited to,
healthcare cost trend rates and mortality trend rates. In the third quarter of 2005, we negotiated new three-year
collective bargaining agreements covering approximately 23,000 unionized employees. These new agreements
reflect changes for the occupational post-1990 retirees, including: (i) retirees will begin contributing to the cost
of healthcare benefits in excess of specified limits on the company-funded portion of retiree healthcare costs
(also referred to as “caps”) beginning January 1, 2009, rather than January 1, 2006, the previous effective date of
the caps: (ii) retirees will receive a reduced life insurance benefit starting January 1, 2006; and (iii) retirees will
pay increased out of pocket costs through plan design changes starting January 1, 2006. These changes have been
considered in the determination of the ABO for our occupational (union) employee benefits under the plan. The
additional costs to us of deferring the enforcement of the caps by three years were substantially offset in
negotiation by the additional benefit to us of the reduction in life insurance benefits. As a result of this exchange
of benefits with the affected plan participants (the retirees in this case), we have determined that the caps
provision beginning January 1, 2009 is substantive. If the caps were not considered to be substantive in our
determination of the ABO, our current calculation of the ABO would increase by approximately $2.3 billion. The
collective bargaining agreements with our employees’ unions contain caps that are effective January 1, 2009, and
we currently intend to enforce these healthcare caps beginning on that date in order to maintain our healthcare
costs at competitive levels.
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The terms of the post-retirement life and healthcare arrangement between us and our management
employees and our post-1990 management retirees are established by us and are subject to change at our
discretion. We have a past practice of sharing some of the cost of providing healthcare benefits with our
management employees and post-1990 management retirees. The ABO for the management post-retirement
healthcare benefits is based on the terms of the current written plan documents and is adjusted for anticipated
continued cost sharing with management employees and post-1990 management retirees. Management
employees who retain retiree healthcare benefits and retired after December 31, 1990 began paying contributions
toward the cost of their retiree healthcare benefits effective January 1, 2004. Post-1990 management retirees
made contributions to the Company for their healthcare benefits of $26 million and $20 million for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Our funding policy for the pension plan is to make contributions with the objective of accumulating
sufficient assets to pay all qualified pension benefits when due under the terms of the plan. No pension
contribution was required in 2005 or 2004 and as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the fair value of the assets in
the qualified pension trust exceeded the ABO of the qualified Pension Plan. During 2005 and 2004, we made
contributions of $6 million and $14 million, respectively to the post-retirement occupational (union) healthcare
trust. In addition, we received reimbursements for healthcare claims incurred by occupational (union) retirees
from the post-retirement occupational (union) healthcare trust of $206 million and $185 million in 2005 and
2004, respectively. During 2004 we also received $15 million as a final reimbursement from the life insurance
trust for life insurance premiums incurred by retirees. We made payments of $383 million and $391 million
directly to healthcare benefit providers and life insurers in 2005 and 2004 respectively.

Expected Cash Flows

The pension, non-qualified pension and post-retirement benefit payments, which include expected future
services, are expected to be paid by us and from plan assets and the estimated future Medicare Part D subsidy
receipts are as follows:

Non-Qualified Post-Retirement Medicare Part D

Pension Plan  Pension Plan Benefit Plans Subsidy Receipts
(Dollars in millions)
2006 . $ 735 $ 3 $ 439 $ (17)
2007+ 744 5 474 (19)
2008 .t 752 5 505 Q21
2000 .. 756 14 431 (23)
2010« 758 9 438 (25)
20112015 oo $3,729 $19 $2,177 $(161)
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The components of the pension benefit expense (credit), non-qualified pension benefit expense and post-
retirement benefit expense are as follows:

Non-Qualified Post-Retirement
Pension Cost (Credit) Pension Cost Benefit Cost
Years Ended Years Ended Years Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in millions)

Service Cost .. ....ouuiii $149 $164 $170 $ 3 $ 2 $ 4 $ 20 $ 21 $ 23
Interestcost .. ................... 500 567 601 3 3 3 310 354 389
Expected return on plan assets ... ... (695) (773) (858) — — — (131) (131) (135)
Amortization of transition asset ... .. — (63) 71 2 2 2 — — —
Amortization of prior service cost . . . (@) 6 — — — — (56) 47 (20)
Recognized net actuarial (gain)

loss oo 79 6 — 1 1 — 56 87 101

Net (credit) cost included in
current earnings (loss) ... ... $ 28 $(104) $(158) $ 9 $ 8 $ 9 $199 $284 $358

The pension, non-qualified pension and post-retirement benefit expense (credit) is allocated between cost of
sales and selling, general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

The measurement dates used to determine pension, non-qualified pension and other post-retirement
healthcare and life insurance benefit measurements for the plans are December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. The
actuarial assumptions used to compute the net pension expense (credit), non-qualified pension benefit expense
and post-retirement benefit expense are based upon information available as of the beginning of the year, as
presented in the following table.

Non-Qualified Post-Retirement
Pension Expense (Credit) Pension Expense Benefit Expense

2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

Beginning of the year:

Discountrate .................. 575% 6.25% 6.75% 5.75% 6.25% 6.75% 5.75% 6.25% 6.75%
Rate of compensation increase . . . . . 4.65% 4.65% 4.65% 4.65% 4.65% 4.65% N/A N/A N/A
Expected long-term rate of return on

planassets ................... 8.50% 8.50% 9.00% N/A N/A N/A 8.50% 8.50% 9.00%
Initial healthcare costtrendrate .... N/A N/A N/A N/A NA NA 10.00% 10.00% 10.00%
Ultimate healthcare cost trend

TALE oo N/A NA NA NA NA NA 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Year ultimate trend rate is

reached ..................... N/A NA NA NA NA NA 2010 2014 2013

N/A—mnot applicable
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Following is an analysis of the change in the projected benefit obligation for the pension, non-qualified
pension and post-retirement benefit plans for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004:

Non-Qualified Post-Retirement

Pension Plan Pension Plan Benefit Plans
Years Ended Years Ended Years Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

(Dollars in millions)

Benefit obligation accrued at beginning of year ......... $8,929 $8,960 $ 59 $ 48 $5,798 $6,076
Service CoSt . ...t 149 164 3 2 20 21
Interest coSt . ... oo 500 567 3 3 310 354
Actuarial loss (gain) . ........... ... ... ..., 219 207 @) 10 (293) (184)
Plan amendments ............. ... ... ... ...... — 14 — — 32) (78)
Special termination benefits . .......... ... ... ... — 1 — — — —
Benefits paid . ....... ... ... (840)  (956) (5) ) (383) (39D

Benefit obligation accrued atend of year .............. $8,957 $8,929 $ 56 $ 59 $5420 $5,798

Accumulated benefit obligation ...................... $8,752 $8,658 $ 51 $ 53 $5420 $5,798

The actuarial assumptions used to compute the funded (unfunded) status for the plans are based upon
information available as of the end of the respective year and are as follows:
Non-Qualified Post-Retirement
Pension Plan Pension Plan Benefit Plans
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

End of the year:

Discount rate ... ... ... ...t 5.60% 5.75% 5.60% 5.75% 5.60% 5.75%
Rate of compensation increase ............... ... ... ... 4.65% 4.65% 4.65% 4.65% N/A N/A
Initial healthcare costtrendrate ........................ N/A  N/A NA NA 10.00% 10.00%
Ultimate healthcare costtrendrate ...................... N/A  N/A NA N/A 5.00% 5.00%
Year ultimate trend rate isreached . ..................... N/A° N/A NA N/A 2011 2010

N/A—not applicable

The plan assets of the pension plan are currently used for the payment of pension benefits. The plan assets
of the post-retirement benefit plan are only used for the payment of healthcare benefits for occupational (union)
plan participants. Following is an analysis of the change in the fair value of plan assets for the pension,
non-qualified pension and post-retirement benefit plans for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004:

Non-Qualified Post-Retirement
Pension Plan Pension Plan Benefit Plans
Years Ended Years Ended Years Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
(Dollars in millions)
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year .......... $9,133 $9,010 $— $— $1,652  $1,659
Actual gainon planassets ..................... 1,055 1,079 — — 193 180
Net contributions to trust and benefit providers . . .. — — 5 4 182 204
Benefitspaid .......... ... ... . L (840)  (956) &) @) (383) (391)
Fair value of plan assets at yearend ................. $9,348 $9,133 $—  $—  $1,644 $1,652
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The following table presents the funded status of the pension, non-qualified pension and post-retirement

benefit plans as of December 31, 2005 and 2004:

Non-Qualified

Post-Retirement

Pension Plan Pension Plan Benefit Plans
Years Ended Years Ended Years Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
(Dollars in millions)
Funded (unfunded) status ........................... $ 391 $ 204 $(56) $(59) $(3,776) $(4,146)

818
(44)

Unrecognized net actuarial loss
Unamortized prior service cost (benefit) ................

1,037
49 —
Unrecognized transition (asset) obligation .............. — —

12 16

3

786
(325)

(349)

Prepaid benefit (accrued cost) . ...................

$1,165 $1,192 $(41) $(37) $(3,315) $(3,298)

The accrued cost of the non-qualified pension plan and the accrued cost for the post-retirement benefit plans

are included in post-retirement benefit obligations on our consolidated balance sheet. Also included in that line
are post-employment long-term disability insurance and workers compensation benefits accruals.

The weighted-average asset allocations for the benefit plans at December 31, 2005 and 2004 by asset

category are as follows:

Non-Qualified

Post-Retirement

1,197

Pension Plan Pension Plan Benefit Plan
Years Ended Years Ended Years Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
% % 2005 2004 2005 2004
Equity Securities . .......... .o 60% 62% N/A N/A 56% 58%
Debt Securities . ............. .. 22% 23% N/A N/A 29% 30%
Real Estate ............ ... ... ... 8% 7% N/A  N/A 5% 3%
OthEr ...t 10% 8% N/A NA  10% 9%
Total ...... ... . . . @% @% N/A N/A @% @%

N/A—not applicable

The investment objective for both the pension and post-retirement benefit plans is to provide an attractive
risk-adjusted return that will ensure the payment of benefits and protect against the risk of substantial investment
losses. Investment risk is managed by broadly diversifying plan assets across numerous strategies with differing
expected returns, volatilities and correlations. Derivative instruments (primarily exchange-traded futures,
forwards and options) are used to reduce risk as well as enhance return.

The asset mix, or the percent of the trust held in each asset class, takes into account benefit obligations, risk/
return requirements and the outlook for the financial markets. Given the long-term nature of our benefit
obligations, the benefit plans have a significant weighting to equities, which have a higher expected return. As of
year-end, the actual asset mix is within the 50%-70% policy allocation range for equities and the 30%-50%
policy allocation range for non-equities (debt, real estate and other).

In computing the pension and post-retirement benefit costs, we must make numerous assumptions about
such things as employee mortality and turnover, expected salary and wage increases, discount rate, expected rate
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of return on plan assets, expected future cost increases, health care claims experience and changes in our
collective bargaining agreements. These items generally have the most significant impact on the level of cost:
(1) discount rate, (2) expected rate of return on plan assets and (3) the terms of our post-retirement plan benefits
covered by collective bargaining agreements as negotiated with our employees’ unions.

The discount rate enables us to state expected future cash flows at a present value on the measurement date.
Annually, we set our discount rates based upon the yields on high-quality fixed-income investments available at
the measurement date and expected to be available during the period to maturity of the pension and other post-
retirement benefits. In making this determination we use a simple average of four specific indices of high quality
corporated bond yields that would generate the necessary cash flows to pay our projected benefits when due.

The expected rate of return on plan assets is the long-term rate of return we expect to earn on trust assets.
The rate of return is determined by the investment composition of the plan assets and the long-term risk and
return forecast for each asset category. The forecasts for each asset class are generated using historical
information as well as an analysis of current and expected market conditions. The expected risk and return
characteristics for each asset class are reviewed annually and revised, as necessary, to reflect changes in the
financial markets.

To compute the expected return on pension and post-retirement benefit plan assets, we apply an expected
rate of return to the market-related asset value of the pension plan assets and to the fair value of the post-
retirement plan assets. The market-related asset value is a computed value that recognizes changes in fair value
of plan equity assets over a period of time, not to exceed five years. The five year weighted average gains and
losses related to the equity assets are added to the fair value of bonds and other assets at year-end to arrive at the
market-related asset value. This method has the effect of reducing the impact on expense from annual market
volatility that may be experienced from year to year. As a result, our expected return is not significantly impacted
by the actual return on pension plan assets experienced in any given year. For the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2004, the investment program produced an actual return on pension and post-retirement plan assets
which exceeded the expected return by $422 million and $355 million, respectively. The annual returns on plan
assets will almost always be different from the expected long-term returns, and could include net losses, due
primarily to the volatility occurring in the debt and equity markets during any given year.

The estimate of the ABO for our occupational (union) post-retirement plan benefits is based on the terms of
our written plan as negotiated with our employees’ unions. In making this determination we consider the
exchange of benefits between us and our employees that occurs as part of the negotiations.

A change of one percent in the assumed initial healthcare cost trend rate would have had the following
effects in 2005:

One Percent Change

Increase Decrease

(Dollars in millions)

Effect on the aggregate of the service and interest cost components of net
periodic post-retirement benefit cost (statement of operations) ............. $ 18 $ (15
Effect on ABO (balance sheet) ............. ... .. .. .. . . . ... $268 $(231)

Our post-retirement cost for occupational post-1990 retirees is capped at a set dollar amount beginning
January 1, 2009 and, therefore, is not subject to healthcare trends after the capped cost is attained. Therefore, a
1% change in these actual trends subsequent to January 1, 2009 would not have a significant impact on the ABO
at December 31, 2005 or 2006 benefit expense for this group of participants.
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Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003

In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (“the
Medicare Act”) became law in the United States. The Medicare Act introduced a prescription drug benefit under
Medicare as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree healthcare benefit plans that provide a benefit that is
at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare benefit. We sponsor a post-retirement healthcare plan with several
benefit options that provides prescription drug benefits, which we deem actuarially equivalent to Medicare
Part D. We recognized the impact of the federal subsidy on the calculation of our ABO and net post-retirement
benefit costs. In accordance with FASB Staff Position No. 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003,” we recognized a
$235 million reduction of our ABO using our December 31, 2003 measurement date. The effect of the subsidy
reduced our net periodic post-retirement benefit cost by $38 million and $33 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004 respectively. During 2005, the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services issued
and clarified rules for implementing the Medicare Act. We have revised our actuarial estimate of the federal
subsidy and using our December 31, 2005 measurement date, the total reduction in our ABO was $510 million.
This reduction was recorded as an unrecognized actuarial gain which will be amortized to expense. The issuance
and clarification of the rules for implementing the Medicare Act during 2005 are expected to further reduce our
prescription benefit cost in 2006.

Other Benefit Plans
Healthcare and Life Insurance

We provide healthcare and life insurance benefits to essentially all of our active employees. The Company
is largely self-insured for the cost of the healthcare plan. Our 2005 active healthcare benefit expense of $281
million declined from the 2004 expense of $315 million. Occupational (union) employees are provided benefits
based on the negotiated labor contract and currently these costs are largely funded by the Company other than out
of pocket amounts. Management employees are required to partially fund the healthcare benefits provided by the
Company. The management participant contributions of $35 million for 2005 and $30 million for 2004 are in
addition to out of pocket costs. The basic group life insurance plan is fully insured and the premiums are paid by
the Company.

401(k) Plan

We sponsor a qualified defined contribution benefit plan covering substantially all management and
occupational (union) employees. Under this plan, employees may contribute a percentage of their annual
compensation to the plan up to certain maximums, as defined by the plan and by the Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS”). Currently, we match a percentage of employee contributions in cash. Prior to May 2004 we matched this
percentage in shares of our common stock. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the assets of the plan included
approximately 65 million and 77 million shares, respectively, of our common stock as a result of the combination
of our employer match and participant directed contributions. We made cash contributions in connection with our
401(k) plan of $69 million in 2005 and $44 million in 2004. In addition, we made contributions of our common
stock valued at $33 million in 2004.

Deferred Compensation Plans

We sponsor several non-qualified unfunded deferred compensation plans for various groups that include
certain of our current and former management and highly compensated employees. Certain of these plans are
open to new participants. Participants in these plans may, at their discretion, invest their deferred compensation
in various investment choices including our common stock.
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Our deferred compensation obligations for these plans are included in our consolidated balance sheet in
other long-term liabilities. Investment earnings, administrative expenses, changes in investment values and
increases or decreases in the deferred compensation liability resulting from changes in the investment values are
recorded in our consolidated statement of operations. The deferred compensation liability as of December 31,
2005 and 2004 was $20 million and $21 million, respectively. The value of the deferred compensation plans’
assets was $10 million and $11 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and is included in other
long-term assets in our consolidated balance sheets. Shares of our common stock owned by rabbi trusts, such as
those established for our deferred compensation plans, are treated as treasury stock and are included at cost as
treasury stock on our consolidated balance sheet.

Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-employee Directors

We sponsor a deferred compensation plan for directors’ fees for non-employee members of our current and
former Board. Under this plan, directors may, at their discretion, elect to defer all or any portion of the directors’
fees for the upcoming year for services they perform as directors of the Company. The Company no longer
provides a match for deferred fees for the members of the current Board, however, we previously matched 50%
of the fees that were contributed to the plan. Participants in the plan are fully vested in both their deferred fees
and the matching contribution. Subject to the terms of the plan, participants can suspend or change their election
to defer fees to be earned and paid in future calendar years.

Quarterly, we credit the director’s account with “phantom units,” which are held in a notational account.
Each phantom unit represents a value equivalent to one share of our common stock and is subject to adjustment
for cash dividends payable to our stockholders as well as stock dividends and splits, consolidations and the like
that affect shares of our common stock outstanding. At December 31, 2005, the deferred compensation plan for
non-employee directors held approximately 807,000 phantom units of Qwest common stock. Subject to the terms
of the plan, each director’s account will be ultimately distributed at the time elected in advance by the director or
upon termination of the plan and in a form elected in advance by the director, which may be in: (i) a lump-sum
payment; (ii) annual cash installments over periods up to 10 years; or (iii) some other form selected by our
Executive Vice President—Chief Human Resources Officer (or his or her designee). A change in our stock price
of one dollar would not result in a significant expense impact to our consolidated financial statements.

Investment earnings, administrative expenses, changes in investment values and increases or decreases in
the deferred compensation liability resulting from changes in the value of our common stock are recorded in our
consolidated statement of operations. The deferred compensation liability as of December 31, 2005 for the plan
was $4 million and the expense associated with this plan was not significant during 2005 and 2004. However,
depending on the extent of appreciation in the value of our common stock, expenses incurred under this plan
could become significant in subsequent years.

Note 12: Stock Incentive Plans
Stock Options

On June 23, 1997, pre-Merger Qwest adopted the Equity Incentive Plan. This plan was most recently
amended and restated on October 4, 2000 and permits the grant of non-qualified stock options, incentive stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, stock units and other stock grants. The maximum number of
shares of our common stock that may be issued under the Equity Incentive Plan at any time pursuant to awards is
equal to 10% of the aggregate number of our common shares issued and outstanding reduced by the aggregate
number of options and other awards then outstanding under the Equity Incentive Plan or otherwise. Issued and
outstanding shares are determined as of the close of trading on the New York Stock Exchange on the preceding
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trading day. Since the Merger, all option grants have been issued from this plan. As of December 31, 2005, the
maximum number of shares of our common stock available for issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan was
187 million, with 137 million shares underlying outstanding options and 50 million shares available for issuance
pursuant to new awards.

The Compensation and Human Resources Committee of our Board, or its delegate, approves the exercise
price for each option. Stock options generally have an exercise price that is at least equal to the fair market value
of the common stock on the date the stock option is granted, subject to certain restrictions. Stock option awards
generally vest in equal increments over the vesting period of the granted option (generally three to five years).
Unless otherwise provided by the Compensation and Human Resources Committee, our Equity Incentive Plan
provides that, on a “change in control,” all awards granted under the Equity Incentive Plan will vest immediately.
Options that we granted to our employees from June 1999 to September 2002 typically provide for accelerated
vesting if the optionee is terminated without cause following a change in control. Since September 2002, options
that we grant to our executive officers (vice president level and above) typically provide for accelerated vesting
and an extended exercise period upon a change of control and options that we grant to all other employees
typically provide for accelerated vesting if the optionee is terminated without cause following a change in
control. Options granted in 2005, 2004 and 2003 have ten-year terms.

Our stock incentive plans are accounted for using the intrinsic-value method under which no compensation
expense is recognized for options granted to employees when the strike price of those options equals or exceeds
the value of the underlying security on the measurement date. Any excess of the stock price on the measurement
date over the exercise price is recorded as deferred compensation and amortized over the service period during
which the stock option award vests, using the accelerated method described in FIN No. 28. As a result of using
the accelerated method, we must occasionally reverse expense previously recorded for options that are forfeited
prior to vesting, but after expense has been recorded. This practice has resulted in a net benefit of $2 million for
stock compensation in the year ended December 31, 2004, which is a partial reversal of the stock option-based
compensation expense of $6 million and $18 million we recorded in the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

Summarized below is the activity of our stock option plans for the three years ended December 31, 2005:

Weighted
Average
Number of Exercise
Shares Price
(in thousands)
Outstanding December 31,2002 ......................... 112,320 $19.81
Granted . ... . e 31,549 3.60
Exercised . ... ..o — —
Canceled orexpired .............coiiiiiinininenn... (18,145) 18.13
Outstanding December 31,2003 ......................... 125,724 $15.98
Granted .. ..., 24,305 4.61
Exercised .. ... ..ot (794) 2.81
Canceled orexpired ...............iiiiiiian.. (22,261) 11.63
Outstanding December 31,2004 ......................... 126,974 $14.65
Granted . ... 32,142 4.01
Exercised . . ... (6,683) 3.86
Canceled orexpired ........... ..., (17,493) 17.87
Outstanding December 31,2005 ......................... 134,940 $12.23
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Options to purchase 124.5 million, 74.5 million and 54.0 million shares of Qwest common stock at

weighted-average exercise prices of $12.97, $21.31 and $25.38 were exercisable at December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively.

The outstanding options at December 31, 2005 have the following characteristics (shares in thousands):

Outstanding Options Exercisable Options
Weighted Average
Number Remaining Life Weighted Average Number Weighted Average

Range of Exercise Price Outstanding (Years) Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$ 001—$ 500 ............. 68,934 8.10 $ 395 58,546 $ 4.06
$ 5.01—$10.00 ............. 23,741 5.30 5.23 23,737 5.23
$10.01—$20.00 ............. 10,682 2.07 17.19 10,682 17.19
$20.01—$30.00 ............. 9,700 2.35 26.80 9,700 26.80
$30.01—$40.00 ............. 13,407 3.62 33.29 13,407 33.29
$40.01—$60.00 ............. 8,476 4.10 42.95 8,476 42.95
Total ............ ... ... 134,940 6.02 $12.23 124,548 $12.97

As required by SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-based Compensation—Transition
and Disclosure—an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123", we have disclosed in Note 2—Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies the pro forma amounts as if the fair value method of accounting had been used.
These pro forma amounts may not be representative of the effects on reported net income or loss in future years
because the number of future shares to be issued under these plans is not known and the assumptions used to
determine the fair value can vary significantly.

On August 18, 2005, the Compensation and Human Resources Committee of our Board of Directors
accelerated the vesting of all outstanding and unvested stock options that have an exercise price equal to or
greater than $3.79, which was the closing market price of our common stock on such date. As a result of the
acceleration, 50.4 million stock options, of which 10.5 million stock options were held by our executive officers,
became exercisable on August 18, 2005. Aside from the acceleration of the vesting date, the terms and conditions
of the stock option agreements governing the underlying stock options remain unchanged.

The purpose of the acceleration was to avoid recognizing future compensation expense associated with the
accelerated options upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123R. SFAS No. 123R sets forth accounting requirements for
“share-based” compensation to employees and requires companies to recognize in their income statements the
grant-date fair value of stock options and other equity-based compensation. We estimate that future
compensation expense will be reduced by approximately $80 million over the remaining vesting period of the
options as a result of the acceleration.

Following are the weighted-average assumptions used with the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to
estimate the fair value of options granted in 2005, 2004 and 2003:

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Risk-free interest rate ... ....... ...ttt 38% 28% 27%
Expected dividend yield .. ....... ... .. .. .. . 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected option life (years) . ........ ..., 4.4 4.3 4.4
Expected stock price volatility .. ............ .. .. i 88% 88% 88%
Weighted-average grant date fairvalue ............................. $2.74  $3.10  $2.37

Two of the more significant assumptions used in this estimate are the expected option life and the expected
volatility, both of which we estimated based on historical information.
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Restricted Stock

In 2005 1,704,000 shares of restricted stock were granted under the Equity Incentive Plan. In 2004 and
2003, we did not grant any shares of restricted stock under the Equity Incentive Plan. Based on prior grants,

compensation expense of $1 million, $1 million and $2 million was recognized for restricted stock grants in
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”’) under which we are authorized to issue shares of our
common stock to eligible employees. As a result of our failure to file with the SEC, various of our quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q and our failure to file our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002, we temporarily suspended the ESPP in August 2002. In December 2003, an amended and restated ESPP
was approved by the shareholders. Under the amended plan, we are authorized to issue 27 million shares of our
common stock to eligible employees. Enrollment in the amended ESPP plan began in January 2004 and the first
distribution of stock occurred during the first week of March 2004. Under the terms of the ESPP, eligible
employees may authorize payroll deductions of up to 15% of their base compensation, as defined, to purchase
our common stock at a price of 85% of the fair market value of our common stock on the last trading day of the
month in which our common stock is purchased. In the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 approximately
2,064,000 shares and 2,257,000 shares, respectively, were purchased under this plan at weighted-average
purchase prices of $3.46 and $3.23 per share respectively. No shares were purchased under this plan in the year
ended December 31, 2003 due to the suspension. In accordance with APB No. 25, we do not recognize
compensation expense for the difference between the employees’ purchase price and the fair market value of the
stock.

Note 13: Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock ($0.01 par value)

We are authorized to issue up to 5.0 billion shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share. As of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, there were 1.867 billion and 1.817 billion shares issued and 1.866 billion and
1.816 billion shares outstanding, respectively.

Preferred Stock ($1.00 par value)

Under our charter, our Board has the authority, without stockholder approval, to (1) create one or more
classes or series within a class of preferred stock, (2) issue shares of preferred stock in such class or series up to
the maximum number of shares of the relevant class or series of preferred stock authorized and (3) determine the
preferences, rights, privileges and restrictions of any such class or series, including the dividend rights, voting
rights, the rights and terms of redemption, the rights and terms of conversion, liquidation preferences, the number
of shares constituting any such class or series and the designation of such class or series. One of the effects of
authorized but unissued and unreserved shares of capital stock may be to render more difficult or discourage an
attempt by a potential acquirer to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or
otherwise and thereby protect the continuity of our management. The issuance of such shares of capital stock
may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us without any further action by
our stockholders. We have no present intention to adopt a stockholder rights plan, but could do so without
stockholder approval at any future time.

As of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, there were 200 million shares of preferred stock authorized but
no shares issued or outstanding.
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Treasury Stock
Debt for Equity Exchanges

During 2005, 2004 and 2003, we issued 38.3 million, 36.4 million and 52.5 million shares of our common
stock with an aggregate value of $145 million, $144 million and $202 million, respectively, in exchange for
certain outstanding debt.

Deferred Compensation—Rabbi Trust

Rabbi trusts were established for two of our deferred compensation plans. During 2005 one of the rabbi
trusts liquidated all of the shares of our common stock that it held. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the rabbi
trusts held approximately 62,000 and 168,000 shares of our common stock with a cost of $3 million and
$8 million, respectively. Shares of our common stock held by the rabbi trusts are accounted for as treasury stock,
but are considered outstanding for legal purposes.

Earnings Per Share

The weighted-average number of shares used in computing basic and diluted income (loss) per share for
the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was 1.836 billion, 1.801 billion and 1.739 billion,
respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the effect of approximately 135 million,
127 million and 126 million, respectively, of outstanding stock options was excluded from the calculation of
diluted income (loss) per share because the effect was anti-dilutive. As described in Note 8: Borrowings, in
November 2005 we issued 3.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025. Due to the terms of conversion in the
Indenture, any hypothetical conversion during 2005 would not have resulted in the issuance of shares of our
common stock. Therefore, there is no impact of potential conversion of these 3.50% Convertible Senior Notes
due 2025 on the calculation of the weighted-average number of shares for 2005.

Dividends
We did not declare any dividends during 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Note 14: Income Taxes

We are currently generating net operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes. The $88 million expense we
recognized in 2004 is primarily related to the adjustment of our accrual for uncertain tax positions or strategies
(“Uncertain Tax Positions”), including $158 million related to the Contested Liability Acceleration Strategy
(“CLAS”) offset by reductions in the estimated liabilities for other Uncertain Tax Positions. We do not expect to
recognize income tax benefits for future net operating losses until we generate taxable income. An income tax
provision will continue to be recognized for changes in our estimated liability for Uncertain Tax Positions.

In 2004, we recorded income tax expense of $158 million related to a change in the expected timing of
deductions related to our tax strategy, referred to as CLAS, which we implemented in 2000. CLAS is a strategy
that sets aside assets to provide for the satisfaction of asserted liabilities associated with litigation in a tax
efficient manner. CLAS accelerated deductions for contested liabilities by placing assets for potential litigation
liabilities out of the control of the Company and into trusts managed by a third-party trustee. In 2004, we were
formally notified by the IRS that it was contesting the CLAS tax strategy. Also in 2004, as a result of a series of
notices on CLAS strategies issued by the IRS and the receipt of legal advice with respect thereto, we adjusted our
accounting for CLAS as required by SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS No. 109”). The
change in expected timing of deductions caused an increase in our liability for uncertain tax positions and a
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corresponding increase in our net operating loss carry-forwards (“NOLs”). Because we are not currently
forecasting future taxable income sufficient to realize the benefits of this increase in our NOLs, we recorded an
increase in our valuation allowance on deferred tax assets as required by SFAS No. 109. Additionally, in 2004
the IRS proposed a penalty of $37 million on this strategy. The Company believes that the imposition of a
penalty is not appropriate as it acted in good faith in implementing this tax strategy in reliance on two
contemporaneous tax opinions and adequately disclosed this transaction to the IRS in its initial and subsequent
tax returns. We intend to vigorously defend our position on this and other tax matters.

In 2004, the IRS billed us for additional taxes due for past years. This billing relates to the preparation of a
carryback claim from the year 2000, and resulted in additional Alternative Minimum Tax (“AMT”) due. The
payment of this AMT liability results in AMT Credit carryforwards the majority of which we expect to realize as
a reduction in any payments we make against our liabilities for uncertain tax positions. In 2004, we paid
$186 million, including $16 million for interest, for this matter.

The components of the income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in millions)

Current tax (benefit) provision:

Federal . ... $(1) $ 94 $—

Stateand local . ....... ... 3 6 6
Total current tax Provision . .............c..coeuiiniinninnenna.. 2 100 6
Deferred tax (benefit) provision:

Federal ........ ... . .. . . . . . @))] — 441)

Stateand local .......... ... .. .. .. .. ... ﬁ) (12) (84)
Total deferred tax benefit ........... ... .. ... . ... .. . . . ... ﬁ) (12) (525)
Income tax (benefit) eXpense . ..............oiiiiii... $£) $ 88 $(519)

The effective tax rate for our continuing operations differs from the statutory tax rate as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
(in percent)

Federal statutory income taX rate .. ............couvterenenennnn.. 35.0%  35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes—net of federal effect and tax benefit of losses not

TECOZNMIZEA . . .ot 0.1 0.3 2.8
Non-deductible Securities and Exchange Commission settlement .. ... — 5.1 —
Medicare subsidy . .........i i 1.9 0.8 —
Uncertain tax position changes .............. ..., 0.2 (6.1) —
Other ..o 0.1 (1.2) 0.1
Federal tax benefit from loss not recognized ...................... (36.9) (28.8) 9.6)
Effective incOme tax rate . ............uririninreneennnnanan.. 0.4% 5.D)% 28.3%
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The components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31,

2005 2004
(Dollars in millions)
Net operating loss carryforwards . ............. ... $2242  $2316
Post-retirement benefits and pensions . ............. ... .., 792 791
State deferred taxes—net of federal effect ............................... 437 460
O her . .o 754 829
4,225 4,396
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets ..................covurinenn... (2,459) (2,533)
Net deferred tax aSSEtS . .. e 1,766 1,863
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets ....................... (1,305) (1,392)
Deferred revenue . . .......... . e (237) (231)
State deferred taxes—mnet of federal effect ........... ... .. ... .. ......... (182) (192)
O her . .o (14) (17)
Total deferred tax liabilities .............. ... .. i, (1,738) (1,832)
Net deferred taX aSSELS . .. ..o vvn ittt et e e $ 28 $ 31

We received $5 million and $67 million in net income tax refunds in 2005 and 2003. We paid $164 million
in net income tax in 2004.

As of December 31, 2005, we had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $6 billion that may
expire between 2008 and 2025. Less than $100 million of the net operating loss carryforward expires before
2016. A valuation allowance has been established for the net operating loss carryforwards because we cannot
determine that it is more likely than not that we will ever realize these carryforwards. Although no net operating
loss carryforward expired in 2005, we recorded a $1 billion reduction in our reported net operating loss
carryforward and, at the same time, we recorded a corresponding reduction in the related valuation allowance as
a result of our current analysis of the sustainability of a particular tax position.

During 2005, we completed filing amended tax documents associated with the 2000 and 2001 restatements
of our consolidated financial statements. In connection with the completion of these filings, we completed the
true-up of the deferred income tax balances that were reported at December 31, 2004 in the above table as
follows. We increased our total deferred tax liabilities by $649 million and our total deferred tax assets by $560
million resulting in a reduction in our net deferred tax asset of $89 million with a corresponding reduction in the
valuation allowance. The true-up to our deferred tax assets includes an increase in other deferred tax assets of
$277 million, an increase in the tax benefit of our net operating loss carryforward of $297 million and a decrease
in deferred tax assets related to post-retirement benefits and pensions of $118 million and an increase in state
deferred taxes, net of federal effect of $104 million. The true-up to our deferred tax liabilities includes an
increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible of $557 million, an increase in deferred revenue of $231
million offset by a decrease in other deferred tax liabilities of $207 million and an increase of state deferred
taxes, net of federal effect of $68 million. These entries have no impact on our previously reported net deferred
tax assets, income tax benefit (expense), net (loss) income, stockholders’ deficit or cash flows.
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In 2004, we changed our state tax rate based on a review of our state apportionment factors and the current
tax rate of the states where we conduct business. The change resulted in a $26 million state deferred tax benefit,
which was offset by a corresponding increase in our valuation allowance.

We had unamortized investment tax credits of $71 million and $79 million as of December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively, included in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. These investment
tax credits are amortized over the lives of the related assets. At the end of 2005 we also have $69 million
($45 million net of federal income tax) of state investment tax credit carryforwards that will expire between 2008
and 2019, if not utilized.

Note 15: Segment Information

Our three segments are (1) wireline services, (2) wireless services and (3) other services. Until
September 2003, we operated a fourth segment, our directory publishing business, which, as described in
Note 4—Assets Held for Sale including Discontinued Operations, has been classified as discontinued operations
and accordingly is not presented in our segment results below. Our chief operating decision maker (“CODM”)
regularly reviews the results of operations at a segment level to evaluate the performance of each segment and
allocate capital resources based on segment income as defined below.

Segment income consists of each segment’s revenue and direct expenses. Segment revenue is based on the
types of products and services offered as described below. Segment expenses include employee-related costs,
facility costs, network expenses and non-employee related costs such as customer support, collections and
marketing. We manage indirect administrative services costs such as finance, information technology, real estate
and legal centrally; consequently, these costs are assigned to the other services segment. We manage
depreciation, amortization, interest expense, interest income and other income (expense) on a total company
basis. As a result, these charges are not included in any segment.

Our wireline services segment includes revenue from the provision of voice services and data and Internet
services. Voice services consist of local voice services (such as basic local exchange services), long-distance voice
services (such as IntraLATA long-distance services and InterLATA long-distance services) and other voice services
(such as operator services, public telephone service, enhanced voice services, CPE and collocation services). Voice
services revenue is also generated on a wholesale basis from network transport and billing services, wholesale long-
distance service revenue (included in long-distance services revenue) and wholesale access revenue (included in
local voice services revenue). Data and Internet services include data services (such as traditional private lines,
wholesale private lines, frame relay, asynchronous transfer mode and related CPE) and Internet services (such as
high-speed Internet, dedicated Internet access (“DIA”), virtual private network (“VPN”), Internet dial access, web
hosting, professional services and related CPE). Revenue from optical capacity transactions is also included in
revenue from data services. Depending on the product or service purchased, a customer may pay an up-front fee, a
monthly fee, a usage charge or a combination of these fees and charges.

Our wireless services are provided through our wholly owned subsidiary, Qwest Wireless. In August 2003,
Qwest Wireless entered into a services agreement with a third-party provider that allows us to resell wireless
services, including access to the third-party provider’s nationwide personal communications service wireless
network, to mass markets and business customers primarily within our local service area. We began offering
these services under our brand name in March 2004.

Our other services segment consists of revenue and expenses from other operations and our centrally
managed departments. Other services revenue is predominately derived from subleases of some of our unused
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real estate assets, such as space in our office buildings, warehouses and other properties. Our other services
segment expenses include unallocated corporate expenses for functions such as finance, information technology,
legal, marketing services and human resources, which we centrally manage.

Other than as already described herein, the accounting principles used are the same as those used in our
consolidated financial statements. The revenue shown below for each segment is derived from transactions with
external customers. Internally, we do not separately track the total assets of our wireline services or other
services segments.

Segment information for the three years ended December 31, 2005 is summarized in the following table. We
have revised the segment expenses and segment income amounts presented for 2004 and 2003 to conform to the
way the segment information is currently presented to our CODM.

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in millions)

Operating revenue:

WIreline SEIVICes . .. ..o oot e e e $13,335  $13,255  $13,647
WIrEless SEIVICES . v vt vvi et et e e 527 514 598
Other SEIVICES . . oottt e e e 41 40 43
Total operating revenue . .................ouuenen.. $13,903  $13,809  $14,288
Operating expenses:
Wireling ServiCes . ...........uiuiiri .. $ 6,600 $ 693 $ 7,826
WIrElESS SEIVICES . . v v i ittt e e e 598 501 351
Other SErViCes . . ... oottt e e 2,785 3,367 2,968
Total SegMent EXPEenSes . ... ..vvewrneeruneennnennn. $ 9,983 $10,861  $11,145
Segment income (loss):
WIrEline SEIVICES . . v v vttt e e e e e e e $ 6735 $ 6,262 $ 5821
Wireless SEIVICeS ... .o vt et (71) 13 247
Other SEIVICES . . .t v ittt e e e e e (2,744) (3,327) (2,925)
Total segment inCome .. ............couvuernenn.... $ 3,920 $ 2,948 $ 3,143
Capital expenditures:
Wireling Services .. .........ouiii i $ 1,248  $ 1,351  $ 1,562
WIrEless SEIVICES . v v v vvi et et e e 2 5 13
Other SEIVICES . . oottt e e e 363 375 513
Total cash capital expenditures ..................... $ 1,613 $ 1,731 $ 2,088
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The following table reconciles segment income to net loss for each of the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003:

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in millions)
SegmeNntinCome ... ...\ttt $3920 $2948 $3,143
Depreciation . ...ttt (2,612) (2,626) (2,739)
Capitalized software and other intangible assets amortization . . (453) 497) (428)
Asset impairment charges ............. ... .. .. . . ... — (113) (230)
Total other expense—net . .............vuininennenenen.. (1,615) (1,418) (1,578)
Income tax benefit (expense) ............couiiiiin... 3 (88) 519
Income and gain from sale of discontinued operations—net of
LA S & v vttt — — 2,619
Cumulative effect of accounting changes—net of taxes ....... (22) — 206
Net (I0SS) INCOME . .o\ v ettt ettt e e $ (779 $(1,794) $ 1,512

Set forth below is revenue information for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 for revenue
derived from external customers for our products and services.

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in millions)

Operating revenue:

Wireline voice SErvViCes ... ... ..., $ 9239 $ 9423 $ 9,832
Wireline data and Internet services ...................... 4,096 3,832 3,765
WIrEless SEIVICES . v v v vvi et et e e 527 514 598
Other SEIVICES . . oottt e e e 41 40 43
Total operating TeVeNnUe . ... ... .......uueuninenennenenan... $13,903  $13,809  $14,288

We provide a variety of telecommunications services on a domestic and international basis to business,
government, mass market and wholesale customers.

We do not have any single major customer that provides more than ten percent of the total of our revenue
derived from external customers.

Note 16: Related Party Transactions

In October 1999, we agreed to purchase certain telephony-related assets and all of the stock of Precision
Systems, Inc., a telecommunications solutions provider, from Anschutz Digital Media, Inc., a subsidiary of
Anschutz Company (which is our largest stockholder), in exchange for a promissory note in the amount of
$34 million. The note bears interest at 6% annually with semi-annual interest payments and annual principal
payments due through 2008. During 2005, 2004 and 2003, we paid $2 million, $2 million and $4 million in
interest, respectively, and $5 million, $4 million and $3 million in principal, respectively, on the note. At
December 31, 2005, the outstanding accrued interest on the note was approximately $250,000 and the
outstanding principal balance on the note was $21.4 million.
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Note 17: Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments
Future Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our future contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2005:

Payments Due by Period

2011 and
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter Total

(Dollars in millions)

Future Contractual Obligations:(1)

Long-termdebt ...................... $ 495 % 996 $ 595 $1,315 $ 927 $11,264 $15,592
Interestondebt(2) .................... 1,114 1,047 1,001 907 847 6,888 11,804
Capital lease and other obligations ....... 35 33 30 21 8 45 172
Operatingleases . ..................... 289 261 233 213 182 1,125 2,303
Subtotal ........................ 1,933 2,337 1,859 2456 1,964 19,322 29,871
Purchase commitment obligations:(3) (5)
Telecommunications
commitments (4) ............... 166 87 66 10 — — 329
IRU operating and maintenance
obligations .................... 17 17 17 17 17 195 280
Advertising and promotion ......... 37 32 31 31 31 174 336
Services ... 12 10 6 1 1 — 30
Total purchase commitment
obligations ................ 232 146 120 59 49 369 975
Total future contractual
obligations . . .................. $2,165 $2,483 $1,979 $2,515 $2,013 $19,691 $30,846

(1) The table does not include:

e our open purchase orders as of December 31, 2005. These purchase orders are generally at fair value,
are generally cancelable without penalty and are part of normal operations;

e accounts payable of $773 million, accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $2.3 billion, and
other long-term liabilities of $1.5 billion, all of which are recorded on our December 31, 2005
consolidated balance sheet; and

e any amounts related to the legal contingencies described herein.

(2) Interest expense in all years may differ due to future refinancing of debt. Interest on our floating rate debt
was calculated for all years using the rates effective as of December 31, 2005.

(3) We have various long-term, non-cancelable purchase commitments for advertising and promotion services,
including advertising and marketing at sports arenas and other venues and events. We also have service
related commitments with various vendors for data processing, technical and software support. Future
payments under certain services contracts will vary depending on our actual usage. In the table above we
estimated payments for these service contracts based on the level of services we expect to receive.
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(4) In the ordinary course of business and in order to optimize our cost structure, we enter into contractual
obligations to utilize network facilities from local exchange carriers with terms greater than one year. Since
the contracts generally have no minimum volume requirements and are based on an interrelationship of
volumes and discounted rates, we assessed our minimum commitment based on the termination fees to exit
the contracts, assuming we exited the contracts on December 31, 2005. At December 31, 2005 the
termination fees that would have been incurred to exit all such contracts would have been approximately
$382 million. These termination fees are excluded from the above table as the fees would not be paid in
every year and the timing of such payments, if any, is uncertain. We believe that the payment of these fees
is remote in the future under normal business conditions.

(5) We calculated the minimum obligation for certain agreements to purchase goods or services based on
termination fees that may have to be paid to exit the contract. If we elect to exit these contracts, termination
fees for all such contracts could be approximately $228 million in 2006. These termination fees are
excluded from the above table as the fees would not be paid in every year and the timing of such payments,
if any, is uncertain. We believe that the payment of these fees is remote in the future under normal business
conditions.

Capital Leases. We lease certain office facilities and equipment under various capital lease arrangements.
Assets acquired through capital leases during 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $50 million, $56 million and
$36 million, respectively. Assets recorded under capitalized lease agreements included in property, plant and
equipment consisted of $208 million, $174 million and $183 million of cost less accumulated amortization of
$55 million, $50 million and $80 million at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The future minimum payments under capital leases as of December 31, 2005 are reconciled to our
consolidated balance sheet as follows:

Capital Lease
Obligations
(Dollars in
millions)
Total MINIMUM PAYMENLS . . o .\ttt ettt et e e et ee e e e e e $172
Less: amount representing interest and executory cCosts . ................. (60)
Present value of minimum payments ................ ... 112
Less: current portion . .. .......ut ittt e (19)
Long-term portion .. ...ttt $ 93

Operating Leases. Certain office facilities, real estate and equipment are subject to operating leases. We also
have easement (or right-of-way) agreements with railroads and public transportation authorities that are
accounted for as operating leases. Rent expense under these operating leases was $455 million, $405 million and
$479 million during 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, net of sublease rentals of $35 million, $36 million and
$33 million, respectively. Future contractual obligations for operating leases as reported in the table above have
not been reduced by minimum sublease rentals of $197 million we expect to be realized under non-cancelable
subleases.

Employee Benefit Plans. We offer pension, non-qualified, post-retirement healthcare and life insurance
benefits to certain current and future retirees, some of which are due under contractual agreements. Pension and
certain occupational post-retirement benefits are paid through trusts and therefore are not included in this table as
we are not able to reliably estimate future required contributions to the trusts. As of December 31, 2005, our
qualified defined benefit pension plan was fully funded. As of December 31, 2005, we had a liability recorded on
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our balance sheet of $3.459 billion for non-qualified pension, post-retirement healthcare and life insurance and
other post-employment benefit obligations. The liability is impacted by various actuarial assumptions and will
differ from the sum of the future value of actuarially estimated payments. See further discussion of our benefit
plans in Note 11—Employee Benefits.

Letters of Credit and Guarantees

We maintain letter of credit arrangements with various financial institutions for up to $147 million. At
December 31, 2005, the amount of letters of credit outstanding was $144 million.

As described further in Note 19—Financial Statements of Guarantors, certain Qwest entities have
guaranteed the payment of debt, leases or letter of credit obligations of other Qwest entities.

Contingencies

Throughout this note, when we refer to a class action as “putative” it is because a class has been alleged, but
not certified in that matter. Until and unless a class has been certified by the court, it has not been established that
the named plaintiffs represent the class of plaintiffs they purport to represent. To the extent appropriate, we have
provided reserves for each of the matters described below.

Settlement of Consolidated Securities Action

Twelve putative class actions purportedly brought on behalf of purchasers of our publicly traded securities
between May 24, 1999 and February 14, 2002 have been consolidated into a consolidated securities action
pending in federal district court in Colorado. The first of these actions was filed on July 27, 2001. Plaintiffs
allege, among other things, that defendants issued false and misleading financial results and made false
statements about our business and investments, including making materially false statements in certain of our
registration statements. The most recent complaint in this matter seeks unspecified compensatory damages and
other relief. However, counsel for plaintiffs indicated that the putative class would seek damages in the tens of
billions of dollars. The SPA action described below has also been consolidated with the consolidated securities
action.

On November 23, 2005, we, certain other defendants, and the putative class representatives entered into and
filed with the federal district court in Colorado a Stipulation of Partial Settlement that, if implemented, will settle
the consolidated securities action against us and certain other defendants. On January 5, 2006, the federal district
court in Colorado issued an order (1) preliminarily approving the proposed settlement, (2) setting a hearing for
May 19, 2006 to consider final approval of the proposed settlement, and (3) certifying a class, for settlement
purposes only, on behalf of purchasers of our publicly traded securities between May 24, 1999 and July 28, 2002.

Under the proposed settlement agreement, we would pay a total of $400 million in cash—$100 million of
which was paid 30 days after preliminary approval of the proposed settlement by the federal district court in
Colorado, $100 million of which would be paid 30 days after final approval of the settlement by the court, and
$200 million of which would be paid on January 15, 2007, plus interest at 3.75% per annum on the $200 million
between the date of final approval by the court and the date of payment.

If approved, the proposed settlement agreement will settle the individual claims of the class representatives
and the claims of the class they represent against us and all defendants in the consolidated securities action,
except Joseph Nacchio, our former chief executive officer, and Robert Woodruff, our former chief financial
officer. (The non-class action brought by SPA that is consolidated for certain purposes with the consolidated

107



QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

securities action is not part of the settlement.) As part of the proposed settlement, we would receive $10 million
from Arthur Andersen LLP, which would also be released by the class representatives and the class they
represent, which will offset $10 million of the $400 million that would be payable by us.

The proposed settlement agreement is subject to a number of conditions and future contingencies. Among
others, it (i) requires final court approval; (ii) provides plaintiffs with the right to terminate the settlement if the
$250 million we previously paid to the SEC in settlement of its investigation against us is not distributed to the
class members; (iii) provides us with the right to terminate the settlement if class members representing more
than a specified amount of alleged securities losses elect to opt out of the settlement; (iv) provides us with the
right to terminate the settlement if we do not receive adequate protections for claims relating to substantive
liabilities of non-settling defendants; and (v) is subject to review on appeal even if the district court were finally
to approve it. Any lawsuits that may be brought by parties opting out of the settlement will be vigorously
defended regardless of whether the settlement described herein is consummated. No parties admit any
wrongdoing as part of the proposed settlement.

DOJ Investigation and Remaining Securities Actions

The Department of Justice, or DOJ, investigation and the securities actions described below present material
and significant risks to us. The size, scope and nature of the restatements of our consolidated financial statements
for 2001 and 2000, which are described in our previously issued consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2002, or our 2002 Financial Statements, affect the risks presented by this investigation and
these actions, as these matters involve, among other things, our prior accounting practices and related
disclosures. Plaintiffs in certain of the securities actions have alleged our restatement of items in support of their
claims. We can give no assurance as to the impacts on our financial results or financial condition that may
ultimately result from all of these matters.

We have a reserve recorded in our financial statements of approximately $105 million relating to the
remaining securities actions described below, which amount represents the minimum estimated amount of loss
we believe is probable with respect to these matters. We have recorded our estimate of the minimum liability of
these matters because no estimate of probable loss for these matters is a better estimate than any other amount. If
the recorded reserve is insufficient to cover these matters, we will need to record additional charges to our
consolidated statement of operations in future periods. Additionally, we are unable at this time to provide a
reasonable estimate of the upper end of the range of loss associated with these matters due to their complex
nature and current status, and, as a result, the amount we have reserved for these matters is our estimate of the
lowest end of the possible range of loss. The ultimate outcomes of these matters are still uncertain and the
amount of loss we may ultimately incur could be substantially more than the reserve we have provided.

We believe that it is probable that a portion of the recorded reserve for the remaining securities actions
described below and the consolidated securities action described above will be recoverable from a portion of the
insurance proceeds that were placed in a trust to cover our losses and the losses of individual insureds following
our November 2003 settlement of disputes with certain of our insurance carriers related to, among other things,
the DOJ investigation and securities actions. The insurance proceeds are subject to claims by us and other
insureds for, among other things, the costs of defending certain matters and, as a result, such proceeds are being
depleted over time. In any event, the terms and conditions of applicable bylaws, certificates or articles of
incorporation, agreements or applicable law may obligate us to indemnify our current and former directors,
officers and employees with respect to certain liabilities, and we have been advancing legal fees and costs to
many current and former directors, officers and employees in connection with the DOJ investigation, securities
actions and certain other matters.
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We continue to defend against the securities actions described below vigorously and are currently unable to
provide any estimate as to the timing of the resolution of these actions. Any settlement of or judgment in one or
more of these actions substantially in excess of our recorded reserves could have a significant impact on us, and
we can give no assurance that we will have the resources available to pay any such judgment. The magnitude of
any settlement or judgment resulting from these actions could materially and adversely affect our ability to meet
our debt obligations and our financial condition, potentially impacting our credit ratings, our ability to access
capital markets and our compliance with debt covenants. In addition, the magnitude of any such settlement or
judgment may cause us to draw down significantly on our cash balances, which might force us to obtain
additional financing or explore other methods to generate cash. Such methods could include issuing additional
securities or selling assets.

DOJ Investigation

On July 9, 2002, we were informed by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of Colorado of a criminal
investigation of our business. We believe the U.S. Attorney’s Office has investigated various matters that include
transactions related to the various adjustments and restatements described in our 2002 Financial Statements,
transactions between us and certain of our vendors and certain investments in the securities of those vendors by
individuals associated with us, and certain prior disclosures made by us. We are continuing in our efforts to
cooperate fully with the U.S. Attorney’s Office in its investigation. However, we cannot predict the outcome of
this investigation or the timing of its resolution.

Remaining Securities Actions

We are a defendant in the securities actions described below. Plaintiffs in these actions have variously
alleged, among other things, that we violated federal and state securities laws, engaged in fraud, civil conspiracy
and negligent misrepresentation, and breached fiduciary duties owed to investors and current and former
employees. Other defendants in one or more of these actions include current and former directors of Qwest,
former officers and employees of Qwest, Arthur Andersen LLP, certain investment banks and others.

* ERISA actions. Seven putative class actions purportedly brought on behalf of all participants and
beneficiaries of the Qwest Savings and Investment Plan and predecessor plans, or the Plan, from
March 7, 1999 until January 12, 2004 have been consolidated into a consolidated action in federal
district court in Colorado. These suits also purport to seek relief on behalf of the Plan. The first of these
actions was filed in March 2002. Plaintiffs assert breach of fiduciary duty claims against us and others
under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, alleging, among other
things, various improprieties in managing holdings of our stock in the Plan. Plaintiffs seek damages,
equitable and declaratory relief, along with attorneys’ fees and costs and restitution. Counsel for
plaintiffs has indicated that the putative class will seek billions of dollars of damages. A non-class
action alleging similar claims was filed in the federal district court in Montana in June 2003 and was
later transferred to federal district court in Colorado.

* Colorado action. A putative class action purportedly brought on behalf of purchasers of our stock
between June 28, 2000 and June 27, 2002 and owners of U S WEST, Inc. stock on June 28, 2000 is
pending in Colorado in the District Court for the County of Boulder. This action was filed on June 27,
2002. Plaintiffs allege, among other things, that the defendants issued false and misleading statements
and engaged in improper accounting practices in order to accomplish the Merger, to make us appear
successful and to inflate the value of our stock. Plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary damages,
disgorgement of illegal gains and other relief.
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New Jersey action. An action by the State of New Jersey (Treasury Department, Division of
Investment), or New Jersey, is pending in the New Jersey Superior Court, Mercer County. This action
was filed on November 27, 2002. New Jersey alleges, among other things, that defendants caused our
stock to trade at artificially inflated prices by employing improper accounting practices and by issuing
false statements about our business, revenue and profits, and contends that it incurred hundreds of
millions of dollars in losses. Among other requested relief, New Jersey seeks from the defendants,
jointly and severally, compensatory, consequential, incidental and punitive damages.

CalSTRS action. An action by the California State Teachers’ Retirement System, or CalSTRS, is
pending in the Superior Court of the State of California in and for the County of San Francisco. This
action was filed on December 10, 2002. CalSTRS alleges, among other things, that defendants engaged
in a scheme that falsely inflated our revenues and decreased our expenses so that we would appear more
successful than we actually were during the period in which CalSTRS purchased our securities, and
CalSTRS asserts that defendants’ actions caused it to lose in excess of $150 million invested in our
equity and debt securities. Plaintiff seeks compensatory, special and punitive damages, restitution,
pre-judgment interest and costs.

SURSI action. An action by the State Universities Retirement System of Illinois, or SURSI, is pending
in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois. This action was filed on January 10, 2003. SURSI alleges,
among other things, that defendants engaged in a scheme to falsely inflate our revenue and decrease our
expenses by improper conduct related to transactions with various customers and suppliers and claims
that its losses from investments in our securities are in excess of $12.5 million. SURSI seeks, among
other things, compensatory and punitive damages, costs, equitable relief, including an injunction to
freeze or prevent disposition of the defendants’ assets, and disgorgement.

SPA action. An action by Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP, or SPA, is pending in federal district court in
Colorado. This action was filed on February 9, 2004. SPA alleges, among other things, that defendants
created a false perception of our revenue and growth prospects and that its losses from investments in
our securities are in excess of $100 million. SPA seeks, among other things, compensatory and punitive
damages, rescission or rescissionary damages, pre-judgment interest, attorneys’ fees and costs.

SHC action. An action by Shriners Hospital for Children, or SHC, is pending in federal district court in
Colorado. This action was filed on March 22, 2004. SHC alleges, among other things, that defendants
issued false and misleading financial reports about us. SHC alleges compensatory damages of
approximately $17 million. SHC seeks compensatory and punitive damages, interest, costs and
attorneys’ fees.

TRSL action. An action by the Teachers’ Retirement System of Louisiana, or TRSL, is pending in
federal district court in Colorado. This action was filed on or about March 30, 2004. TRSL alleges,
among other things, that defendants issued false and misleading financial reports about us. TRSL alleges
compensatory damages of approximately $23 million. TRSL seeks compensatory and punitive damages,
interest, costs and attorneys’ fees.

NYC Funds action. An action by a number of New York City pension and retirement funds, or NYC
Funds, is pending in federal district court in Colorado. This action was filed on September 22, 2004.
NYC Funds allege, among other things, that defendants created a false perception of our revenue and
growth prospects and that their losses from investments in our securities are in excess of $300 million.
NYC Funds seek, among other things, compensatory and punitive damages, rescission or rescissionary
damages, pre-judgment interest, attorneys’ fees and costs.
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KPNQwest Litigation/Investigation

A putative class action is pending in the federal district court for the Southern District of New York against
us, certain of our former executives who were also on the supervisory board of KPNQwest, N.V. (of which we
were a major shareholder), and others. This lawsuit was initially filed on October 4, 2002. The current complaint
alleges, on behalf of certain purchasers of KPNQwest securities, that, among other things, defendants engaged in
a fraudulent scheme and deceptive course of business in order to inflate KPNQwest’s revenue and the value of
KPNQwest securities. Plaintiffs seek compensatory damages and/or rescission as appropriate against defendants,
as well as an award of plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and costs. On February 3, 2006, we, certain other defendants and
the putative class representative in this action executed an agreement to settle the case against us and certain
other defendants. Under the settlement agreement, we will pay $5.5 million in cash to the settlement fund no later
than 30 days following preliminary court approval, and no later than 30 days following final approval by the
court, we will issue shares of our stock to the settlement fund then valued at $5.5 million as additional
consideration for the settlement. The settlement agreement would settle the individual claims of the putative class
representative and the claims of the class he purports to represent against us and all defendants except
Koninklijke KPN N.V. a/k/a Royal KPN N.V., Willem Ackermans, Eelco Blok, Joop Drechsel, Martin Pieters,
and Rhett Williams. The settlement agreement is subject to a number of conditions and future contingencies.
Among others, it (i) requires both preliminary and final court approval; (ii) provides us with the right to terminate
the settlement if class members representing more than a specified amount of alleged securities losses elect to opt
out of the settlement; (iii) provides us with the right to terminate the settlement if we do not receive adequate
protections for claims relating to substantive liabilities of non-settling defendants; and (iv) is subject to review on
appeal even if the district court were finally to approve it. Any lawsuits that may be brought by parties opting out
of the settlement will be vigorously defended regardless of whether the settlement described herein is
consummated. No parties admit wrongdoing as a part of the settlement agreement.

On October 31, 2002, Richard and Marcia Grand, co-trustees of the R.M. Grand Revocable Living Trust,
dated January 25, 1991, filed a lawsuit in Arizona Superior Court which, as amended, alleges, among other
things, that the defendants violated state and federal securities laws and breached their fiduciary duty in
connection with investments by plaintiffs in securities of KPNQwest. We are a defendant in this lawsuit along
with Qwest B.V. (one of our subsidiaries), Joseph Nacchio, our former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
and John McMaster, the former President and Chief Executive Officer of KPNQwest. Plaintiffs claim to have
lost approximately $10 million in their investments in KPNQwest. The court granted defendants’ motion for
partial summary judgment with respect to a substantial portion of plaintiffs’ claims. The court entered judgment
for defendants on those claims and dismissed the remaining claims without prejudice. We have entered into a
tolling agreement with plaintiffs that allows them to re-file these remaining claims following their appeal of the
court’s order granting summary judgment to defendants on a substantial portion of plaintiffs’ claims. Plaintiffs
have filed such an appeal with the Arizona Court of Appeals.

On June 25, 2004, J.C. van Apeldoorn and E.T. Meijer, in their capacities as trustees in the Dutch
bankruptcy proceeding for KPNQwest, filed a complaint in the federal district court for the District of New
Jersey alleging violations of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, and breach of fiduciary
duty and mismanagement under Dutch law. We are a defendant in this lawsuit along with Joseph Nacchio,
Robert S. Woodruff, our former Chief Financial Officer, and John McMaster. Plaintiffs allege, among other
things, that defendants’ actions were a cause of the bankruptcy of KPNQwest and the bankruptcy deficit of
KPNQwest was in excess of $3 billion. Plaintiffs seek compensatory, treble and punitive damages, as well as an
award of plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and costs.

On June 17, 2005, Appaloosa Investment Limited Partnership I, Palomino Fund Ltd., and Appaloosa
Management L.P. filed a complaint in the federal district court for the Southern District of New York against us,
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Joseph Nacchio, John McMaster and Koninklijke KPN N.V., or KPN. The complaint alleges that defendants
violated federal securities laws in connection with the purchase by plaintiffs of certain KPNQwest debt
securities. Plaintiffs seek compensatory damages, as well as an award of plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and costs.

Various former lenders to KPNQwest or their assignees, including Citibank, N.A., Deutsche Bank AG
London and others, have notified us of their intent to file legal claims in connection with the origination of a
credit facility and subsequent borrowings made by KPNQwest of approximately €300 million under that facility.
They have indicated that we would be a defendant in this threatened lawsuit along with Joseph Nacchio, John
McMaster, Drake Tempest, our former General Counsel, KPN and other former employees of Qwest, KPN or
KPNQwest.

On August 23, 2005, the Dutch Shareholders Association (Vereniging van Effectenbezitters, or VEB) filed a
petition for inquiry with the Enterprise Chamber of the Amsterdam Court of Appeals, located in the Netherlands,
with regard to KPNQwest. VEB seeks an inquiry into the policies and course of business at KPNQwest that are
alleged to have caused the bankruptcy of KPNQwest in May 2002, and an investigation into alleged
mismanagement of KPNQwest by its executive management, supervisory board members, joint venture entities
(us and KPN), and KPNQwest’s outside auditors and accountants.

Other than the putative class action in which we have entered into a proposed settlement (and for which we
have recorded a reserve of $11 million in connection with the proposed settlement), we will continue to defend
against the pending KPNQwest litigation matters vigorously and will likewise defend against any claims asserted
by KPNQwest’s former lenders if litigation is filed.

Regulatory Matter

On July 15, 2004, the New Mexico state regulatory commission opened a proceeding to investigate whether
we are in compliance with or are likely to meet a commitment that we made in 2001 to invest in communications
infrastructure in New Mexico through March 2006 pursuant to an Alternative Form of Regulation plan, or
AFOR. The AFOR says, in part, that “Qwest commits to devote a substantial budget to infrastructure investment,
with the goal of achieving the purposes of this Plan. Specifically, Qwest will make capital expenditures of not
less than $788 million over the term of this Plan. This level of investment is necessary to meet the commitments
made in this Plan to increase Qwest’s investment and improve its service quality in New Mexico.” Multiple
parties filed comments in that proceeding and variously argued that we should be subject to a range of
requirements including an escrow account for capital spending, new investment obligations, and customer credits
or price reductions.

On April 14, 2005, the Commission issued its Final Order in connection with this investigation. In this Final
Order, the Commission ruled that the evidence in the record indicates we will not be in compliance with the
investment commitment at the conclusion of the AFOR in March 2006, and if the current trend in our capital
expenditures continues, there will be a shortfall of $200 million or more by the end of the AFOR. The
Commission also concluded that we have an unconditional commitment to invest $788 million over the life of
the AFOR. Finally, the Commission ruled that if we fail to satisfy this investment commitment, any shortfall
must be credited or refunded to our New Mexico customers. The Commission also opened an enforcement and
implementation docket to review our investments and consider the structure and size of any refunds or credits to
be issued to customers. On May 12 and 13, 2005, we filed appeals in federal district court and in the New
Mexico State Supreme Court, respectively, challenging the lawfulness of the Commission’s Final Order. On
May 31, 2005, the Commission issued an order, in response to a report we filed on May 20, 2005, designating a
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hearing examiner to conduct proceedings addressing whether customer credits and refunds should be imposed on
us based on our investment levels as of June 30, 2005, and prior to the expiration of the AFOR in March 2006.

We have vigorously argued, among other things, that the underlying purposes of the investment
commitment set forth in the AFOR have been met in that we have met all service quality and service deployment
obligations under the AFOR; that, in light of this, we should not be held to a specific amount of investment; and
that the Commission has failed to include all eligible investments in the calculation of how much we have
actually invested. Nevertheless, we believe it is unlikely the Commission will reverse its determination that we
have an unconditional obligation to invest $788 million. In addition, we have argued, and will continue to argue,
that customer credits or refunds are an impermissible and illegal form of relief for the Commission to order in the
event there is an investment shortfall. On January 30, 2006, Qwest filed with the New Mexico Commission an
Offer of Settlement and to Revise AFOR. This Offer proposes to extend the time period for Qwest to complete
$788 million in investments to three years following the approval of the Offer. Under the Offer, Qwest has
included within the $788 million of total investments a proposal to invest $85 million in projects approved by the
Commission. In an order dated February 7, 2006, the Commission rejected the Offer on technical grounds, ruling
that it was improper as to form. In this order, the Commission also encouraged Qwest and the other parties to
continue settlement negotiations.

We believe there is a substantial likelihood that the ultimate outcome of this matter will result in us having
to make expenditures or payments beyond those we would otherwise make in the normal course of business.
These expenditures or payments could take the form of one or more of the following: penalties, capital
investment, basic service rate reductions and customer refunds or credits. At this time, however, we are not able
to reasonably estimate the amount of these expenditures or payments and, accordingly, have not reserved any
amount for such potential liability. Any final resolution of this matter could be material.

Other Matters

Several putative class actions relating to the installation of fiber optic cable in certain rights-of-way were
filed against us on behalf of landowners on various dates and in various courts in California, Colorado, Georgia,
[linois, Indiana, Kansas, Mississippi, Missouri, North Carolina, Oregon, South Carolina, Tennessee and Texas.
For the most part, the complaints challenge our right to install our fiber optic cable in railroad rights-of-way.
Complaints in Colorado, Illinois and Texas, also challenge our right to install fiber optic cable in utility and
pipeline rights-of-way. The complaints allege that the railroads, utilities and pipeline companies own a limited
property right-of-way that did not include the right to permit us to install our fiber optic cable in the right-of-way
without the Plaintiffs’ consent. Most actions (California, Colorado, Georgia, Kansas, Louisiana, Mississippi,
Missouri, North Carolina, Oregon, South Carolina, Tennessee and Texas) purport to be brought on behalf of
state-wide classes in the named plaintiffs’ respective states. Several actions purport to be brought on behalf of
multi-state classes. The Illinois state court action purports to be on behalf of landowners in Illinois, lowa,
Kentucky, Michigan, Minnesota, Nebraska, Ohio and Wisconsin. The Illinois federal court action purports to be
on behalf of landowners in Arkansas, California, Florida, Illinois, Indiana, Missouri, Nevada, New Mexico,
Montana and Oregon. The Indiana action purports to be on behalf of a national class of landowners adjacent to
railroad rights-of-way over which our network passes. The complaints seek damages on theories of trespass and
unjust enrichment, as well as punitive damages.

The IRS proposed a tax adjustment for tax years 1994 through 1996. The principal issue involves the
allocation of costs between long-term contracts with customers for the installation of conduit or fiber optic cable
and additional conduit or fiber optic cable retained by us. The IRS disputes the allocation of the costs between us
and third parties. Similar claims have been asserted against us with respect to the 1997 to 1998 and the 1998 to
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2001 audit periods. The 1994-1996 claim is currently being litigated in the Tax Court, and we do not believe the
IRS will be successful, although the ultimate outcome is uncertain. If we were to lose this issue for the tax years
1994 through 1998, we estimate that we would have to pay approximately $57 million in tax plus approximately
$43 million in interest pursuant to tax sharing agreements with the Anschutz Company relating to those time
periods.

In 2004, we recorded income tax expense of $158 million related to a change in the expected timing of
deductions related to our tax strategy, referred to as the Contested Liability Acceleration Strategy, or CLAS,
which we implemented in 2000. CLAS is a strategy that sets aside assets to provide for the satisfaction of
asserted liabilities associated with litigation in a tax efficient manner. CLAS accelerated deductions for contested
liabilities by placing assets for potential litigation liabilities out of the control of the company and into trusts
managed by a third-party trustee. In 2004, we were formally notified by the IRS that it was contesting the CLAS
tax strategy. Also in 2004 as a result of a series of notices on CLAS strategies issued by the IRS and the receipt
of legal advice with respect thereto, we adjusted our accounting for CLAS as required by SFAS No. 109. The
change in expected timing of deductions caused an increase in our liability for uncertain tax positions and a
corresponding increase in our net operating loss carry-forwards, or NOLs. Because we are not currently
forecasting future taxable income sufficient to realize the benefits of this increase in our NOLs, we recorded an
increase in our valuation allowance on deferred tax assets as required by SFAS No. 109. Additionally, in 2004
the IRS proposed a penalty of $37 million on this strategy. We believe that the imposition of a penalty is not
appropriate as we acted in good faith in implementing this tax strategy in reliance on two contemporaneous tax
opinions and adequately disclosed this transaction to the IRS in our initial and subsequent tax returns. We intend
to vigorously defend our position on this and other tax matters.

We have other tax related matters pending against us, certain of which, in addition to CLAS, are before the
Appeals Office of the IRS. We believe we have adequately provided for these matters.

Note 18: Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Quarterly Financial Data

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

2005
OPperating reVENUE . . ..ottt et e ie e $3,449 $3.470 $3,504 $3,480 $13,903
Income (loss) from continuing operations . .. ................ 57 (164) (144) (506) (757)
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles—net . ... — — — (22) (22)
Netincome (I0SS) . ..o oottt e e 57 (164) (144) (528) (779)
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations . .. ............ 0.03 (0.09) (0.08) (0.27) 0.41)
Netincome (I0SS) . . oot et et 0.03 (0.09) (0.08) (0.28) (0.42)
2004
OPperating reVENUE . . ..ottt et e e e $3,481 $3,442 $3,449 $3,437 $13,809
Loss from continuing operations . .. ............c..couvuen... (310) (776) (569) (139) (1,794)
Nt 10SS ottt (310)  (776)  (569) (139) (1,794)
Basic and diluted loss per share:
Loss from continuing operations . ..................... (0.17) (0.43) (0.31) (0.09) (1.00)
Net10SS vttt (0.17)  (0.43) (0.31) (0.09) (1.00)
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Fourth Quarter 2005

Included in net loss is an after-tax loss of $430 million on the early retirement of debt, $74 million in
realignment costs and severance costs and an after-tax charge of $22 million resulting from FIN 47, relating to
accounting for conditional asset retirement obligations.

Third Quarter 2005

Included in net loss is an after-tax charge of $26 million for realignment and severance costs.

Second Quarter 2005

Included in net loss is an after-tax loss of $43 million on the early retirement of debt.

First Quarter 2005

Included in net loss is an after-tax gain of $257 million in connection with wireless asset sales of PCS
licenses and related wireless network assets.

Fourth Quarter 2004

Included in net loss is a reversal of the $36 million charge for tax penalties recorded in the third quarter; a
tax benefit of $27 million relating to a change in the allowance against deferred tax assets; and after-tax asset
impairment charges of $36 million.

Third Quarter 2004

Included in net loss is an after-tax charge of $250 million to increase litigation reserves; a charge of
$36 million for accrual of tax penalties; after-tax asset impairment charges of $34 million; and a tax benefit of
$16 million relating to a change in the valuation allowance.

Second Quarter 2004

Included in net loss is an after-tax charge of $300 million to increase litigation reserves; a tax charge of
$136 million relating to a change in the valuation allowance against deferred tax assets; an after-tax charge of
$128 million resulting from a planned workforce reduction; an after tax impairment charge of $43 million
relating to the payphone business and certain network supplies; and an after tax benefit of $50 million relating to
a favorable customer bankruptcy settlement.

Note 19: Financial Statements of Guarantors

In February 2004, QCII issued a total of $1.775 billion of senior notes, which consisted of $750 million of
Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2009 with interest at LIBOR plus 3.50%, $525 million of 7 ¥4% Senior Notes due
2011, and $500 million of 7 ¥2% Senior Notes due 2014, and in June 2005 QCII issued $800 million of 7 ¥2%
Senior Notes due 2014—Series B (collectively, the “QCII Guaranteed Notes”). In addition, over the period from
December 2002 to April 2003, we executed exchanges of approximately $5.8 billion in total face amount of QCF
notes for approximately $3.7 billion of QSC notes consisting of 13.00% Senior Subordinated Secured Notes due
2007, 13.50% Senior Subordinated Secured Notes due 2010 and 14.00% Senior Subordinated Secured Notes due
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2014 (collectively, the “QSC Guaranteed Notes”). Between December 2003 and December 2005, QSC purchased
or redeemed an aggregate of $3.7 billion face amount of the QSC Guaranteed Notes. As a result, as of

December 31, 2005, the outstanding QSC Guaranteed Notes totaled $22 million. The QCII Guaranteed Notes are
guaranteed by QCF and QSC. The QSC Guaranteed Notes are guaranteed by QCF and QCII on a senior
unsecured basis. Each series of QCF’s outstanding notes (the “QCF Guaranteed Notes”) totaling approximately
$3.5 billion are also guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by QCIL.

The guarantees are full and unconditional, and joint and several. A significant amount of QCII’s and QSC’s
income and cash flow are generated by their subsidiaries. As a result, funds necessary to meet each issuer’s debt
service obligations are provided in large part by distributions or advances from their subsidiaries. Under certain
circumstances, contractual and legal restrictions, as well as our and our subsidiaries’ financial condition and
operating requirements, could limit each issuer’s ability to obtain cash for the purpose of meeting its debt service
obligations including the payment of principal and interest on its notes.

In September 2005 and December 2005, QCII entered in a guaranty in the amount of $94 million with a
bank that issued a letter of credit for QSC. QCII unconditionally guaranteed full and punctual payment and
performance of QSC’s obligations.

QCII has also guaranteed the payments of nine real estate leases where QSC or one of its subsidiaries is the
tenant. Under the guarantees, QCII became secondarily liable for the leases if the tenant entity fails to make its
lease payments. The maximum potential amount of future payments QCII could be required to make under these
guarantees is $55 million for QSC and $235 million for QSC subsidiaries. The leases are all classified as
operating leases and are included in the Future Contractual Obligations table shown in Note 17: Commitments
and Contingencies.

The following information sets forth our consolidating balance sheets as of December 31, 2005 and
December 31, 2004 and our consolidating statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003 and our consolidating statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.
The information for QCII, QSC and QCF is presented for each entity on a stand-alone basis, including that
entity’s investments in all of its subsidiaries, if any, under the equity method. The direct subsidiaries of QCII that
are not guarantors of the QCII Guaranteed Notes or the QSC Guaranteed Notes are presented on a combined
basis. The subsidiaries of QSC that are not guarantors of the QCII Guaranteed Notes or the QSC Guaranteed
Notes are presented on a combined basis. Both QSC and QCF are 100% owned by QCII. Other than as already
described herein, the accounting principles used are the same as those used in our consolidated financial
statements.

We utilize lines of credit between certain of our entities, other intercompany obligations, capital

contributions and dividends (including partnership distributions) to manage our cash. Amounts outstanding under
these intercompany lines of credit and intercompany obligations may vary materially over time.
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

QcC1I QSsC
Subsidiary Subsidiary QCII
QCII(1) QSC(2) QCF(@3) Non-Guarantors Non-Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

(Dollars in millions)
Operating revenue . ............ $— $ — $§ — $ 8 $13,895 $ — $13,903
Operating revenue—affiliates .. .. — 1,343 — 37 156 (1,536) —
Operating expenses:
Cost of sales (exclusive of
depreciation and

amortization) ........... — 1,114 — — 5,804 (1,082) 5,836
Cost of sales—affiliates .. ... — 194 — — 95 (289) —
Selling, general and

administrative . .......... 105 — — 44 2,916 1,082 4,147
Selling, general and

administrative—affiliates . . — — — — 1,247 (1,247) —_
Depreciation .............. — 3 — — 2,609 — 2,612

Capitalized software and other
intangible assets

amortization ............ — — — — 453 — 453
Total operating
eXpenses . .......... 105 1,311 — 44 13,124 (1,536) 13,048
Other expense—net:
Interest expense—net . . .. ... 188 375 268 — 652 — 1,483
Interest expense—affiliates . . 6 — 588 — 1,212 (1,806) —
Interest income—affiliates . . . (18) (576) (1,210) ) — 1,806 —
Loss (gain) on early
retirement of debt—net ... — 448 23) — 37 — 462
Gain on sale of assets ....... — — — — (263) — (263)
Other income—net ......... @) (36) — 2) 22) — 67)
Loss from equity investments
in subsidiaries ........... 649 1,243 — — — (1,892) —
Total other expense—net . . . . 818 1,454 377) “4) 1,616 (1,892) 1,615

(Loss) income before income taxes

and cumulative effect of changes

in accounting principle ... ..... (923) (1,422) 377 5 (689) 1,892 (760)
Income tax benefit (expense) .. ... 144 544 (143) 2) (540) — 3

(Loss) income before cumulative

effect of changes in accounting

principle ................... (779) (878) 234 3 (1,229) 1,892 (757)
Cumulative effect of changes in

accounting principle, net of

TAXES v vt e — ®) — — (14) — 22)

Net (loss) income .............. $(779) $ (886) $ 234 $ 3 $(1,243) $ 1,892 $ (779)

(1) QCII is the issuer of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is a guarantor of the QSC Guaranteed Notes and the QCF
Guaranteed Notes.

(2) QSC is a guarantor of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is the issuer of the QSC Guaranteed Notes.

(3) QCF is a guarantor of both the QCII Guaranteed Notes and the QSC Guaranteed Notes.
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004

QCII QSC
Subsidiary ~ Subsidiary
Non- Non- QCII

QCII(1) QSC(2) QCF@3) Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)
Operating revenue .............. $ — § — § — $ 5 $13,804 § — $13,809
Operating revenue—affiliates . . ... — 1,380 — 34 156 (1,570) —
Operating expenses:
Cost of sales (exclusive of
depreciation and

amortization) ............ — 1,135 — — 5,868 (1,113) 5,890
Cost of sales—affiliates .. ... — 188 — — 87 (275) —
Selling, general and

administrative ........... 621 — — 36 3,201 1,113 4971
Selling, general and

administrative—affiliates .. — — — — 1,295 (1,295) —
Depreciation .............. — 2 — — 2,624 — 2,626

Capitalized software and other
intangible assets

amortization . . ........... — — — — 497 — 497
Asset impairment charges . . . . — — — — 113 — 113
Total operating
EeXPenses . .. ......... 621 1,325 — 36 13,685 (1,570) 14,097
Other expense—net:
Interest expense—net .. ..... 118 488 292 — 633 — 1,531
Interest expense—affiliates . . . 6 — 1,225 — 1,579 (2,810) —
Interest
(income)—affiliates ...... (55) (1,191) (1,564) — — 2,810 —
Loss (gain) on early retirement
of debt—net . ............ — — 5 — 6 — 1
Gain on sale of assets ....... — — — — (8) — (8)
Other income—net ......... (12) (20) (D) 2) (71) — (106)
Loss from equity investments
in subsidiaries ........... 1,131 2,546 — — — (3,677) —
Total other expense
(income) ............ 1,188 1,823 (53) 2) 2,139 (3,677) 1,418
(Loss) income before income
tAXES oot (1,809) (1,768) 53 5 (1,864) 3,677 (1,706)
Income tax benefit (expense) .. ... 15 602 2n 2) (682) — (88)
Net (loss)income . .............. $(1,794) $(1,166) $ 32 $ 3 $(2,546) $ 3,677 $(1,794)

(1) QCII is the issuer of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is a guarantor of the QSC Guaranteed Notes and the
QCF Guaranteed Notes.

(2) QSC is a guarantor of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is the issuer of the QSC Guaranteed Notes.

(3) QCF is a guarantor of both the QCII Guaranteed Notes and the QSC Guaranteed Notes.
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Operating revenue
Operating revenue—affiliates
Operating expenses:

Cost of sales (exclusive of
depreciation and
amortization)

Cost of sales—affiliates

Selling, general and
administrative

Selling, general and
administrative—affiliates

Depreciation

Capitalized software and other
intangible assets amortization . .

Asset impairment charges

Total operating expenses . . . .

Other expense—net:
Interest expense—net
Interest expense—affiliates
Interest (income)—affiliates
Loss (gain) on early retirement of

debt—net
Other income—net
Income from equity investments in
subsidiaries

Total other (income)
expense—net

Income (loss) before tax, discontinued
operations and cumulative effect of
changes in accounting principles . . . .

Income tax benefit (expense)

Income (loss) from continuing
operations

Income from and gain on sale of
discontinued operations, net of
taxes

Income (loss) before cumulative effect
of changes in accounting principle . . .

Cumulative effect of changes in
accounting principles, net of taxes . . .

Net income

QCII QSC
Subsidiary Subsidiary
Non- Non- QCII
QCII(1) QSC(2) QCF(@3) Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)
$§ — — 5 — $ 4 $14284 $§ — $14,288
— 1533 — 35 148  (1,716) —
— 1,307 — — 6,411 (1,263) 6,455
— 178 — — 92 (270) —
174 — — 36 3,217 1,263 4,690
- = — — 1,446  (1,446) —
— 1 — — 2,738 — 2,739
_ — — — 428 — 428
— — — — 230 — 230
174 1,486 — 36 14,562 (1,716) 14,542
84 566 501 — 606 — 1,757
15 12 348 — 1,342 (1,717) —
(33) (386) (1,298) — — 1,717 —
52 43 (129) — “4) — (38)
() (29 — — (111) — (141)
(1,584) (133) — — — 1,717 —
(1467) 73 (578) — 1,833 1,717 1,578
1,293 (26) 578 3 (1,963) (1,717) (1,832)
219 1250  (220) (1) (729) — 519
1,512 1,224 358 2 (2,692) (1,717) (1,313)
— — — — 2,619 — 2,619
1,512 1,224 358 2 (73) (1,717) 1,306
— — — — 206 — 206
$1,512 $1,224 § 358 § 2 $ 133  $(1,717) $ 1,512

(1) QCII is the issuer of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is a guarantor of the QSC Guaranteed Notes and the

QCF Guaranteed Notes.

(2) QSC is a guarantor of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is the issuer of the QSC Guaranteed Notes.
(3) QCF is a guarantor of both the QCII Guaranteed Notes and the QSC Guaranteed Notes.
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 2005
QcCII QSC
Subsidiary Subsidiary QCII

QCII(1) QSC(2) QCF(@3) Non-Guarantors Non-Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . ...... $ 67 $ 563 $ — $— $ 216 $  — $ 846
Short-term investments ......... 9 77 — — 15 — 101
Accounts receivable—net ....... — 10 — 3 1,512 — 1,525
Accounts receivable—affiliates . . . 43 428 94 — 21 (586) —
Current tax receivable .......... 34 28 — — — (62) —
Notes receivable—affiliates . . . . .. — 4,728 14,568 76 — (19,372) —
Deferred income taxes .......... — 19 — — 99 — 118
Prepaid and other assets ......... 20 38 — 112 375 (8) 537
Assets held forsale ............ — — — — 37 — 37
Total current assets . ............... 173 5,891 14,662 191 2,275 (20,028) 3,164
Property, plant and equipment—net . .. — 6 — — 15,562 — 15,568
Capitalized software and other
intangible assets—net ............ 41 — — — 966 — 1,007
Investments in subsidiaries .......... 1,143 (12,112) — — — 10,969 —
Deferred income taxes . ............. — 1,791 22 11 — (1,824) —
Prepaid pension assets . ............. — 95 — — 1,070 — 1,165
Otherassets ...................... 111 58 14 — 410 — 593
Total assets . .....oovvernennnenn.. $ 1,468 $ (4,271) $14,698 $202 $ 20,283 $(10,883) $21,497
LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT)
EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current borrowings ............ $ 6 $ — $§ 485 $— $ 21 $ — $ 512
Current borrowings—affiliates . . . 165 — 4,728 — 14,479 (19,372) —
Accounts payable . ............. 4 38 — — 731 — 773
Accounts payable—affiliates . . . .. — 34 — 9 248 (291) —
Accrued expenses and other
current liabilities ............ 288 192 98 81 1,539 — 2,198
Accrued expenses and other
current liabilities—affiliates . . . — — 34 30 239 (303) —
Current taxes payable . .......... — — 34 2 145 (62) 119
Deferred revenue and advanced
billings . ......... ... ...... — — — — 633 — 633
Total current liabilities . ............. 463 264 5,379 122 18,035 (20,028) 4,235
Long-term borrowings—net .. ... 3,884 22 2,986 — 8,076 — 14,968
Post-retirement and other post-
employment benefit
obligations ................. — 506 — — 2,953 — 3,459
Deferred income taxes .......... 33 — — — 1,881 (1,824) 90
Deferred revenue .............. — — — — 522 — 522
Other long-term liabilities ....... 305 145 — 62 928 — 1,440
Total liabilities .................... 4,685 937 8,365 184 32,395 (21,852) 24,714
Stockholders’ (deficit) equity ........ (3,217)  (5,208) 6,333 18 (12,112) 10,969 (3,217)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
(deficit) .. ... $ 1,468 $ (4,271) $14,698 $202 $ 20,283 $(10,883) $21,497

(1) QCII is the issuer of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is a guarantor of the QSC Guaranteed Notes and the QCF Guaranteed Notes.
(2) QSC is a guarantor of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is the issuer of the QSC Guaranteed Notes.
(3) QCF is a guarantor of both the QCII Guaranteed Notes and the QSC Guaranteed Notes.
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments . . ... ...
Accounts receivable—net

Accounts
receivable—affiliates .......
Current tax receivable
Notes receivable—affiliates . . . .
Deferred income taxes
Prepaid and other assets . ......
Assets held forsale . ..........

Total current assets . ..............
Property, plant and
equipment—net
Capitalized software and other
intangible assets—net . .. ........
Investments in subsidiaries . ........
Deferred income taxes
Prepaid pension assets
Other assets

Total assets . ............cooouon..

LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT)
EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current borrowings
Current
borrowings—affiliates
Accounts payable ............
Accounts payable—affiliates . . .
Accrued expenses and other
current liabilities . . .........
Accrued expenses and other
current
liabilities—affiliates ........
Deferred revenue and advanced
billings

Total current liabilities ............
Long-term borrowings—net . . . .
Post-retirement and other post-

employment benefit

obligations
Deferred income taxes
Deferred revenue
Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Stockholders’ (deficit) equity .. ... ..

Total liabilities and stockholders’
(deficit) equity

DECEMBER 31, 2004
QCII QSC
Subsidiary Subsidiary QCII
QCII(1) QSC(2) QCF@3) Non-Guarantors Non-Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)

$ 34 $ o608 $ — $— $ 509 $  — $ 1,151
24 427 — — 313 — 764

— 13 2 2 1,577 — 1,594

72 466 141 — 84 (763) —

— 227 — — — (227 —

87 13,986 21,972 59 — (36,104) —

_ _ _ — 111 (111) —

— 38 — 67 452 (8) 549

— — — — 160 — 160
217 15,765 22,115 128 3,206 (37,213) 4,218

— 5 — — 16,848 — 16,853

39 — — — 1,140 — 1,179

(1,266)  (18,006) — — — 19,272 —
— 2,232 24 10 — (2,228) 38

— 96 — — 1,096 — 1,192
1,140 107 23 56 468 (950) 844

$ 130 $ 199 $22,162 $194 $ 22,758 $(21,119) $24,324
$ 5% — $ 179 $— $ 412 s — $ 59

126 13,976 — 22,002 (36,104) —

3 31 — — 698 (1) 731

_ 2 — — 234 (236) —
174 334 123 35 1,962 (338) 2,290

17 65 139 53 260 (534) —

— — — — 669 — 669
325 432 14,417 88 26,237 (37,213) 4,286
1,886 3,528 3,637 — 7,639 — 16,690
— 460 — 2,968 — 3,428

34 — — — 2,194 (2,228) —

— — — — 559 — 559
497 218 950 91 1,167 (950) 1,973
2,742 4,638 19,004 179 40,764 (40,391) 26,936
(2,612)  (4,439) 3,158 15 (18,006) 19,272 (2,612)
$ 130 $ 199 $22,162 $194 $ 22,758 $(21,119) $24,324

(1) QCII is the issuer of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is a guarantor of the QSC Guaranteed Notes and the QCF Guaranteed Notes.
(2) QSC is a guarantor of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is the issuer of the QSC Guaranteed Notes.

(3) QCF is a guarantor of both the QCII Guaranteed Notes and the QSC Guaranteed Notes.
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

QCII(1) QSC(2)

QCII QSC
Subsidiary Subsidiary
Non- Non-

QCII

QCF(3) Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

$ (2500$ 1,391 $

176

(Dollars in millions)

$ 18 $ 978

$ — $ 2313

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Expenditures for property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant
and equipment
Proceeds from sales of investment
SECUNIICS « . v v vt e e
Purchases of investment securities . . . . .
Net proceeds (purchases) of investments
managed by QSC ................ 16
Cash infusion to subsidiaries (1,760)
Net decrease (increase) in short-term
affiliate loans
Principal collected on long-term affiliate
loans
Dividends received from subsidiaries . .

(23)

1,794
(1,086)

(332)
(10,000)

9,161 7,404

97
2,855

(1,589)

420

(1,613)
420

1,793
(1,086)

(D

11,760
(16,547)

97)
(2.855)

27

Cash (used for) provided by investing
activities

2,466 7,404

(18) (826)

(7,740) (459)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term borrowings ... 2,000
Repayments of long-term borrowings,

including current maturities
Net (repayments of) proceeds from
short-term affiliate borrowings . . . . ..
Payments of LT
borrowings—affiliates
Proceeds from issuances of common
and treasury stock . ...............
Equity infusion from parent
Dividends paid to parent
Debt issuance costs . ................
Early retirement of debt costs . ........

(3,356) (179)

9,161)

1,760

“)
(542)

1,152
(1,176)
(7.426)

97

10,000
(2,855)
(18)
25

3,152
(4,716)
16,548

97

39

(11,760)
2,855

)
(567)

Cash provided by (used for) financing
activities

(3,902) (7,580)

(445)

7,740 (2,159)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents
Beginning balance

34

(45)
608

(293)
509

(305)
1,151

Ending balance

67 $

563 $

$— $ 216

$  — $ 846

()

Guaranteed Notes.
)
3)
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QCII is the issuer of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is a guarantor of the QSC Guaranteed Notes and the QCF

QSC is a guarantor of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is the issuer of the QSC Guaranteed Notes.
QCEF is a guarantor of both the QCII Guaranteed Notes and the QSC Guaranteed Notes.



QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004

CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Expenditures for property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets . .. ...
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment . ...........o.iinien...
Proceeds from sales of investment
SECUTIHES « . v vv e een s
Net proceeds from (purchases of)
investments managed by QSC .......
Cash infusion to subsidiaries
Net decrease (increase) in short-term
affiliate loans
Long-term loans made to affiliates . . . . ..
Principal collected on long-term affiliate
loans ............coiiiiiiia..
Purchases of investment securities . . .. ..
Dividends received from subsidiaries . ..

Cash used for investing activities ...........

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term borrowings . . . .
Repayments of long-term borrowings
including current maturities .........
Proceeds from long-term affiliates
borrowings ............ .. .. .. ...
Repayments of long-term affiliates
borrowings ...............c.. ...
Net (repayments of) proceeds from
short-term affiliate borrowings . . ... ..
Proceeds from issuances of common and
treasury stock .......... .. ...
Equity infusion from parent ...........
Dividends paid toparent . .............
Debt issuance costs . .................

Cash provided by (used in) financing
activities ............ . ...

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Increase (decrease)incash . ...........
Beginning balance

Ending balance .....................

(1) QClI is the issuer of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is a guarantor of the QSC Guaranteed Notes and the QCF

Guaranteed Notes.

(2) QSC is a guarantor of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is the issuer of the QSC Guaranteed Notes.

QCII(1) QSC(2)

QCII

Subsidiary Subsidiary

Non-

QSC

Non-

QCII

QCF(3) Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

$ (98)$1,779 $ 194 $ 4 $ 63 $ 32 $ 1,848
2) 4 — — (1,725) — (1,731)
— — — — 48 — 48
— 1917 — — 5 — 1,922
(25) 200 — 18 27 — _
— (2312) — — — 2312 —
— (1,885) (3,148)  (59) 1 5,091 —
(950) — — — — 950 —
— 400 1,103 — — (1,503) —
— @131  — - — — (2,137)
— 3168 — — — (3,168) —
_ _ _ _ (7) — (7)
(977)  (873) (2,045)  (41) (1,651) 3,682 (1,905)
1,763  — — — 838 — 2,601
@) (750) (984) — (976) — (2,714)
— — 950  — — (950) —
_ _ _ — (1,503) 1,503 —
661) — 1,885  — 3,866 (5,090) —
43 — — — — (33) 10
— — — - 2,247 (2,247) —
_ _ _ — (3,103) 3,103 —
(32) 9 — — (14) — (55)
1,109 (759) 1851  — 1,355 (3,714) (158)
34 147 — (37) (359) — (215)
- 461  — 37 868 — 1,366
$ 34 % 608% —  $— $ 509 0§ — $ 1,151

(3) QCF is a guarantor of both the QCII Guaranteed Notes and the QSC Guaranteed Notes.
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

QCII QSC
Subsidiary Subsidiary
Non- Non- QCII

QCII(1) QSC(2) QCF(3) Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY

OPERATING ACTIVITIES ............ $ (1400$ 315 % 360 $ 11 $ 1,553 $ 76 $ 2,175
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Expenditures for property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets . . . ... “4) — — — (2,084) — (2,088)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment . ... ...vii — — — — 7 — 7
Proceeds from sales of investment
SECUTItIeS « . oo vt e — 13 — — — — 13
Net proceeds from (purchases of)
investments managed by QSC ....... — 376 — (18) (358) — —
Purchases of investment securities . . . . .. — (601) — — — — (601)
Net (increase) decrease in short-term
affiliate loans .................... —  (4,050) (2,601) — — 6,651 —
Principal collected on long-term affiliate
loans ...... ... i 448 — — — — (448) —
Dividends received from subsidiaries . . . — 6,609 — — — (6,609) —
Other............iiiiiii .. — — — — (61) — 61)
Cash provided by (used in) investing
activities ........... o i 444 2347 (2,601) (18) (2,496) (406) (2,730)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term borrowings . . . . — — — — 1,729 — 1,729
Repayments of long-term borrowings
including current maturities ......... (1,024) (1,636) (1,808) — (1,324) — (5,792)
Net repayments of short-term
borrowings ........... .. .. ... — — — — (750) — (750)
Repayments of long-term affiliates
borrowings . ............. . ... — — — — (448) 448 —
Net proceeds from (repayments of)
short-term affiliate borrowings . . ... .. 644 (2,248) 4,049 — 4,206 (6,651) —
Proceeds from issuances of common and
treasury stock ......... .. .. ... 76 — — — — (76) —
Dividends paid to parent ............. — — — — (6,609) 6,609 —
Debt issuance costs ... ............... — (6) — — 37 — (43)
Cash provided by (used for) financing
ACtIVItI®S ..o vt (304) (3,890) 2,241 — (3,233) 330 (4,856)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Increase (decrease) incash ............ —  (1,228) — @) (4,176) — (5,411)
Net cash generated by discontinued
operations (operating activities) . ... .. — — — — 234 — 234
Proceeds from sale of directory business
(investing activity) ................ — — — — 4,290 — 4,290
Beginning balance .................. — 1,689 — 44 520 — 2,253
Ending balance ..................... $ — $ 461 8 — $ 37 $ 868 $ — $ 1,366

(1) QCllI is the issuer of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is a guarantor of the QSC Guaranteed Notes and the QCF
Guaranteed Notes.

(2) QSC is a guarantor of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is the issuer of the QSC Guaranteed Notes.

(3) QCF is a guarantor of both the QCII Guaranteed Notes and the QSC Guaranteed Notes.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Qwest Communications International Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting that Qwest Communications International Inc. maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Qwest Communications International Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Qwest Communications International Inc. maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material
respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, Qwest Communications
International Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Qwest Communications International Inc. and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ deficit, and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005, and our report dated
February 16, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado
February 16, 2006
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The effectiveness of our or any system of disclosure controls and procedures is subject to certain limitations,
including the exercise of judgment in designing, implementing and evaluating the controls and procedures, the
assumptions used in identifying the likelihood of future events, and the inability to eliminate misconduct
completely. As a result, there can be no assurance that our disclosure controls and procedures will detect all
errors or fraud. By their nature, our, or any system of disclosure controls and procedures can provide only
reasonable assurance regarding management’s control objectives.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, we evaluated the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the “Exchange Act”) as of
December 31, 2005. On the basis of this review, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are designed, and are effective, to
give reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and
forms of the SEC and to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports filed or submitted under
the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, in a manner that allows timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Also, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred in the fourth
quarter of 2005 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the
framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2005.

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31, 2005 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated
in their report which is included herein.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by Item 10 of this annual report on Form 10-K is incorporated by reference to our
definitive proxy statement for our 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, or our 2006 Proxy Statement,
anticipated to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of December 31, 2005
under the headings “Proposal No. 1—FElection of Directors,” “Executive Officers and Management,” “Audit
Committee” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and to Item 1 of this annual report
on Form 10-K under the heading “Website Access.”

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 of this annual report on Form 10-K is incorporated by reference to our
2006 Proxy Statement anticipated to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of
December 31, 2005 under the headings “Director Compensation,” “Executive Compensation,” “Stock Option
Grants,” “Option Exercises and Holdings,” “Pension Plans,” “Employment Contracts and Termination of
Employment and Change-In-Control Arrangements” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider
Participation.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 of this annual report on Form 10-K is incorporated by reference to our
2006 Proxy Statement anticipated to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of
December 31, 2005 under the heading “Beneficial Ownership of Shares of Common Stock.”

Equity Compensation Plan Information

We currently maintain four compensation plans under which shares of our common stock are authorized for
issuance to employees and non-employees: our Equity Incentive Plan; our Employee Stock Purchase Plan; our
Nonqualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan and our Equity Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors.
Our Equity Incentive Plan and Employee Stock Purchase Plan have been approved by our stockholders. Our
Nonqualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan and our Equity Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors,
each of which is described in more detail below, have not been approved by our stockholders. The following
table provides information as of December 31, 2005 about outstanding options and shares reserved for future
issuance under these plans:

Number of securities

remaining available for
Number of securities to be Weighted-average exercise  future issuance under equity

issued upon exercise of price of outstanding compensation plans (excluding
outstanding options, options, warrants and securities reflected in
Plan Category warrants and rights(1) rights(1) column (a))
(a) (b) (©

Equity compensation plans

approved by security holders . . 134,940,049 $12.23 66,184,778(2)
Equity compensation plans not

approved by security holders . . — — 10,083,267(3)
Total ....... .. .. .. . .. ... .. 134,940,049 $12.23 76,268,045

(1) Includes 29,154,855 shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding options we assumed in connection
with acquisitions, including the Merger. The weighted-average exercise price of these options is $30.16. We
do not intend to grant any new options under the plans pursuant to which these options were originally
granted.
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(2) Includes 50,015,992 shares available for future issuance under our Equity Incentive Plan and 16,168,786
shares available for future issuance under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The number of shares
available for future issuance under our Equity Incentive Plan is based on a formula. Our Equity Incentive
Plan provides that the maximum total number of shares that may be issued under our Equity Incentive Plan
at any time is equal to 10% of the total number of shares that are issued and outstanding at such time
(determined as of the close of trading on the New York Stock Exchange on the trading day immediately
preceding such time), reduced by the number of shares subject to outstanding awards granted under the
Equity Incentive Plan and outstanding options granted under any other plan or arrangement of Qwest or a
subsidiary of Qwest (excluding the Employee Stock Purchase Plan) at such time.

(3) Includes 10,000,000 shares available for future issuance under our Nonqualified Employee Stock Purchase
Plan and 83,267 shares available for future issuance under our Equity Compensation Plan for
Non-Employee Directors.

In 1997, our Board of Directors adopted an Equity Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors, under
which directors who are not officers or employees of Qwest may receive shares of our common stock. Under the
plan, eligible directors may elect on a quarterly basis to receive any or all of their annual and meeting fees for
that quarter in shares of our common stock. With respect to each quarter for which an election is made, the total
number of shares granted to the electing director equals the amount of the director’s total annual and meeting
fees divided by the fair market value of our common stock on the last business day of that quarter. Shares issued
under the plan are to be issued as soon as practicable after the end of each quarter.

In 2002, our Board of Directors adopted a Nonqualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan; however, we have
not commenced any offers nor issued any shares of our common stock under the plan. If used, any employee of
Qwest, or any employee of a subsidiary of Qwest that adopts the plan with Qwest’s consent, will be entitled to
participate in the plan. The Nonqualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan will provide eligible employees with an
opportunity to purchase shares of our common stock. The maximum number of shares of common stock that may
be purchased under the Nonqualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan is, in the aggregate, 10,000,000. Under the
plan, offers to purchase common stock will be made on the first day of each calendar month and last for a period
of one calendar month, unless otherwise determined by the Compensation and Human Resources Committee of
our Board of Directors. An eligible employee may participate in any offer under the plan by authorizing payroll
deductions of up to 15% of his or her base salary and commissions paid per pay period. Amounts withheld will
be held for the credit of the participant as part of our general funds and will not accrue interest. On the last day of
each calendar month, the entire account balance of a participating employee will be applied to purchase shares of
our common stock at a purchase price equal to 85% of the fair market value of the common stock on the last
trading day of that month. In no event, however, will an employee be permitted to purchase more than 20,000
shares of common stock through the plan in any single offer. Participants may not transfer shares of common
stock purchased under the plan until after the last day of the sixth month following the month in which the shares
were purchased. We have the right to terminate or amend the plan at any time. If not previously terminated by
our Board of Directors, the plan will terminate on the date as of which participants have purchased a number of
shares equal to or greater than the number of shares then subject to the plan.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by Item 13 of this annual report on Form 10-K is incorporated by reference to our
2006 Proxy Statement anticipated to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of
December 31, 2005 under the headings “Certain Transactions and Legal Proceedings™ and “Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation.”

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 of this annual report on Form 10-K is incorporated by reference to our
2006 Proxy Statement anticipated to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of
December 31, 2005 under the heading “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.”
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Documents filed as part of this report:

ey

@)

Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . ........................ 59
Financial Statements covered by the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting

Firm:
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and

20003 60
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 ... .................. 61
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and

20003 62
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Deficit for the years ended December 31, 2005,

2004 and 2003 . . .o 63
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2005,

2004 and 2003 . . .o 64
Schedule for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . ........................ S-1
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts ... ........ ... ... ... S-2

(a) (3) and (b) Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K:

Exhibits identified in parentheses below are on file with the SEC and are incorporated herein by reference.
All other exhibits are provided as part of this electronic submission.

Exhibit
Number

Description

2.1)

3.1

3.2)

(3.3)

“.1)

4.2)

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 18, 1999 between U S WEST, Inc. and Qwest
Communications International Inc. (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications
International Inc.’s Form S-4/A filed on August 13, 1999, File No. 333-81149).

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Qwest Communications International Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A, filed
September 17, 1999, File No. 333-81149).

Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Qwest Communications
International Inc. (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004, File No. 001-15577).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Qwest Communications International Inc., adopted as of July 1,
2002 and amended as of May 25, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications
International Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004, File

No. 001-15577).

Indenture, dated as of April 15, 1990, by and between Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph
Company and The First National Bank of Chicago (incorporated by reference to Qwest Corporation’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, File No. 001-03040).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 16, 1991, by and between U S WEST
Communications, Inc. and The First National Bank of Chicago (incorporated by reference to Qwest
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, File

No. 001-03040).
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Exhibit
Number

Description

(4.3)

4.4)

(4.5)

(4.6)

4.7)

(4.8)

(4.9)

(4.10)

4.11)

(4.12)

Indenture, dated as of January 29, 1998, with Bankers Trust Company (including form of Qwest
Communications International Inc.’s 8.29% Senior Discount Notes due 2008 and 8.29% Series B
Senior Discount Notes due 2008 as an exhibit thereto) (incorporated by reference to Qwest
Communications International Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1997, File No. 000-226009).

Indenture, dated as of November 4, 1998, with Bankers Trust Company (including form of Qwest
Communications International Inc.’s 7.50% Senior Discount Notes due 2008 and 7.50% Series B
Senior Discount Notes due 2008 as an exhibit thereto) (incorporated by reference to Qwest
Communications International Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed February 2, 1999,
File No. 333-71603).

Indenture, dated as of November 27, 1998, with Bankers Trust Company (including form of Qwest
Communications International Inc.’s 7.25% Senior Discount Notes due 2008 and 7.25% Series B
Senior Discount Notes due 2008 as an exhibit thereto) (incorporated by reference to Qwest
Communications International Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed February 2, 1999,
File No. 333-71603).

Indenture, dated as of June 23, 1997, between LCI International, Inc. and First Trust National
Association, as trustee, providing for the issuance of Senior Debt Securities, including Resolutions of
the Pricing Committee of the Board of Directors establishing the terms of the 7.25% Senior Notes
due June 15, 2007 (incorporated by reference to LCI’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated June 23,
1997, File No. 001-12683).

Indenture, dated as of June 29, 1998, by and among U S WEST Capital Funding, Inc.,

U S WEST, Inc., and The First National Bank of Chicago (now known as Bank One Trust Company,
N. A.), as trustee (incorporated by reference to U S WEST’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated
November 18, 1998, File No. 001-14087).

Indenture, dated as of October 15, 1999, by and between Qwest Corporation and Bank One Trust
Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Qwest Corporation’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, File No. 001-03040).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 30, 2000, by and among U S WEST Capital
Funding, Inc., U S WEST, Inc., Qwest Communications International Inc., and Bank One Trust
Company, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000, File No. 001-15577).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 16, 2001, to the Indenture, dated as of January 29,
1998, with Bankers Trust Company (including form of Qwest Communications International Inc.’s
8.29% Senior Discount Notes due 2008 and 8.29% Series B Senior Discount Notes due 2008 as an
exhibit thereto) (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001, File No. 001-15577).

Officer’s Certificate of Qwest Corporation, dated March 12, 2002 (including forms of 8 78% notes
due March 15, 2012) (incorporated by reference to Qwest Corporation’s Form S-4, File
No. 333-115119).

Indenture, dated as of December 26, 2002, between Qwest Communications International Inc., Qwest
Services Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and Bank One Trust Company, N.A., as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on

Form 8-K filed on January 10, 2003, File No. 001-15577).
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Exhibit
Number

Description

(4.13)

(4.14)

(4.15)

(4.16)

4.17)

(4.18)

(4.19)

(4.20)

4.21)

4.22)

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 26, 2002, by and among Qwest Communications
International Inc., Qwest Services Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and Deutsche Bank
Trust Company Americas (formerly known as Bankers Trust Company), supplementing the
Indenture, dated as of November 4, 1998, with Bankers Trust Company (incorporated by reference to
Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003, as originally filed on March 11, 2004, File No. 001-15577).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 26, 2002, by and among Qwest Communications
International Inc., Qwest Services Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and Deutsche Bank
Trust Company Americas (formerly known as Bankers Trust Company), supplementing the
Indenture, dated as of November 27, 1998, with Bankers Trust Company (incorporated by reference
to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003, as originally filed on March 11, 2004, File No. 001-15577).

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 4, 2003, by and among Qwest
Communications International Inc., Qwest Services Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and
Bank One Trust Company, N.A. (as successor in interest to Bankers Trust Company), supplementing
the Indenture, dated as of November 4, 1998, with Bankers Trust Company (incorporated by
reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.”s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003, as originally filed on March 11, 2004, File No. 001-15577).

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 4, 2003, by and among Qwest
Communications International Inc., Qwest Services Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and
Bank One Trust Company, N.A. (as successor in interest to Bankers Trust Company), supplementing
the Indenture, dated as of November 27, 1998, with Bankers Trust Company (incorporated by
reference to Qwest’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, as
originally filed on March 11, 2004, File No. 001- 15577).

Indenture, dated as of February 5, 2004, among Qwest Communications International Inc., Qwest
Services Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and J.P. Morgan Trust Company (incorporated by
reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.”s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003, as originally filed on March 11, 2004, File No. 001-15577).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 19, 2004, by and between Qwest Corporation and
U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International
Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004, File No.
001-15577).

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated November 23, 2004, by and between Qwest Corporation and
U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to Qwest Corporation’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on November 23, 2004, File No. 001-03040).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated June 17, 2005, among Qwest Communications International Inc.,
Qwest Services Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association
(incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on

Form 8-K filed on June 23, 2005, File No. 001-15577).

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 17, 2005, by and between Qwest Corporation and
U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 23, 2005, File No. 001-15577).

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated June 23, 2005, among Qwest Communications International
Inc., Qwest Services Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association
(incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on

Form 8-K filed on June 23, 2005, File No. 001-15577).
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Exhibit
Number

Description

(4.23)

(4.24)

(4.25)

(10.1)

10.2

(10.3)

(10.4)

(10.5)

(10.6)

(10.7)

(10.8)

(10.9)

(10.10)

(10.11)

Indenture, dated as of November 8, 2005, by and between Qwest Communications International Inc.
and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications
International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 14, 2005, File No. 001-15577).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 8, 2005, by and between Qwest
Communications International Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to
Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 14,
2005, File No. 001-15577).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 16, 2005, by and among Qwest Services
Corporation, Qwest Communications International Inc., Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and

J.P. Morgan Trust Company, N.A. as successor to Bank One Trust Company, N.A. (incorporated by
reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
November 21, 2005, File No. 001-15577).

Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, including forms of option and restricted stock agreements
(incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on October 24, 2005, File No. 001-15577).*

Additional forms of option and restricted stock agreements used under Equity Incentive Plan, as
amended.*

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International
Inc.’s 2003 Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders).*

Nonqualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications
International Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, File
No. 001-15577).*

Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International
Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998, File No. 000- 22609).*

Equity Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Qwest
Communications International Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1997, File No. 000-22609).*

Deferred Compensation Plan for Nonemployee Directors, as amended and restated (incorporated by
reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
December 16, 2005, File No. 001-15577).*

Qwest Savings & Investment Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Qwest
Communications International Inc.’s Form S-8 filed on January 15, 2004, File No. 333-11923).*

2006 Qwest Management Bonus Plan Summary (incorporated by reference to Qwest
Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 16, 2005, File
No. 001-15577).*

Summary Sheet Describing the Compensation Package for Qwest Communications International
Inc.’s Non-employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 24, 2005, File No. 001-15577).*

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of April 18, 1999, with Anschutz Company and Anschutz
Family Investment Company LLC (incorporated by reference to Qwest’s Current Report on
Form 8-K/A, filed April 28, 1999, File No. 000-22609).
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Exhibit
Number

Description

(10.12)

(10.13)

(10.14)

(10.15)

(10.16)

(10.17)

(10.18)

(10.19)

(10.20)

(10.21)

10.22

(10.23)

Employee Matters Agreement between MediaOne Group and U S WEST, dated June 5, 1998
(incorporated by reference to U S WEST’s Current Report on Form 8- K/A, dated June 26, 1998,
File No. 001-14087).

Tax Sharing Agreement between MediaOne Group and U S WEST, dated June 5, 1998 (incorporated
by reference to U S WEST’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A, dated June 26, 1998, File
No. 001-14087).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated August 19, 2004, among Qwest Corporation and the initial
purchasers listed therein (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004, File No. 001-15577).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 23, 2004, by and among Qwest Corporation and the
initial purchasers listed therein (incorporated by reference to Qwest Corporation’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated November 18, 2004, File No. 001-03040).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 17, 2005, among Qwest Communications International
Inc., Qwest Services Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and the initial purchasers listed
therein (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on June 23, 2005, File No. 001-15577).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 17, 2005, by and among Qwest Corporation and the
initial purchasers listed therein (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 23, 2005, File No. 001-15577).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 23, 2005, among Qwest Communications International
Inc., Qwest Services Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and the initial purchasers listed
therein (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on June 23, 2005, File No. 001-15577).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated August 19, 2004, by and between Richard C.
Notebaert and Qwest Services Corporation (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications
International Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004, File
No. 001-15577).*

Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated October 21, 2005, by and
between Richard C. Notebaert and Qwest Services Corporation (incorporated by reference to Qwest
Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 24, 2005,

File No. 001-15577).*

Form of Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between Qwest
Services Corporation and Richard C. Notebaert (incorporated by reference to Qwest
Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 16, 2005,
File No. 001-15577).*

Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement, dated February 14, 2006, by and between Qwest Business
Resources, Inc. and Richard C. Notebaert.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated August 19, 2004, by and between Oren G.
Shaffer and Qwest Services Corporation (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications
International Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004,
File No. 001-15577).*
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Exhibit
Number

Description

(10.24)

(10.25)

10.26

(10.27)

(10.28)

(10.29)

(10.30)

(10.31)

(10.32)

(10.33)

10.34

(10.35)

(10.36)

(10.37)

Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated October 21, 2005, by and
between Oren G. Shaffer and Qwest Services Corporation (incorporated by reference to Qwest
Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 24, 2005,
File No. 001-15577).*

Form of Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between Qwest
Services Corporation and Oren G. Shaffer (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications
International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 16, 2005, File No. 001-15577).*

Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement, dated February 14, 2006, by and between Qwest Business
Resources, Inc. and Oren G. Shaffer.

Retention Agreement, dated May 8, 2002, by and between Qwest Services Corporation and Richard
N. Baer (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, File No. 001-15577).*

Severance Agreement, dated July 21, 2003, by and between Qwest Services Corporation and Richard
N. Baer (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, File No. 001-15577).*

Severance Agreement, dated April 4, 2005, by and between Qwest Services Corporation and Thomas
E. Richards (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005, File No. 001-15577).*

Letter Agreement, dated August 20, 2003, by and between Qwest Services Corporation and Paula
Kruger (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, File No. 001-15577).*

Severance Agreement, dated September 8, 2003, by and between Qwest Services Corporation and
Paula Kruger (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, File No. 001-15577).*

Letter Agreement, dated August 19, 2004, by and between Qwest Services Corporation and Paula
Kruger (incorporated by reference to Qwest’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2004, File No. 001-15577).*

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated August 19, 2004 by and between Barry K.
Allen and Qwest Services Corporation (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications
International Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004,
File No. 001-15577).*

Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement, dated February 14, 2006, by and between Qwest Business
Resources, Inc. and Barry Allen.

Letter Agreement, dated March 27, 2003, by and between Qwest Services Corporation and John W.
Richardson (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Registration
Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333-115115).*

Severance Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2003, by and between Qwest Services Corporation and
John W. Richardson (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, File No. 001-15577).*

Form of Amendment to Severance Agreement between Qwest Services Corporation and each of
Richard N. Baer, Paula Kruger and Thomas E. Richards (incorporated by reference to Qwest
Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 16, 2005,
File No. 001-15577).*
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Exhibit
Number

Description

(10.38)

(10.39)

12
21
23
24
31.1
312
32

99.1
99.2
(99.3)

Private Label PCS Services Agreement between Sprint Spectrum L.P. and Qwest Wireless LLC
dated August 3, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004, File No. 1-15577).F

Stipulation of Partial Settlement, dated as of November 21, 2005, by and among Qwest
Communications International Inc., the other settling defendants, and the Lead Plaintiffs in /n re
Owest Communications International Inc. Securities Litigation on behalf of themselves and each of
the class members (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K/A filed on December 6, 2005, File No. 001-15577).

Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

Subsidiaries of Qwest Communications International Inc.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Power of Attorney.

Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Quarterly Operating Revenue.
Quarterly Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Credit Agreement, dated as of October 21, 2005, among Qwest Services Corporation, Qwest
Communications International Inc., the Lenders party thereto from time to time, and Wachovia
Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent and Issuing Lender (incorporated by reference
to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2005, File No. 001-15577).

() Previously filed.

*  Executive Compensation Plans and Arrangements.

T Application has been made to the Securities and Exchange Commission to seek confidential treatment of
certain provisions. Omitted material for which confidential treatment has been requested has been filed
separately with the Commission.

In accordance with Item 601(b)(4)(iii)(A) of Regulation S-K, copies of certain instruments defining the
rights of holders of certain of our long-term debt are not filed herewith. Pursuant to this regulation, we hereby
agree to furnish a copy of any such instrument to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of
Denver, State of Colorado, on February 16, 2006.

QWEST COMMUNICATIONS
INTERNATIONAL INC., A DELAWARE
CORPORATION

By: /s/  JOHN W. RICHARDSON

John W. Richardson
Controller and Senior Vice President
(Duly Authorized Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on the 16th day of February 2006.

Signature Title
/s/ RICHARD C. NOTEBAERT Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Richard C. Notebaert (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ OREN G. SHAFFER Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer

Oren G. Shaffer (Principal Financial Officer)

* Director

Linda G Alvarado
* Director

Philip F. Anschutz

* Director
Charles L. Biggs

* Director
K. Dane Brooksher

% Director

Cannon Y. Harvey

* Director
Peter S. Hellman

Director

R. David Hoover

Director

Caroline Matthews
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Signature

%

Patrick J. Martin

k

Wayne W. Murdy

%

Frank P. Popoff

%

*By:

James A. Unruh

/s/' OREN G. SHAFFER

Oren G. Shaffer
As Attorney-In-Fact
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Qwest Communications International Inc.:

Under date of February 16, 2006, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Qwest Communications
International Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2005, as contained in the December 31, 2005 annual report on Form 10-K. In connection with our
audits of the aforementioned consolidated financial statements, we also audited the related consolidated financial
statement schedule, Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts. This financial statement schedule is the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial
statement schedule based on our audits.

In our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado
February 16, 2006

S-1



QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC.
SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(DOLLARS IN MILLIONS)
Balance at Balance at
beginning  Charged to end of
of period expense Deductions period
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
2005 $178 $173 $184 $167
2004 L 280 194 296 178
2003 360 304 384 280

S-2



Board of Directors

Richard C. Notebaert, 58, chairman and chief
executive officer of Qwest. Director, Aon
Corporation and Cardinal Health, Inc. Member
of the executive committee. Qwest director
since 2002.

Linda G. Alvarado, 54, president and chief
executive officer of Alvarado Construction, Inc.
Director, 3M Company, Pepsi Bottling Group,
Lennox International and Pitney Bowes, Inc.
Member of the compensation and human
resources committee. Qwest director since
2000 (previously a director of U S West).

Philip F. Anschutz, 66, chairman of the board
of Anschutz Company. Director and
non-executive vice chairman, Union Pacific
Corporation; director, Regal Entertainment
Group. Member of the executive and
compensation and human resources
committees. Qwest director since 1993.

Charles L. Biggs, 65, former management
consultant with Deloitte & Touche. Director,
Standard Parking Corporation. Member of the
audit, compensation and human resources,
nominating and governance and finance
committees. Qwest director since 2004.

K. Dane Brooksher, 67, chairman of ProLogis.
Director, ProLogis, Pactiv Corporation,
CarrAmerica Realty Corp. and Cass
Information Systems, Inc. Member of the
audit committee. Qwest director since 2004.

Cannon Y. Harvey, 65, president and chief
operating officer of Anschutz Company and
The Anschutz Corporation. Member of the
finance and nominating and governance
committees. Qwest director since 1996.

Peter S. Hellman, 56, president of Nordson
Corporation. Director, Baxter International Inc.
Member of the audit and finance committees.
Qwest director since 2000 (previously a
director of U S West).

R. David Hoover, 60, chairman, chief executive
officer and president of Ball Corporation.
Director, Ball, Energizer Holidings, Inc. and
Irwin Financial Corporation. Member of the
nominating and governance committee. Qwest
director since 2005.

Patrick J. Martin, 65, former chairman,
president and chief executive officer of
Storage Technology Corporation. Member of
the nominating and governance committee.
Qwest director since 2005.

Senior Management Team

Richard C. Notebaert, 58, chairman and chief
executive officer since June 2002. President
and chief executive officer of Tellabs
2000-2002; chairman and chief executive
officer of Ameritech 1994-1999; president of
Indiana Bell 1989-1992. MBA, 1983, and BA,
1969, University of Wisconsin.

Oren G. Shaffer, 63, vice chairman and chief
financial officer since July 2002. President and
chief operating officer of Sorrento Networks
2000-2002; chief financial officer of
Ameritech 1994-1999; president at Virgo Cap
Inc. 1992-1994; chief financial officer and
director of The Goodyear Tire & Rubber
Company 1987-1992. MS, 1985, MIT; BS,
1968, University of California, Berkeley.

Barry K. Allen, 57, executive vice president—
operations since March 2004. Executive vice
president and chief human resources officer
2002-2004; founded Allen Enterprises, LLC in
2000; executive vice president of Ameritech
1995-2000. MBA, 1974, Boston University;
BS, 1970, University of Kentucky.

Rich N. Baer, 48, executive vice president,
general counsel and corporate legal secretary
since 2002. Special legal counsel to chairman
and CEO in 2002; deputy general counsel
2001-2002; chairman of the litigation
department at Sherman & Howard 1998-2000.
JD, 1983, Duke University; BA, 1979,
Columbia University.

Robert W. Charlton, 53, vice president—
corporate communications since November
2005. Global vice president—public affairs for
The Dow Chemical Company 2000-2004. BA,
1974, University of Missouri.

R. Steven Davis, 53, senior vice president—
public policy since January 2000. Vice
president—law and state government affairs
1995-2000 at AT&T. JD, 1978, University of
Kansas; BS, 1975, University of Kansas.

David Heller, 46, chief ethics and compliance
officer and vice president—risk management
since December 2002. Vice president—risk
management for U S WEST 1998-2002;
safety, security and industrial hygiene advisor
for Mobil Oil Corporation 1981-1985. JD,
1987, MS, 1992, University of Denver; BS,
1981, Oklahoma State University.

Paula Kruger, 56, executive vice president—
mass markets since September 2003.
President of CRM at EDS 2001-2003;
executive vice president—operations at Excel
Communications 1997-1999. MBA, 1977,
Roth Graduate School of Business, CW Post;
BA, 1972, CW Post.

Gary R. Lytle, 62, senior vice president—
federal relations since July 2002. President,
Lytle Consulting 2001-2002; interim
president and CEO of United States Telecom
Association (USTA) 2000-2001; vice
president—federal relations at Ameritech
1994-1999. MBA, 1966, and BA, 1965,
Michigan State University.

Thomas E. Richards, 51, executive vice
president—business markets since April
2005. Chairman, president and chief
executive officer of Clear Communications
2000-2003; executive vice president—
consumer and information products at
Ameritech 1997-1999. MS, 1991, MIT; BS,
1976, University of Pittsburgh.

Caroline Matthews, 46, president of Blue
Cross and Blue Shield of Georgia. Member of
the audit committee. Qwest director since
2005.

Wayne W. Murdy, 61, chairman and chief
executive officer of Newmont Mining
Corporation. Director, Newmont Mining and
TransMontaigne Inc. Member of the finance
committee. Qwest director since 2005.

Frank P. Popoff, 70, former chairman of The
Dow Chemical Company. Chairman of the
board, Chemical Financial Corporation.
Director, American Express Company,
Shin-Etsu Chemical Co. Ltd. and United
Technologies Corporation. Member of the
executive, compensation and human
resources, and finance committees. Qwest
director since 2000 (previously a director of
U S West).

James A. Unruh, 65, principal of Alerion
Capital Group. Director, CSG Systems
International, Inc., Prudential Financial, Inc.
and Tenet Healthcare Corporation. Member of
the compensation and human resources
committee. Qwest director since 2005.

Laura L. Sankey, 41, vice president—
marketing communications since February
2006. Vice president—marketing for Coors
Brewing Company 2005-2006 and
2000-2003; vice president—corporate
communications for Coors Brewing Company
2003-2005. MA, 1991, Kellogg Graduate
School of Management, Northwestern
University; BA, 1986, Dartmouth College.

Teresa A. Taylor, 42, executive vice president
and chief human resources officer since
December 2004. Executive vice president—
wholesale markets 2003-2004; executive vice
president—products and pricing 2000-2003;
vice president—integrated solutions for U S
WEST Interprise group 1998-2000. BS,
1984, University of Wisconsin-LaCrosse.

Roland R. Thornton, 54, executive vice
president—wholesale markets group since
December 2004. Senior vice president—
wholesale customer operations 2003-2004;
president, Acquired Knowledge, Ltd.
2001-2002; vice president—interconnection
services at SBC 1999-2000; vice president—
wholesale operations at Ameritech
1995-1999. BS, 1980, Indiana University.

Dan Yost, 57, executive vice president—
product and marketing since June 2004.
President and chief operating officer at
Allegiance Telecom 1998-2004; president of
Netcom Online Communications 1997-1998;
president of AT&T Wireless, SW region
1994-1997. MBA, 1976, and BS, 1971,
Southern Methodist University.



Certifications

Because our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), our chief executive
officer is required to make, and has made, an annual certification to the NYSE stating that he is not
aware of any violation by Qwest of the corporate governance listing standards of the NYSE. Our

chief executive officer made his annual certification to that effect to the NYSE as of June 16, 2005.
In addition, Qwest has filed, as exhibits to its annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2005, the certifications of its chief executive officer and chief financial officer required
under Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC).

Guidelines on Significant Governance Issues

Our Board of Directors has adopted Qwest’s Guidelines on Significant Governance Issues, which
include, among other things, guidelines for our directors and executive officers regarding their time
commitments to the boards of directors of other companies. These guidelines are available on our Web
site at www.qwest.com/about/investor/governance or in print to any stockholder who requests them by
sending a written request to our Corporate Secretary at Qwest Communications International Inc., 1801
California Street, Denver, Colorado 80202.



Corporate Information

Corporate Headquarters

Qwest Communications International Inc.
1801 California Street

Denver, CO 80202

(800) 899-7780

www.qwest.com

Qwest Shareowner Services

If you are a registered shareowner and have a question
about your account, wish to change your name or
address, or have questions about lost stock certificates
and/or the transfer of stock, please contact our
transfer agent, The Bank of New York, toll free at
(877) 268-2263.

Customer service representatives are available
Monday through Friday from 8 a.m. to 6 p.m. ET.
Shareowners also may send questions electronically to
shareowners@bankofny.com or write to them at:

Qwest Communications
c/o The Bank of New York
Shareowner Relations
P.O. Box 11258

Church Street Station
New York, NY 10286

Shareowners can also access forms, FAQs and their
account information online at www.stockbny.com

Investor Relations

Investors can hear recorded information and request
materials by calling the Investor Information Line at
(877) 877-7978.

For other requests or questions, shareowners may
contact us by writing, calling or e-mailing us at:

Qwest Investor Relations

1801 California Street, 51st floor
Denver, CO 80202

(800) 567-7296
www.qwest.com/about/investor

Qwest Stock Information

The company’s common stock is traded on the New
York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol “Q.”
All company filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) can be found on the SEC’s Web
site (www.sec.gov) or on our Web site under “Financial
Information” at www.qwest.com/about/investor.

Online Financial Information

If you would like to order additional copies of this
report, please call (877) 877-7978. To order or view
this report and other financial information online, visit
us at www.gwest.com/about/investor.

Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Qwest shareowners as of the March 27, 2006, record
date are invited to attend and to vote at our annual
meeting. This year’s meeting will be held in Denver,
Colorado, on May 24, 2006, at 10 a.m. local time at
the following venue:

The Seawell Grand Ballroom

The Denver Center for the Performing Arts Complex
1050 13th Street (corner of Arapahoe and 13th)
Denver, CO 80204

If you plan to attend the meeting in person, please call
(888) 858-7914 or register online at
www.qwest.com/stockholder2006 by May 23, 2006.

A simultaneous live webcast of the annual meeting
will be available at www.qwest.com/about/investor.

Voting

Shareowners as of the record date are entitled to one
vote for each share held and may vote their proxies via
the Internet, phone or mail by following the
instructions on the proxy.

Electronic Delivery of Proxy Materials

All shareowners may elect to receive Qwest’s annual
report, proxy statement and proxy card over the
Internet instead of in the mail by signing up at
www.qwest.com/about/investor and clicking on
“Electronic Enrollment.”
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